# Contents

Independent auditor's report	1-3
Financial statements	
Consolidated statement of financial position	4
Consolidated statement of activities	5
Consolidated statement of functional expenses	6-7
Consolidated statement of cash flows	8
Notes to consolidated financial statements	9-21
Supplementary information	
Consolidating statement of financial position	22
Consolidating statement of activities	23
Consolidating statement of financial position—Step Up For Students-Florida, Inc.	24
Consolidating statement of activities—Step Up For Students-Florida, Inc.	25
Schedule of expenditures of federal awards and state financial assistance	26
Notes to schedule of expenditures of federal awards and state financial assistance	27
Independent auditor's report on internal control over financial reporting and on compliance and other matters based on an audit of financial statements performed in accordance with <i>Government Auditing Standards</i>	28-29
Independent auditor's report on compliance for each major federal program and state	
financial assistance project and report on internal control over compliance required by the Uniform Guidance and State of Florida Chapter 10.650, <i>Rules of the Auditor General</i>	30-32
Schedule of findings and questioned costs	33-34



**RSM US LLP** 

#### **Independent Auditor's Report**

Board of Directors Step Up For Students, Inc.

#### **Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements**

#### Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Step Up For Students, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the Organization), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as of June 30, 2022, the related consolidated statements of activities, functional expenses, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements (collectively, the financial statements).

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Organization as of June 30, 2022, and the changes in their net assets and their cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

#### **Basis for Opinion**

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to the financial audits contained in *Government Auditing Standards*, issued by the Comptroller of the United States (*Government Auditing Standards*). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the Organization and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

#### **Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements**

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Organization's ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the financial statements are issued or available to be issued.

THE POWER OF BEING UNDERSTOOD AUDIT | TAX | CONSULTING

#### Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and, therefore, is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and *Government Auditing Standards* will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we:

- Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Organization's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.
- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.
- Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Organization's ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that we identified during the audit.

#### **Report on Summarized Comparative Information**

We have previously audited the Organization's 2021 financial statements, and we expressed an unmodified audit opinion on those audited financial statements in our report dated December 28, 2021. In our opinion, the summarized comparative information presented herein as of and for the year ended June 30, 2021, is consistent, in all material respects, with the audited financial statements from which it has been derived.

#### **Other Matters—Supplementary Information**

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements as a whole. The accompanying consolidating statement of financial position, consolidating statement of activities. consolidating statement of financial position—Step Up For Students-Florida, Inc. and consolidating statement of activities—Step Up For Students-Florida. Inc. are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the financial statements. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards and state financial assistance, as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200. Uniform Administrative Regulations. Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards and State of Florida Chapter 10.650, Rules of the Auditor General, is also presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the financial statements as a whole.

#### Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with *Government Auditing Standards*, we have also issued our report dated October 31, 2022, on our consideration of the Organization's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Organization's internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* in considering the Organization's internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

RSM US LLP

Orlando, Florida October 31, 2022

## Consolidated Statement of Financial Position June 30, 2022 (With Summarized Comparative Information for June 30, 2021)

	2022	2021
Assets		
Current assets:		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 394,879,363	\$ 143,976,692
Pledges receivable, less allowance for uncollectible pledges of		
\$18,000,000 and \$20,000,000 in 2022 and 2021, respectively	606,074,982	621,135,859
Accounts and grants receivable, less allowance for uncollectible		
accounts of \$423,052 and \$220,734 in 2022 and 2021, respectively	5,631,960	2,575,907
Prepaid expenses and other assets	1,003,180	542,434
Funds held in trust for students	191,053,539	142,229,767
Total current assets	1,198,643,024	910,460,659
Restricted certificate of deposit	116,000	116,000
Right-of-use lease assets	2,150,750	1,135,226
Property and equipment, net	8,339,573	6,507,864
Total assets	\$1,209,249,347	\$ 918,219,749
Liabilities and Net Assets		
Current liabilities:		
Accounts payable	\$ 36,199,570	\$ 5,726,903
Accrued expenses	4,179,714	3,011,177
Funds held in trust for students liability	191,053,539	142,229,767
Current portion of right-of-use lease liabilities	603,514	396,023
Total current liabilities	232,036,337	151,363,870
Right-of-use lease liabilities, net of current portion	1,567,089	751,280
Total liabilities	233,603,426	152,115,150
Commitments (Note 6)		
Net assets:		
Without donor restrictions	19,224,460	18,684,216
With donor restrictions	956,421,461	747,420,383
	975,645,921	766,104,599
Total net assets	373,043,921	100,101,000

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

## Consolidated Statement of Activities Year Ended June 30, 2022 (With Summarized Comparative Information for June 30, 2021)

	2022							
	Without Donor		With Donor				-	Total
	F	Restrictions		Restrictions		Total		2021
Revenues and support:								
Contributions and grants:								
Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program	\$	32,671,091	\$	705,262,149	\$	737,933,240	\$	893,618,529
Hope Scholarship Program		3,975,142		75,111,820		79,086,962		78,182,192
Alabama Tax Credit Scholarship Program		75,813		1,502,440		1,578,253		3,303,734
Grants and other contributions		233,638		2,958,036		3,191,674		13,118,104
Other revenue and interest income		4,092		441,497		445,589		208,081
Scholarship service contract revenue		881,903		-		881,903		-
Net assets released from restrictions		576,274,864		(576,274,864)		-		-
Total revenues and support		614,116,543		209,001,078		823,117,621		988,430,640
Expenses:								
Program services:								
Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program		580,528,636		-		580,528,636		674,219,170
Family Empowerment Scholarship Program		10,712,524		-		10,712,524		5,384,663
Hope Scholarship Program		4,758,604		-		4,758,604		3,582,585
Alabama Tax Credit Scholarship Program		4,360,307		-		4,360,307		3,528,348
Policy, Strategic Communications, Legislative Affairs								
and Advocacy		3,339,934		-		3,339,934		3,642,355
Reading Scholarship Program		574,550		-		574,550		711,856
Scholarship Service Contract		412,320		-		412,320		-
Total program services		604,686,875		-		604,686,875		691,068,977
Supporting services:								
General and administrative		7,541,258		-		7,541,258		6,678,379
Development and fundraising		1,348,166		-		1,348,166		2,102,247
Total supporting services		8,889,424		-		8,889,424		8,780,626
Total expenses		613,576,299		-		613,576,299		699,849,603
Change in net assets		540,244		209,001,078		209,541,322		288,581,037
Net assets:								
Beginning		18,684,216		747,420,383		766,104,599		477,523,562
Ending	\$	19,224,460	\$	956,421,461	\$	975,645,921	\$	766,104,599

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

#### Consolidated Statement of Functional Expenses Year Ended June 30, 2022 (With Summarized Comparative Information for June 30, 2021)

							2	022						
							Progran	ו Ser	vices					
	Florida	Fan	nily				Alabama	Po	licy, Strategic					
	Tax Credit	Empow	rment		Норе	-	Fax Credit	Cor	nmunications,		Reading	Sc	holarship	Total
	Scholarship	Schola	arship	S	cholarship	S	cho <b>l</b> arship	Leg	islative Affairs	Sc	cholarship		Service	Program
	Program	Prog	gram		Program		Program	aı	nd Advocacy		Program	(	Contract	Services
Scholarships and grants	\$ 567,678,143	\$	_	\$	4,307,167	\$	_	\$	_	\$	-	\$	-	\$ 571,985,310
Salaries and wages	5,068,235	4.3	57,950		198,938		_	•	2,053,803	•	234,830	•	42,850	11,956,606
Payroll taxes and employee benefits	1,549,527	,	29,168		58,341		_		535,277		83,329		13,296	3,568,938
Contract services	1,611,391	1,7	96,435		30,043		20,200		489,090		26,259		215,511	4,188,929
Contributions	-	,	<i>.</i> -		- í		4,328,358		, _		· -		-	4,328,358
Telephone	588,946	1,2	03,765		67,231		152		60		86,071		29,443	1,975,668
Recruiting and advertising	793,500	6	39,898		5,313		_		44,204		52,996		986	1,536,897
Software licenses, fees and subscriptions	701,049	54	41,972		12,472		1,254		98,090		16,946		20,339	1,392,122
Depreciation and amortization	809,936	2	11,858		13,557		8,728		-		19,908		1,231	1,065,218
Repairs and maintenance	587,332	1	53,631		9,831		-		-		14,437		40,037	805,268
Other costs	94,359	1	74,423		11,437		_		8,762		12,197		3,297	304,475
Rent	393,690	1	02,979		6,590		-		-		9,677		-	512,936
Professional fees	6,789		1,775		114		-		31,800		167		44,758	85,403
Insurance	253,945		66,425		4,251		327		-		6,242		-	331,190
Travel, lodging and meals	41,958	:	37,063		3,702		-		35,685		1,753		572	120,733
Bank charges and fees	104,262		44,059		27,484		1,288		4,766		5,480		-	187,339
Provision for doubtful accounts (recovery)	143,723		-		-		-		-		-		-	143,723
Printing and postage	62,672	;	36,440		1,525		-		32,821		3,256		-	136,714
Office expenses	39,179		14,683		608		-		5,576		1,002		-	61,048
Total	\$ 580,528,636	\$ 10,7	12,524	\$	4,758,604	\$	4,360,307	\$	3,339,934	\$	574,550	\$	412,320	\$ 604,686,875

(Continued)

## Consolidated Statement of Functional Expenses (Continued) Year Ended June 30, 2022 (With Summarized Comparative Information for June 30, 2021)

				2	022					
			Ś	Supporting Services					-	
		General		Development		Total	-			Total
		and		and		Supporting		Total		2021
	Ad	ministrative		Fundraising		Services		Expenses		Expenses
Scholarships and grants	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	571,985,310	\$	669,885,343
Salaries and wages		5,120,951		868,362		5,989,313		17,945,919		16,230,191
Payroll taxes and employee benefits		1,249,545		234,571		1,484,116		5,053,054		3,999,651
Contract services		395,076		-		395,076		4,584,005		2,326,957
Contributions		-		-		-		4,328,358		-
Telephone		310		75		385		1,976,053		1,496,279
Recruiting and advertising		32,670		12,821		45,491		1,582,388		827,609
Software licenses, fees and subscriptions		72,614		40,799		113,413		1,505,535		1,117,150
Depreciation and amortization		-		-		-		1,065,218		934,319
Repairs and maintenance		39,774		-		39,774		845,042		252,540
Other costs		149,466		116,266		265,732		570,207		591,990
Rent		5,486		-		5,486		518,422		1,030,307
Professional fees		270,958		-		270,958		356,361		485,315
Insurance		3,234		-		3,234		334,424		289,586
Travel, lodging and meals		79,377		45,642		125,019		245,752		104,983
Bank charges and fees		40,384		-		40,384		227,723		186,676
Provision for doubtful accounts (recovery)		59,385		-		59,385		203,108		(91,632)
Printing and postage		9,987		22,728		32,715		169,429		92,396
Office expenses		12,041		6,902		18,943		79,991		89,943
Total	\$	7,541,258	\$	1,348,166	\$	8,889,424	\$	613,576,299	\$	699,849,603

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

## Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows Year Ended June 30, 2022 (With Summarized Comparative Information for June 30, 2021)

		2022	2021
Cash flows from operating activities:			
Change in net assets	\$	209,541,322	\$ 288,581,037
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash provided by operating activities:			
Depreciation		958,712	852,816
Amortization of right-of-use lease assets		106,506	81,503
Loss on disposal of property and equipment		-	39,113
Contribution of property and equipment		184,253	-
Provision for doubtful accounts (recovery)		203,108	(91,632)
Change in operating assets and liabilities:			
(Increase) decrease in assets:			
Pledges receivable		15,060,877	(218,622,208)
Accounts and grants receivable		(3,259,161)	914,259
Prepaid expenses and other assets		(460,746)	347,079
Right-of-use lease assets		(1,122,030)	(1,216,729)
Increase (decrease) in liabilities:		,	. ,
Accounts payable		30,472,667	4,771,971
Accrued expenses		1,168,537	(233,012)
Funds held in trust for students liability		48,823,772	32,953,581
Right-of-use lease liabilities		1,023,300	1,147,303
Net cash provided by operating activities		302,701,117	109,525,081
Cash flows from investing activities:			
Purchases of property and equipment		(2,974,674)	(4,371,527)
Increase in restricted certificate of deposit		(_,0: .,0: .)	(51,000)
Net cash used in investing activities		(2,974,674)	(4,422,527)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents and funds			
held in trust for students		299,726,443	105,102,554
Cash and cash equivalents and funds held in trust for students:			
Beginning		286,206,459	181,103,905
Ending	\$	585,932,902	\$ 286,206,459
Cash and cash equivalents and funds held in trust for students is included in the following			
captions on the consolidated statements of financial position:			
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	394,879,363	\$ 143,976,692
Funds held in trust for students		191,053,539	142,229,767
	\$	585,932,902	\$ 286,206,459
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:			
Cash paid during the year for interest	•	15,418	\$ 11,520

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

#### Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (With Summarized Comparative Information as of or for the Year Ended June 30, 2021)

#### Note 1. Nature of Organization and Significant Accounting Policies

**Nature of organization:** The primary mission of Step Up For Students, Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively, the Organization) is to empower families to pursue and engage in the most appropriate learning options for their children, with an emphasis on families who lack the information and financial resources to access these options. By pursuing this mission, the Organization helps public education fulfill the promise of equal opportunity.

Step Up For Students, Inc. (Step Up For Students) (formally known as SUFS Parent, Inc.) is a nonprofit organization incorporated on December 3, 2021. Step Up For Students serves as a parent company offering services to its subsidiaries.

Step Up For Students-Florida, Inc. (SUFS-FL) (formally known as Step Up For Students, Inc.) is a nonprofit organization incorporated on February 18, 2000. SUFS-FL is a Scholarship Funding Organization (SFO) in the State of Florida which allows the organization to administer the Florida Scholarship Programs. SUFS-FL administers the Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program, Family Empowerment Scholarship Program, Hope Scholarship Program and the Reading Scholarship Program for the State of Florida.

Step Up For Students-West Virginia, Inc. (SUFS-WV) is a nonprofit organization incorporated on December 10, 2021. SUFS-WV was created to support the Hope Scholarship Program in the State of West Virginia under contract with the State of West Virginia's State Treasurer's Office.

The Alabama Opportunity Scholarship Fund, LLC (Alabama Opportunity Scholarship Fund) is a nonprofit limited liability company incorporated on October 4, 2013, whose sole member was SUFS-FL. The Alabama Opportunity Scholarship Fund was established to operate under the standards prescribed by the Alabama Accountability Act of 2013 and is approved under the Alabama Department of Revenue to serve as a Scholarship Granting Organization (SGO). SUFS-FL transferred its membership interest to an unrelated third party on August 31, 2021, which resulted in a contribution in the amount of \$4,033,180 and is recorded in the accompanying consolidated statement of functional expenses as contributions expense.

The C2 Opportunity Scholarships, LLC (C2) is a nonprofit limited liability company incorporated on November 28, 2018, whose sole member was SUFS-FL. C2 was established to operate under the standards prescribed by the Alabama Accountability Act of 2013 and is approved under the Alabama Department of Revenue to serve as a Scholarship Granting Organization (SGO). SUFS-FL transferred its membership interest to an unrelated third party on August 31, 2021, which resulted in a contribution in the amount of \$295,178 and is recorded in the accompanying consolidated statement of functional expenses as contributions expense.

#### Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (With Summarized Comparative Information as of or for the Year Ended June 30, 2021)

#### Note 1. Nature of Organization and Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

The following is a summary of the programs operated by the Organization:

- Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program: SUFS-FL is approved under Florida Statute 1002.395 to serve as a Scholarship Funding Organization (SFO). Since July 1, 2011, SUFS-FL has been the predominate Florida SFO. As a SFO, SUFS-FL can solicit and receive corporate contributions that are entitled to a state tax credit against 100% of corporate income tax, insurance premium tax, and direct-pay sales tax liabilities, 90% of alcoholic beverage tax liabilities, and 50% of oil and gas severance tax liabilities. Those contributions, in turn, must be spent to provide scholarships to low income Florida school children in compliance with the Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program. For the 2021-2022 school year and the 2020-2021 school year, qualified students received a maximum scholarship of \$9,979 and \$9,197, respectively, to attend a private school that has been approved by the State of Florida or \$750 for transportation to an out-of-district public school. Scholarships are expensed when a student attends a qualified school. Through the Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program, SUFS-FL served 84,490 and 104,165 students in 1,999 and 1,938 private schools across Florida during the 2021-2022 and 2020-2021 school years, respectively.
- Alabama Tax Credit Scholarship Program: The Alabama Opportunity Scholarship Fund and C2 were established to operate under standards prescribed in the Alabama Accountability Act of 2013 and are approved under the Alabama Department of Revenue to serve as a Scholarship Granting Organization (SGO). In accordance with the Alabama Accountability Act of 2013 and the Administrative Rulings by the Alabama Department of Revenue, the Alabama Opportunity Scholarship Fund and C2 must use at least 95% of revenue from credit eligible scholarship donations and all interest and investment income attributable to these scholarship funds for educational scholarships. Therefore, the Alabama Opportunity Scholarship Fund and C2 may use no more than 5% of the amount of its scholarship donations for purposes other than making scholarship grants. As a SGO, the Alabama Opportunity Scholarship Fund and C2 can solicit and receive corporate and individual donations that entitle the donors to certain tax credits administrated by the Alabama Department of Revenue. SUFS-FL transferred its membership interest to an unrelated third party on August 31, 2021, which resulted in a contribution in the amount of \$4,328,358 and is recorded in the accompanying consolidated statement of functional expenses as contributions expense.
- Policy, Strategic Communications, Legislative Affairs and Advocacy: This program takes the message of the scholarship program to constituency groups, community and political leaders, and local, state and national news publications. It issues press releases on topics of special concern and writes commentary for various publications. The group analyzes demographic, achievement and participation data and trends in the program and education choice movement. This group also responds to numerous information requests from newspapers, other media, and legislative and agency offices. This group also organizes advocates and supporters who believe children should be educated based on how they learn, rather than where they live. This group educates, informs, and trains parents to be advocates and supporters for the protection and expansion of choice opportunities. These services are provided to parents of children participating in programs administered by the Organization and may also be provided to parents utilizing other choice options under contract service agreements with choice advocacy groups.

#### Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (With Summarized Comparative Information as of or for the Year Ended June 30, 2021)

#### Note 1. Nature of Organization and Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

- Scholarship Service Contract: SUFS-WV has contracted with the State of West Virginia's State Treasurer's Office to assist with the administration of the Hope Scholarship Program in the State of West Virginia. The Hope Scholarship Program is a personal education account to be used for qualifying education expenses on behalf of an eligible recipient in the State of West Virginia. SUFS-WV is responsible for processing applications for eligibility and being the fiduciary of the recipient's scholarship funds to be used for qualifying educational expenses. SUFS-WV is compensated for its work by receiving reimbursement for implementation costs associated with the scholarship program as well as a service fee from the State of West Virginia's State Treasurer's Office.
- Hope Scholarship Program: The Hope Scholarship Program was established by Florida Statute 1002.40, which was created in 2018 to provide the option of private school scholarships to students in public schools who have experienced acts of bullying and intimidation. SUFS-FL, as an approved Scholarship Funding Organization (SFO), is authorized to administer Hope Scholarships. The Hope Scholarship Program provides that automobile buyers may redirect up to \$105 of their state taxes on each purchase toward an authorized SFO. Those contributions must be used to provide tuition scholarships to participating private schools or a \$750 transportation scholarship to a public school in another district. For the 2021-2022 school year and the 2020-2021 school year, qualified students received a maximum scholarship of \$9,979 and \$9,197, respectively. Through the Hope Scholarship Program, 693 and 493 students received scholarships for the 2021-2022 school year and the 2020-2021 school year and the 2020-2021 school year, respectively. During the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, SUFS-FL collected \$79,086,962 and \$78,182,192, respectively, of eligible contributions. SUFS-FL expended \$4,307,167 and \$2,792,230 for scholarships during the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Any unused funds in the Hope Scholarship Program can be used to fund scholarships to students of the Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program in the next State of Florida fiscal year.
- Reading Scholarship Program: The Reading Scholarship Program was established by Florida Statute 1002.411, which was created in 2018 to provide academic support for elementary school students who struggle in reading in district or charter schools. SUFS-FL, as an approved Scholarship Funding Organization (SFO), is authorized to administer the program. The scholarship is available to students in third through fifth grade who have scored a Level 1 or 2 on the English Language Arts section of the Florida Standards Assessment (FSA). Each scholarship is worth \$500, which the parent can use to pay for tuition and fees related to part-time tutoring, summer and after-school literacy programs, instructional materials and more. The funding is from direct state appropriation. A Reading Scholarship account is established for each child that is awarded a reading scholarship. Through the Reading Scholarship Program, 2,778 and 4,960 students received scholarships for the 2021-2022 school year and the 2020-2021 school year, respectively.

During the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, SUFS-FL distributed approximately \$1.2 million and \$1.9 million, leaving a balance of approximately \$5.1 million and \$5.5 million, respectively, which is recorded in the accompanying consolidated statement of financial position as both an asset and liability. SUFS-FL is acting as an agent for this program, therefore, there are no revenues and expenses reported on the accompanying consolidated statement of activities for scholarship funds received and distributed from the State of Florida.

#### Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (With Summarized Comparative Information as of or for the Year Ended June 30, 2021)

#### Note 1. Nature of Organization and Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

• Family Empowerment Scholarship Program: The Family Empowerment Scholarship Program was established by Florida Statute 1002.394, which was created in 2019 to provide children and families in the State of Florida which have limited resources with educational options to achieve success in their education. This scholarship was created to also help reduce the waiting list for the Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program and similarly services students from low-income and working-class households. Beginning with the 2021-2022 school year, this program was expanded to include two branches, the Family Empowerment Scholarship for Educational Options (FES-EO) and the Family Empowerment Scholarship for Students with Unique Abilities (FES-UA). SUFS-FL, as an approved SFO, administered this scholarship and served 76,959 K-12 students and distributed approximately \$523.6 million in scholarships for the FES-EO Program. Through the FES-UA Program, 25,593 and 17,880 eligible students received scholarships for the 2021-2022 and 2020-2021 school year, respectively.

For the 2020-2021 school year, SUFS-FL worked directly with the State of Florida Department of Education to administer the Family Empowerment Scholarship Program, which served 29,853 K-12 students.

For the 2021-2022 school year and the 2020-2021 school year, FES-EO qualified students received a maximum scholarship of \$9,979 and \$9,197, respectively, to attend a private school that has been approved by the State of Florida or \$750 for transportation to an out-of-district public school. Scholarships are disbursed when a student attends a qualified school.

The Family Empowerment Scholarship for Students with Unique Abilities (formally known as the Gardiner Scholarship Program) was established in 2014 creating scholarships for students with unique abilities. This scholarship is for Florida students in kindergarten through 12<sup>th</sup> grade with one of the following disabilities: Autism, Cerebral palsy, Down syndrome, intellectual disability, speech impairment, language impairment, orthopedic impairment, behavioral impairment, specific learning disability, Phelan-McDermid syndrome, Prader-Willi syndrome, Spina bifida, Muscular Dystrophy, Williams syndrome, anaphylaxis, visual impairment, traumatic brain injury, hospital or home bound, being a high risk child or identification as dual sensory impaired. The students need either an Individual Education Plan (IEP) from a Florida school district or a formal diagnosis from a licensed physician or psychologist to qualify. Students can participate in this scholarship as part of home education; however, they cannot be enrolled in public school or be receiving any other statesponsored scholarships. A FES-UA Scholarship account is established for each child that is awarded a unique abilities scholarship. Parents use this money to personalize the education of their children with unique abilities by directing money towards a combination of programs and state approved providers. These include schools, therapists, specialists, curriculum, technology and college savings accounts.

During the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, SUFS-FL distributed approximately \$194.8 million and \$145.0 million, leaving a balance of approximately \$185.9 million and \$136.8 million, respectively, which is recorded in the accompanying consolidated statement of financial position as both an asset and liability. SUFS-FL is acting as an agent for this program; therefore, there are no revenues and expenses reported on the accompanying consolidated statement of activities for scholarship funds received and distributed from the State of Florida.

#### Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (With Summarized Comparative Information as of or for the Year Ended June 30, 2021)

#### Note 1. Nature of Organization and Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Administrative fee for management of Florida Scholarship Programs: In accordance with the provisions of the Florida Statutes, SUFS-FL can receive an administrative fee to administer the Florida Scholarship Programs. For the Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program, Hope Scholarship Program and Reading Scholarship Program, SUFS-FL receives 3% of scholarships funded for the 2021-2022 school year. SUFS-FL receives 2.5% of scholarships funded to administer the Family Empowerment Scholarship Program for the 2021-2022 school year. For the 2021-2022 school year, total scholarships funded were 190,666 which resulted in \$36,646,233 of administrative fees during the year ended June 30, 2022.

During the 2020-2021 school year, SUFS-FL received an administrative fee not to exceed 3% of scholarships awarded for the management of all Florida Scholarship Programs. For determining the income eligibility for the Family Empowerment Scholarship Program, SUFS-FL received 1% in administrative fees. For the 2020-2021 school year, total scholarships awarded were 180,898, which resulted in \$33,626,028 of administrative fees during the year ended June 30, 2021.

This administrative fee was used to manage the Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program, Hope Scholarship Program, Family Empowerment Scholarship for Educational Options and for Students with Unique Abilities, and the Reading Scholarship Program in the State of Florida.

A summary of the Organization's significant accounting policies follows:

**Principles of consolidation:** The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Step Up For Students and its subsidiaries through controlling interests, SUFS-FL, SUFS-WV, Alabama Opportunity Scholarship Fund and C2. All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated during consolidation.

**Comparative financial statements:** The consolidated financial statements include certain prior-year summarized comparative information in total but not by net asset class. Such information does not include sufficient detail to constitute a presentation in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Accordingly, such information should be read in conjunction with the Organization's consolidated financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2021, from which the summarized information was derived.

**Use of estimates:** The presentation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and support, and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

**Basis of presentation:** The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting.

A not-for-profit organization is required to report information regarding its financial position and activities according to two classes of net assets: without donor restrictions and with donor restrictions. Accordingly, net assets of the Organization and changes therein are classified and reported as follows:

*Net assets without donor restrictions:* Net assets are not subject to donor-imposed stipulations, but may be designated for specific purposes by action of the Board of Directors.

#### Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (With Summarized Comparative Information as of or for the Year Ended June 30, 2021)

#### Note 1. Nature of Organization and Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

**Net assets with donor restrictions:** Net assets are subject to donor-imposed stipulations that may or will be met either by actions of the Organization, passage of time, or permanently maintained by the Organization. When a restriction expires, net assets with donor restrictions are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions and reported in the consolidated statement of activities as net assets released from restrictions.

**Cash and cash equivalents:** For purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the Organization considers all short-term securities purchased with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents exclude funds held in trust for students.

The Organization maintains their cash accounts at commercial banks, which are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC). Balances exceed amounts insured by the FDIC and the Organization has not experienced any losses on such accounts. To help reduce any potential losses, excess balances are swept into a money market fund, which is invested in U.S. Government Obligations.

**Pledges receivable, contributions and grants:** Contributions and grants are recorded in the period received at fair value as net assets without donor restrictions or net assets with donor restrictions support depending on the existence or nature of any donor restrictions. Contributions and grants that are restricted by the donor are reported as increases in net assets with donor restrictions depending on the nature of the restrictions. When time restrictions expire or purpose restrictions are fulfilled, net assets with donor restrictions are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions.

Unconditional promises to give (pledges) are recognized as support in the period received at fair value. Conditional promises to give are recognized when the conditions on which they depend are substantially met. The Organization uses the allowance method to determine uncollectible pledges receivable. The allowance is established based upon management's analysis of specific pledges and other economic factors. The Organization has received promises to give from corporations for the Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program, from corporations and individuals for the Alabama Tax Credit Scholarship Program, and from private foundations.

Pledges, which become uncollectible or for which an allowance is established in the year of the pledge, are written off against contribution revenue. Pledges which become uncollectible in subsequent years are charged to the allowance for uncollectible pledges.

Contributed services are recognized and reported at fair value in the period received, if the services received create or enhance nonfinancial assets or require specialized skills, are provided by individuals possessing those skills, and would typically need to be purchased if not provided by contribution. There were no material contributed services for the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021.

Accounts and grants receivable: Accounts and grants receivable are stated at net realizable value. The Organization uses the allowance method to determine uncollectible accounts receivable. The allowance is established based upon management's analysis of specific accounts and other economic factors. In the opinion of management, an allowance for uncollectible accounts of \$423,052 and \$220,734 was considered necessary at June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

**Restricted certificate of deposit:** Restricted certificate of deposit held by the Organization represents funds required to be set aside by the lessor relating to an office lease signed by the Organization for collateral and is carried at amortized cost.

#### Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (With Summarized Comparative Information as of or for the Year Ended June 30, 2021)

#### Note 1. Nature of Organization and Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

**Property and equipment:** Property and equipment is recorded at cost when purchased or at fair value at the date of gift, if contributed. Depreciation of property and equipment is computed using the straight-line method of accounting over the estimated useful lives of the depreciable assets. Routine maintenance and repair costs are charged to expense as incurred, while major replacements and improvements are capitalized as additions to the related assets. When assets are sold or retired, the related cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and gains or losses from dispositions are credited or charged to income.

**Impairment of long-lived assets:** The carrying value of property and equipment is reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate such value may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets or asset groups to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset or asset group to future net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset or asset group. If such assets or asset groups are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets or asset group. Assets or asset groups to be disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell. No impairment of the Organization's long-lived assets or asset groups have been recognized during the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021.

**Funds held in trust for students and funds held in trust for students liability:** Funds held in trust for students and funds held in trust for students liability represents funds received for the Family Empowerment Scholarship for Students with Unique Abilities (FES-UA) and the Reading Scholarship Program. A FES-UA Scholarship account is established for each child that is awarded a special needs scholarship and a Reading Scholarship account is established for each child that is awarded a reading scholarship. As parents use these funds in accordance with State of Florida guidelines, the asset and liability are reduced accordingly. The following represents a breakout of the funds held in trust for students liability at June 30, 2022 and 2021:

	2022	2021
FES-UA Reading Scholarship Program	\$ 185,926,066 5,127,473	\$ 136,757,928 5,471,839
	\$ 191,053,539	\$142,229,767

**Functional expenses:** The costs of providing the various programs and supporting services have been summarized on a functional basis in the consolidated statement of activities and in the consolidated statement of functional expenses. Accordingly, certain costs have been allocated among the various programs and supporting services benefited. Salaries and related payroll expenses are allocated among functional categories based on the estimated proportion of time spent to each function. All other expenses are allocated based on management's estimate of the relative functional activity.

**Income taxes:** Step Up For Students and SUFS-WV are in the process of applying for tax exempt status through filing of the Federal Form 1023, Application for Recognition of Exemption Under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. SUFS-FL is exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code and from state income taxes under similar provisions of the State of Florida Statutes. Accordingly, no provision for federal and state income taxes has been recorded in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. SUFS-FL has made an election under Section 501(h) of the Internal Revenue Code, which permits certain eligible 501(c)(3) organizations to make limited expenditures to influence legislation. The Organization would be subject to an excise tax if it spends more than the amounts permitted. Such limits have not been exceeded.

#### Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (With Summarized Comparative Information as of or for the Year Ended June 30, 2021)

#### Note 1. Nature of Organization and Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

The Alabama Opportunity Scholarship Fund and C2 are disregarded entities for federal and state income tax purposes and, therefore, reports all federal and state tax information through SUFS-FL. Accordingly, no provision for federal and state income taxes has been recorded in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

The Organization follows accounting standards relating to accounting for uncertainty in income taxes. Management assessed whether there were any uncertain tax positions which may give rise to income tax liabilities and determined that there were no such matters requiring recognition in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Generally, the Organization is no longer subject to U.S. federal or state income tax examinations by tax authorities for years before June 30, 2018.

**Recent accounting pronouncements:** The Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) has issued certain new or modifications to, or interpretations of, existing accounting guidance. The Organization has considered the new pronouncements and does not believe that any other new or modified guidance will have a material impact on the Organization's reported financial position or activities in the near term.

**Reclassifications:** Certain reclassifications have been made to the 2021 balances in order to conform to the 2022 presentation. These reclassifications did not result in a change in previously reported change in net assets.

**Subsequent events:** Management has assessed subsequent events through October 31, 2022, the date the consolidated financial statements were available to be issued.

#### Note 2. Tax Credit Scholarship Programs and Scholarships Awarded

**Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program and Scholarships Awarded:** In accordance with the provisions of the Florida Statutes, Scholarship Funding Organizations can receive an administrative fee not to exceed 3% of scholarships funded for the management of all Florida Scholarship Programs (see Note 1—Administrative fee for management of Florida Scholarship Programs). Scholarship Funding Organizations must expend for annual or partial-year scholarships an amount equal to or greater than 75% of the net eligible contributions remaining after administrative expenses during the year in which such contributions are collected. No more than 25% of such net eligible contributions may be carried forward for expenditure to the following year. However, no later than September 30<sup>th</sup> of each year, net eligible contributions remaining on June 30<sup>th</sup> of each year that are in excess of the 25% that may be carried forward shall be used to provide scholarships to eligible students or transferred to other eligible nonprofit SFO's to provide scholarships for eligible students. SUFS-FL expended \$565,045,096 and \$651,549,789 for scholarships during the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, SUFS-FL received transferred funds from another SFO amounting to \$27,652,081 and \$10,256,800, respectively, in which SUFS-FL claimed \$0 in administrative allowance during the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021.

Scholarships under the Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program are awarded annually to qualified students. To qualify for a scholarship, a student and the parents or guardian of that student must meet economic need requirements, enroll in an eligible private school and comply with certain other responsibilities for program participation. Scholarships for the 2021-2022 school year and the 2020-2021 school year could not exceed \$9,979 and \$9,197, respectively. As of the 2020-2021 school year, scholarship payments were made to the schools after parent approval via automated clearing house (ACH) in quarterly installments. For the Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program and the Family Empowerment Scholarship for Education Options, schools continue to verify student attendance and that the students' parents or guardians have complied with their responsibilities under the program.

#### Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (With Summarized Comparative Information as of or for the Year Ended June 30, 2021)

#### Note 2. Tax Credit Scholarship Programs and Scholarships Awarded (Continued)

**Alabama Tax Credit Scholarship Program and Scholarships Awarded:** The Alabama Accountability Act of 2013 and the Administrative Rulings by the Alabama Department of Revenue permit Scholarship Granting Organizations participating in the Alabama Tax Credit Scholarship Program to use up to 5% of eligible contributions received for administrative expenses. Scholarship Granting Organizations must expend for scholarships an amount equal to or greater than 95% of the net eligible contributions remaining after administrative expenses. During the period from July 1, 2021 through August 31, 2021, the Alabama Opportunity Scholarship Fund collected \$1,568,850 of eligible contributions. The Alabama Opportunity Scholarship Fund claimed an administrative allowance of \$75,693 and expended \$0 for scholarships during the period from July 1, 2021 through August 31, 2021. During the year ended June 30, 2021, the Alabama Opportunity Scholarship Fund claimed an administrative allowance of \$2,942,434 of eligible contributions. The Alabama Opportunity Scholarship Fund claimed an administrative allowance of \$147,122 and expended \$2,681,854 for scholarships during the year ended June 30, 2021.

During the period from July 1, 2021 through August 31, 2021, C2 collected \$9,403 of eligible contributions. C2 claimed an administrative allowance of \$120 and expended \$0 for scholarships during the period from July 1, 2021 through August 31, 2021. During the year ended June 30, 2021, C2 collected \$353,536 of eligible contributions. C2 claimed an administrative allowance of \$17,677 and expended \$554,804 for scholarships during the year ended June 30, 2021.

Scholarships under the Alabama Tax Credit Scholarship Program are awarded annually to qualified students. To qualify for a scholarship, a student and the parents or guardian of that student must meet economic need requirements, enroll in an eligible private school and comply with certain other responsibilities for program participation.

#### Note 3. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following at June 30:

	 2022	2021
Furniture and equipment Software	\$ 1,094,766 10,869,423	\$ 941,272 8,312,410
Leasehold improvements	 47,544 12,011,733	47,544 9,301,226
Less accumulated depreciation	(3,672,160)	(2,793,362)
	\$ 8,339,573	\$ 6,507,864

Starting in 2021, the Organization began investing in a new software platform to better serve its scholarship students and families. The platform will contain student accounts and will be the platform on which payments to schools, providers, and parents will be recorded. This will be cloud-based, which will allow the Organization to better manage future growth in programs, while enhancing the student/family experience and supporting schools and providers. The new platform will have an artificial intelligence component and workflows to provide a more modern, faster experience for users.

Depreciation expense for the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, was \$958,712 and \$852,816, respectively.

#### Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (With Summarized Comparative Information as of or for the Year Ended June 30, 2021)

#### Note 4. Line of Credit

SUFS-FL has a \$62,000,000 line of credit agreement with a bank bearing interest at the one-month Secured Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR) interest rate plus 1.1% (2.63% at June 30, 2022). Interest on the line of credit is payable monthly and matures on June 30, 2023. The line of credit is collateralized by substantially all the assets of SUFS-FL and guaranteed by Step Up For Students and SUFS-WV. The Organization maintains \$60,000,000 of the line of credit for the purpose of funding Florida Tax Credit Scholarship commitments under SUFS-FL in the event that expected contributions from donors are delayed and \$2,000,000 for operating liquidity. There was no outstanding balance on the line of credit at June 30, 2022 and 2021.

#### Note 5. Net Assets

Net assets without donor restrictions are available for the following purposes at June 30:

	2022	2021
	<b>.</b>	<b>.</b>
Undesignated	<u>\$ 19,224,460</u>	<u>\$ 18,684,216</u>

Net assets with donor restrictions are available for the following purposes at June 30:

	2022	2021
Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program	\$710,051,984	\$569,597,455
Hope Scholarship Program	246,041,940	175,176,200
Alabama Tax Credit Scholarship Program	-	2,489,372
Policy, Strategic Communications, Legislative Affairs and Advocacy	327,537	157,356
	\$956,421,461	\$747,420,383

Net assets with donor restrictions were released from donor restrictions by incurring expenses satisfying the purpose specified by donors as follows:

	2022	2021
Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program	\$567,821,077	\$663,672,656
Hope Scholarship Program	4,307,167	2,792,230
Alabama Tax Credit Scholarship Program	3,991,812	3,386,732
Policy, Strategic Communications, Legislative Affairs and Advocacy	154,808	640,265
	\$576,274,864	\$670,491,883

#### Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (With Summarized Comparative Information as of or for the Year Ended June 30, 2021)

#### Note 6. Commitments

The Organization leases certain office equipment and office space under operating leases, which expire at various dates through April 2027. Rent expense for the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, was \$518,422 and \$1,030,307, respectively.

During 2021, the Organization adopted Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2016-02, *Leases* (*Topic 842*), resulting in a right-of-use lease liabilities and a right-of-use lease assets recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position, for all of the aforementioned leases. The leases are considered to be operating leases under the provision of ASU 2016-02. The interest rate used to discount the future minimum payments of the leases as of June 30, 2021 and 2022, was 3.85%.

The right-to-use lease liabilities and its maturity analysis are summarized as follows as of June 30, 2022:

Years ending June 30:	
2023	\$ 526,400
2024	564,666
2025	559,192
2026	440,120
2027	 286,349
Total minimum payments required	2,376,727
Less amounts representing interest	 (206,124)
Present value of minimum lease payments	\$ 2,170,603

The present value of minimum lease payments is included in the following captions in the consolidated statement of financial position at June 30, 2022:

Current portion of right-of-use lease liabilities	\$ 603,514
Right-of-use lease liabilities, net of current portion	1,567,089
	\$ 2,170,603

#### Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (With Summarized Comparative Information as of or for the Year Ended June 30, 2021)

#### Note 7. Liquidity and Availability of Resources

As of June 30, 2022 and 2021, the following reflects the Organization's financial assets, reduced by amounts not available for general use because of contractual or donor-imposed restrictions, within one year of June 30, 2022 and 2021:

	2022	2021
Financial assets, at year-end:		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$394,879,363	\$ 143,976,692
Pledges receivable, net	606,074,982	621,135,859
Accounts and grants receivable, net	5,631,960	2,575,907
Less those unavailable for general expenditures within		
one year, due to:		
Contractual or donor-imposed restrictions:		
Restricted by donors with purpose restrictions	(956,421,461)	(747,420,383)
Financial assets available to meet cash needs for general		
expenditures within one year	\$ 50,164,844	\$ 20,268,075

The Organization's goal is to manage its tax-credited fundraising and associated scholarship commitments such that as many students as possible receive a scholarship while maintaining at least a 5% reserve of the funds received. The purpose of that reserve is to accommodate for timing differences and potential rescindments by donors. The Organization has managed scholarship commitments for the next school year accordingly to maintain the targeted reserve.

Historically, the Organization pays scholarship payments four times per year during the school year, the timing for which is established based on historical fundraising trends such that sufficient donations are received prior to each payment. Donations received between scholarship payments are invested in short term U.S. Treasury instruments, the interest from which is designated to fund scholarships.

The Company maintains a \$62 million line of credit of which \$60 million is restricted for the purpose of funding scholarship commitments in the event that expected contributions from donors are delayed and \$2 million for short-term operating liquidity.

During the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, the Organization had approximately \$11.9 million and \$5.5 million outstanding in scholarship payable commitments for 4,727 and 1,862 scholarship recipients, respectively, for the Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program. The scholarship payable commitments have been recorded as scholarship expense and included in accounts payable at June 30, 2022 and 2021. During the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, all scholarships were paid from donations received and the Organization carried forwarded approximately \$285 million and \$83 million of scholarship funds, respectively, for future scholarships.

During the year ended June 30, 2022, the Organization had approximately \$23.3 million in Family Empowerment Scholarship Program funds that are due to the Florida Department of Education (DOE) for scholarship recipients that did not use their scholarship in the 2021-2022 school year. These funds have been included in accounts payable at June 30, 2022 and were returned to the DOE in August 2022.

#### Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (With Summarized Comparative Information as of or for the Year Ended June 30, 2021)

#### Note 8. Major Donors

**SUFS-FL:** Contributions from two major donors accounted for approximately 35% of contributions and grants—Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program during the year ended June 30, 2022. At June 30, 2022, approximately 40% of pledges receivable are due from these major donors. Contributions from one major donor accounted for approximately 19% of contributions and grants—Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program during the year ended June 30, 2021. At June 30, 2021, approximately 27% of pledges receivable are due from this major donor and an additional two donors account for approximately 25% of pledges receivable.

#### Note 9. Retirement Plan

The Organization has a defined contribution 401(k) Savings Plan (the Plan). All employees who meet certain age and service requirements are eligible to participate in the Plan. The Plan provides for salary reduction contributions from employees up to the federal tax limit according to the Internal Revenue Code. In addition, there could be additional retirement benefits from discretionary employer contributions. Contributions to this Plan for the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, were \$783,491 and \$580,172, respectively, which is included in payroll taxes and employee benefits in the accompanying consolidated statement of functional expenses.

# Consolidating Statement of Financial Position June 30, 2022

	tep Up For udents, Inc.		Step Up For Students- Florida, Inc.	St	Step Up For udents-West ′irginia, Inc.	Eliminations	(	Consolidated
Assets								
Current assets:								
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 192,766	\$	394,636,091	\$	50,506	\$-	\$	394,879,363
Pledges receivable, net	-		606,074,982		-	-		606,074,982
Accounts and grants receivable, net	654		4,749,403		881,903	-		5,631,960
Prepaid expenses and other assets	-		983,075		20,105	-		1,003,180
Funds held in trust for students	-		191,053,539		-	-		191,053,539
Due from related party	730,710		-		-	(730,710)		-
Total current assets	 924,130	1	1,197,497,090		952,514	(730,710)	1	,198,643,024
Restricted certificate of deposit	-		116,000		-	-		116,000
Right-of-use lease assets, net	-		2,150,750		-	-		2,150,750
Property and equipment, net	 -		8,156,213		183,360	-		8,339,573
Total assets	\$ 924,130	<b>\$</b> 1	1,207,920,053	\$	1,135,874	\$ (730,710)	\$ 1	,209,249,347
Liabilities and Net Assets								
Current liabilities:								
Accounts payable	\$ -	\$	36,199,570	\$	-	\$-	\$	36,199,570
Accrued expenses	923,976		3,202,978		52,760	-		4,179,714
Funds held in trust for students liability	-		191,053,539		-	-		191,053,539
Due to related party	-		308,742		421,968	(730,710)		-
Current portion of right-of-use lease obligations	 -		603,514		-	-		603,514
Total current liabilities	 923,976		231,368,343		474,728	(730,710)		232,036,337
Right-of-use lease obligations, net of current portion	-		1,567,089		-	-		1,567,089
Total liabilities	 923,976		232,935,432		474,728	(730,710)		233,603,426
Net assets:								
Without donor restrictions	154		18,888,149		336,157	-		19,224,460
With donor restrictions	-		956,096,472		324,989	-		956,421,461
Total net assets	 154		974,984,621		661,146	-		975,645,921
Total liabilities and net assets	\$ 924,130	<b>\$</b> 1	1,207,920,053	\$	1,135,874	\$ (730,710)	\$ 1	,209,249,347

# Consolidating Statement of Activities Year Ended June 30, 2022

	Step L	Jp For Stude	ents, Inc.	Step	Up For Students-FI	orida, Inc.	Step Up For Step Step Step Step Step Step Step Step	t Virginia, Inc.			
	Without Dono	r With Don	or	Without Donor	With Donor		Without Dono	r With Donor	-		
	Restrictions	Restrictio	ns Total	Restrictions	Restrictions	Total	Restrictions	Restrictions	Total	Eliminations	Consolidated
Revenues and support:											
Contributions and grants:											
Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ 32,671,091	\$ 705,262,149	\$ 737,933,240	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ 737,933,240
Hope Scholarship Program	-	-	-	3,975,142	75,111,820	79,086,962	-	-	-	-	79,086,962
Alabama Tax Credit Scholarship Program	-	-	-	75,813	1,502,440	1,578,253	-	-	-	-	1,578,253
Grants and other contributions	-	-	-	233,638	2,633,047	2,866,685	-	324,989	324,989	-	3,191,674
Other revenue and interest income	7,527,762	-	7,527,762	3,941	441,497	445,438	-	-	-	(7,527,611)	445,589
Scholarship service contract revenue	-	-	-	-	-	-	881,903	-	881,903	-	881,903
Net assets released from restrictions	-	-	-	576,274,864	(576,274,864)	-	-	-	-	-	-
Total revenues and support	7,527,762	-	7,527,762	613,234,489	208,676,089	821,910,578	881,903	324,989	1,206,892	(7,527,611)	823,117,621
Expenses:											
Program services:											
Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program	-	-	-	580,528,636	-	580,528,636	-	-	-	-	580,528,636
Family Empowerment Scholarship Program	-	-	-	10,712,524	-	10,712,524	-	-	-	-	10,712,524
Hope Scholarship Program	-	-	-	4,758,604	-	4,758,604	-	-	-	-	4,758,604
Alabama Tax Credit Scholarship Program	-	-	-	4,360,307	-	4,360,307	-	-	-	-	4,360,307
Policy, Strategic Communications, Legislative Affairs											
and Advocacy	-	-	-	3,331,219	-	3,331,219	8,715	_	8,715	-	3,339,934
Reading Scholarship Program	-	-	-	574,550	-	574,550	-	-	-	-	574,550
Scholarship Service Contract	-	-	-	-	-	-	412,320	_	412,320	-	412,320
Total program services	-	-	-	604,265,840	-	604,265,840	421,035	-	421,035	-	604,686,875
Supporting services:											
General and administrative	7,527,608	_	7,527,608	7,416,550	_	7,416,550	124,711	_	124,711	(7,527,611)	7,541,258
Development and fundraising	-	-	-	1,348,166	_	1,348,166	-	-	· -	-	1,348,166
Total supporting services	7,527,608	-	7,527,608	8,764,716	-	8,764,716	124,711	-	124,711	(7,527,611)	8,889,424
Total expenses	7,527,608	-	7,527,608	613,030,556	_	613,030,556	545,746	-	545,746	(7,527,611)	613,576,299
Change in net assets	154	-	154	203,933	208,676,089	208,880,022	336,157	324,989	661,146	-	209,541,322
Net assets:											
Beginning		-	-	18,684,216	747,420,383	766,104,599		-	-	-	766,104,599
Ending	\$ 154	\$ -	\$ 154	\$ 18,888,149	\$ 956,096,472	\$ 974,984,621	\$ 336,157	\$324,989	\$ 661,146	\$ -	\$ 975,645,921

# Consolidating Statement of Financial Position—Step Up For Students-Florida, Inc.

June 30, 2022

	Step Up For Students- Florida, Inc.		Alabama Opportunity C2 Scholarship Opportunity Fund, LLC Scholarships, LLC		Consolidated	
Assets						
Current assets:						
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	394,636,091	\$ -	\$	-	\$ 394,636,091
Pledges receivable, net		606,074,982	-		-	606,074,982
Accounts and grants receivable, net		4,749,403	-		-	4,749,403
Prepaid expenses and other assets		983,075	-		-	983,075
Funds held in trust for students		191,053,539	-		-	191,053,539
Total current assets		1,197,497,090	-		-	1,197,497,090
Restricted certificate of deposit		116,000	-		-	116,000
Right-of-use lease assets, net		2,150,750	-		-	2,150,750
Property and equipment, net		8,156,213	-		-	8,156,213
Total assets	\$	1,207,920,053	\$ 	\$		\$ 1,207,920,053
Liabilities and Net Assets						
Current liabilities:						
Accounts payable	\$	36,199,570	\$ -	\$	-	\$ 36,199,570
Accrued expenses		3,202,978	-		-	3,202,978
Funds held in trust for students liability		191,053,539	-		-	191,053,539
Due to related party		308,742	-		-	308,742
Current portion of right-of-use lease obligations		603,514	-		-	603,514
Total current liabilities		231,368,343	-		-	231,368,343
Right-of-use lease obligations, net of current portion		1,567,089	-		-	1,567,089
Total liabilities		232,935,432	-		-	232,935,432
Net assets:						
Without donor restrictions		18,888,149	-		-	18,888,149
With donor restrictions		956,096,472	-		-	956,096,472
Total net assets		974,984,621	-		-	974,984,621
Total liabilities and net assets	\$	1,207,920,053	\$ -	\$	-	\$ 1,207,920,053

# Consolidating Statement of Activities—Step Up For Students-Florida, Inc.

Year Ended June 30, 2022

	Step U	p For Students-Flo	orida, Inc.	Alabama Opp	ortunity Scholar	ship Fund, LLC	nd, LLC C2 Opportunity Scholarships, LLC					
	Without Donor	With Donor		Without Donor	With Donor		Without Donor	With Donor		-		
	Restrictions	Restrictions	Total	Restrictions	Restrictions	Total	Restrictions	Restrictions	Total	Consolidated		
Revenues and support:												
Contributions and grants:												
Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program	\$ 32,671,091	\$ 705,262,149	\$ 737,933,240	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ 737,933,240		
Hope Scholarship Program	3,975,142	75,111,820	79,086,962	-	-	-	-	-	-	79,086,962		
Alabama Tax Credit Scholarship Program	-	-	-	75,693	1,493,157	1,568,850	120	9,283	9,403	1,578,253		
Grants and other contributions	233,638	2,633,047	2,866,685	-	-	-	-	-	-	2,866,685		
Other revenue and interest income	3,941	441,497	445,438	-	-	-	-	-	-	445,438		
Net assets released from restrictions	572,283,052	(572,283,052)	-	3,723,385	(3,723,385)	-	268,427	(268,427)	-	-		
Total revenues and support	609,166,864	211,165,461	820,332,325	3,799,078	(2,230,228)	1,568,850	268,547	(259,144)	9,403	821,910,578		
Expenses:												
Program services:												
Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program	580,528,636	_	580,528,636	-	-	-	-	-	-	580,528,636		
Family Empowerment Scholarship Program	10,712,524	_	10,712,524	-	-	-	-	-	-	10,712,524		
Hope Scholarship Program	4,758,604	_	4,758,604	-	-	-	-	-	-	4,758,604		
Alabama Tax Credit Scholarship Program	-	-	-	4,064,777	_	4,064,777	295,530	_	295,530	4,360,307		
Policy, Strategic Communications, Legislative Affairs							,					
and Advocacy	3,331,219	_	3,331,219	-	-	-	-	-	-	3,331,219		
Reading Scholarship Program	574,550	-	574,550	-	-	-	-	-	-	574,550		
Scholarship Service Contract	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
Total program services	599,905,533	-	599,905,533	4,064,777	-	4,064,777	295,530	-	295,530	604,265,840		
Supporting services:												
General and administrative	7,416,550	-	7,416,550	-	-	-	-	-	-	7,416,550		
Development and fundraising	1,348,166	-	1,348,166	-	-	-	-	-	-	1,348,166		
Total supporting services	8,764,716	-	8,764,716		-	-	-	-	-	8,764,716		
Total expenses	608,670,249	-	608,670,249	4,064,777	-	4,064,777	295,530	-	295,530	613,030,556		
Change in net assets	496,615	211,165,461	211,662,076	(265,699)	(2,230,228)	(2,495,927)	(26,983)	(259,144)	(286,127)	208,880,022		
Net assets:												
Beginning	18,391,534	744,931,011	763,322,545	265,699	2,230,228	2,495,927	26,983	259,144	286,127	766,104,599		
Ending	\$ 18,888,149	\$ 956,096,472	\$ 974,984,621	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ 974,984,621		

# Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards and State Financial Assistance Year Ended June 30, 2022

Grantor/Pass-Through Grantor/Program Title	Assistance Listing Number	Contract/ Grant Number	Pr	Amounts Provided to Subrecipients		Federal xpenditures
Federal Awards:						
U.S. Department of Education: Passed-through the following:						
Florida Department of Education:						
COVID-19: Education Stabilization Funds—Governor's						
Emergency Education Relief (GEER) Fund	84.425C	92X-1230A-1D001	\$	2,633,047	\$	2,659,377
Total expenditures of federal awards			\$	2,633,047	\$	2,659,377
Grantor/Pass-Through Grantor/Program Title	State CSFA Number	Contract/ Grant Number	Pr	Amounts ovided to precipients	E	State xpenditures
State Financial Assistance:						
Florida Department of Education and Commissioner of Education: Direct programs:						
Reading Scholarship Accounts Program	48.157	92X-90550-2D001	\$	-	\$	1,246,792
Total expenditures of state financial assistance			\$	-	\$	1,246,792
Total expenditures of federal awards and state financi	\$	2,633,047	\$	3,906,169		

See notes to schedule of expenditures of federal awards and state financial assistance.

# Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards and State Financial Assistance Year Ended June 30, 2022

#### Note 1. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards and state financial assistance (the Schedule) includes the federal award and state financial assistance project activity of Step Up For Students, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the Organization), under programs of the federal government and the State of Florida for the year ended June 30, 2022. The information in this Schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 *U.S. Code of Federal Regulations* Part 200, *Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards* (Uniform Guidance) and the State of Florida Chapter 10.650, *Rules of the Auditor General.* Because the Schedule presents only a selected portion of the operations of the Organization, it is not intended to and does not present the financial position, changes in net assets or cash flows of the Organization.

#### Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Expenditures reported on the Schedule are recognized on the accrual basis of accounting. Such expenditures are reported following the cost principles contained in the Uniform Guidance and cost principles established by the State of Florida Department of Financial Services, wherein certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement. Pass-through entity identifying numbers (contract or grant number) are presented where available.

SUFS-FL is acting as an agent for the Reading Scholarship Accounts Program; therefore, there are no revenues and expenses reported on the accompanying consolidated statement of activities for scholarship funds received and distributed from the State of Florida. The expenditures reported as state financial assistance on the Schedule represent amounts distributed for reimbursement of program-related expenditures on behalf of eligible children, which totaled \$1,246,792.

#### Note 3. Indirect Cost Rate

The Organization has elected not to use the 10% de minimis indirect cost rate as allowed under the Uniform Guidance.



**RSM US LLP** 

#### Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance With *Government Auditing Standards*

#### **Independent Auditor's Report**

Board of Directors Step Up For Students, Inc.

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in *Government Auditing Standards*, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (*Government Auditing Standards*), the consolidated financial statements of Step Up For Students, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the Organization), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as of June 30, 2022, and the related consolidated statements of activities, functional expenses and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements (collectively, the financial statements), and have issued our report thereon dated October 31, 2022.

#### **Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting**

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Organization's internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Organization's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Organization's internal control.

A *deficiency in internal control* exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A *material weakness* is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A *significant deficiency* is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit, we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

THE POWER OF BEING UNDERSTOOD AUDIT | TAX | CONSULTING

#### **Report on Compliance and Other Matters**

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Organization's financial statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under *Government Auditing Standards*.

#### **Purpose of This Report**

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Organization's internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* in considering the Organization's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

RSM US LLP

Orlando, Florida October 31, 2022



**RSM US LLP** 

#### Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program and State Financial Assistance Project and Report on Internal Control Over Compliance Required by the Uniform Guidance and State of Florida Chapter 10.650, *Rules of the Auditor General*

#### Independent Auditor's Report

Board of Directors Step Up For Students, Inc.

#### Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program and State Financial Assistance Project

#### **Opinion on Each Major Federal Program and State Financial Assistance Project**

We have audited Step Up For Students, Inc. and its subsidiaries' (the Organization) compliance with the types of compliance requirements identified as subject to audit in the *OMB Compliance Supplement* and in the State of Florida's *Department of Financial Services' State Projects Compliance Supplement* that could have a direct and material effect on each of the Organization's major federal programs and state financial assistance projects for the year ended June 30, 2022. The Organization's major federal programs and state financial assistance projects are identified in the summary of auditor's results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.

In our opinion, the Organization complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs and state financial assistance projects for the year ended June 30, 2022.

#### Basis for Opinion on Each Major Federal Program and State Financial Assistance Project

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAS); the standards applicable to financial audits contained in *Government Auditing Standards*, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (*Government Auditing Standards*); the audit requirements of Title 2 *U.S. Code of Federal Regulations* Part 200, *Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards* (Uniform Guidance); and the State of Florida Chapter 10.650, *Rules of the Auditor General* (Chapter 10.650). Our responsibilities under those standards, the Uniform Guidance and Chapter 10.650 are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of our report.

We are required to be independent of the Organization and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on compliance for each major federal program and state financial assistance project. Our audit does not provide a legal determination of the Organization's compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above.

#### **Responsibilities of Management for Compliance**

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of laws, statutes, regulations, rules and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to the Organization's federal programs and state financial assistance projects.

THE POWER OF BEING UNDERSTOOD AUDIT | TAX | CONSULTING

#### Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion on the Organization's compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS, *Government Auditing Standards*, the Uniform Guidance, and Chapter 10.650 will always detect material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above is considered material, if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on compliance about the Organization's compliance with the requirements of each major federal program and state financial assistance project as a whole.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, *Government Auditing Standards*, the Uniform Guidance, and Chapter 10.650, we

- exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
- identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design
  and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on
  a test basis, evidence regarding the Organization's compliance with the compliance requirements
  referred to above and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
  circumstances.
- obtain an understanding of the Organization's internal control over compliance relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance and Chapter 10.650, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Organization's internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal control over compliance that we identified during the audit.

#### **Report on Internal Control Over Compliance**

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program or state financial assistance project on a timely basis. *A material weakness in internal control over compliance* is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance sa reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance is a deficiency or state financial assistance project will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. *A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance* is a deficiencies, in internal control over compliance is a deficiencies, in internal control over compliance is a deficiencies, in internal control over compliance requirement of a federal program or state financial assistance project will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. *A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance* is a deficiencies, in internal control over compliance is a deficiency or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program or state financial assistance project that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses.

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform Guidance and Chapter 10.650. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

RSM US LLP

Orlando, Florida October 31, 2022

# Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs Year Ended June 30, 2022

#### I. Summary of Auditor's Results

#### **Financial Statements**

Type of auditor's report issued on whether the financial statements were prepared in accordance with GAAP:	Unmodified
Internal control over financial reporting: Material weakness(es) identified? Significant deficiency(ies) identified? Noncompliance material to financial statements noted? <b>Federal Awards</b>	Yes X No Yes X None Reported Yes X No
Internal control over major program: Material weakness(es) identified? Significant deficiency(ies) identified?	Yes X No Yes X None Reported
Type of auditor's report issued on compliance for major program:	Unmodified
Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported in accordance with Section 2 CFR 200.516(a)?	Yes X_No
Identification of major federal program:	
Assistance Listing Number(s) 84.425C	Name of Federal Program or Cluster COVID-19: Education Stabilization Funds—Governor's Emergency Education Relief (GEER) Fund
Dollar threshold used to distinguish between type A and type B programs:	\$ 750,000
Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?	Yes <u>X</u> No

(Continued)

#### Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs (Continued) Year Ended June 30, 2022

I. Summary of Auditor's Results (Continued)	
State Financial Assistance	
Internal control over major program: Material weakness(es) identified? Significant deficiency(ies) identified?	Yes X No Yes X None Reported
Type of auditor's report issued on compliance for major program:	Unmodified
Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported in accordance with State of Florida Chapter 10.650, <i>Rules of the Auditor General</i> ?	Yes XNo
Identification of major program:	
<u>CSFA Number(s)</u> 48.157	<u>Name of State Financial Assistance Project</u> Reading Scholarship Accounts Program
Dollar threshold used to distinguish between type A and type B state financial assistance projects:	\$ 750,000

#### II. Financial Statement Findings

No matters to report.

#### III. Findings and Questioned Costs for Federal Awards and State Financial Assistance

No matters to report.

#### **IV. Other Reporting**

- 1. No Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings is presented because there were no prior audit findings.
- 2. No Corrective Action Plan is presented because there were no findings required to be reported under the Federal Single Audit Act or the Florida Single Audit Act.
- 3. There was no management letter or control deficiency letter issued for the year ended June 30, 2022, as there were no matters required to be reported in these letters.

# Step Up For Students

# Annual Report for the Year Ending June 30, 2023

- Student Data information on Applications, Scholarship Award and Scholarship Funding
- Scholarship Monies Collected, Distributed Scholarships, and Year End Balances

	Nun	nber of	Applica	tions R	ecieved	for the	Income	e-Based	Schola	rship Pr	ograms	, 2022-2	23	
County	К	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	Grand Total
Alachua	317	259	275	240	225	223	247	194	177	142	129	81	63	2572
Baker	13	15	12	21	24	15	23	19	16	11	14	9	2	194
Вау	88	88	77	63	75	65	64	62	48	24	31	21	17	723
Bradford	53	48	29	43	31	35	45	34	35	30	22	28	12	445
Brevard	695	665	656	639	600	532	510	533	474	347	303	216	193	6363
Broward	3186	2710	2556	2605	2230	2193	2265	2078	1985	1917	1468	1254	1097	27544
Calhoun	2	3	3	3	3		3	2	2			2		23
Charlotte	107	114	80	93	96	76	99	81	77	46	32	32	26	959
Citrus	147	153	134	134	121	113	95	92	84	73	54	34	28	1262
Clay	203	165	184	153	143	163	156	128	144	114	90	70	67	1780
Collier	182	177	132	162	140	149	133	153	148	124	92	86	77	1755
Columbia	115	108	112	89	97	111	109	114	101	87	72	74	46	1235
DeSoto	27	34	19	30	25	26	32	38	31	23	13	8	7	313
Dixie	8	10	11	13	17	12	15	16	12	18	16	11	13	172
Duval	1938	1762	1618	1613	1576	1500	1576	1452	1398	1267	1068	866	723	18357
Escambia	439	427	432	409	366	369	420	401	371	306	254	183	137	4514
Flagler	152	114	136	122	100	112	103	105	89	58	79	34	25	1229
Franklin	6	5	7	7	5	6	5	5	6	4	10	3	5	74
Gadsden	86	85	87	66	77	88	93	83	101	104	98	70	60	1098
Gilchrist	20	20	18	25	23	13	20	8	11	14	13	8	4	197
Glades	3	5	6	9	6	7	14	4	4	5	1	4	1	69
Gulf	7	11	10	2	6	8	8	11	4	7	3	1		78
Hamilton	24	27	11	26	19	25	23	20	20	13	12	7	13	240
Hardee	9	12	13	13	6	13	10	8	5	5	4	6		104
Hendry	45	47	43	50	35	35	56	69	62	25	22	22	23	534
Hernando	220	202	206	195	196	195	188	151	157	143	113	85	74	2125
Highlands	155	171	140	143	140	131	145	128	110	68	58	50	32	1471
Hillsborough	1627	1460	1387	1417	1370	1258	1461	1192	1146	1018	833	684	585	15438
Holmes	6	15	9	8	5	14	7	9	7	5	7	2	2	96
Indian River	94	76	78	81	102	68	100	85	83	68	40	32	25	932
Jackson	41	41	34	34	15	35	19	25	21	24	17	11	6	323
Jefferson	16	27	22	24	13	16	13	23	22	19	15	13	6	229
Lafayette	8	15	6	10	4	4	7	5	9	2	8	7	3	88

Lake	470	410	421	365	356	365	385	350	355	303	237	209	154	4380
Lee	526	466	467	430	430	405	428	375	328	262	245	213	147	4722
Leon	369	305	262	263	250	233	244	231	208	158	171	150	108	2952
Levy	41	46	43	50	43	38	48	42	45	39	31	30	20	516
Liberty	1	6		3	1	1	1	4	1		2	3		23
Madison	24	26	22	17	8	6	10	4	7	6	9	5	2	146
Manatee	283	270	244	243	218	205	236	225	216	179	167	111	99	2696
Marion	520	499	484	492	427	415	466	418	359	322	244	200	155	5001
Martin	121	127	110	117	97	93	89	64	61	35	44	20	20	998
Miami-Dade	5700	5035	4527	4254	3835	3632	3480	3138	3150	2991	2652	2441	2318	47153
Monroe	49	58	44	48	32	29	29	22	32	13	10	4	4	374
Nassau	106	92	73	72	83	62	59	63	55	39	23	31	22	780
Okaloosa	249	239	199	192	145	152	120	120	75	57	46	45	26	1665
Okeechobee	52	51	46	34	29	32	32	35	30	15	13	3	7	379
Orange	2431	2172	2016	1994	1781	1853	1945	1676	1616	1351	1114	985	758	21692
Osceola	846	726	744	737	701	700	779	754	745	672	578	535	495	9012
Palm Beach	1277	1145	1095	989	948	976	978	857	848	744	603	497	405	11362
Pasco	529	481	438	433	384	423	373	372	329	298	232	220	167	4679
Pinellas	789	813	749	758	793	745	869	800	781	630	516	403	337	8983
Polk	1171	1032	994	1008	880	938	1075	949	852	754	622	508	422	11205
Putnam	87	79	59	81	66	63	55	58	67	40	35	29	25	744
Santa Rosa	252	245	226	173	182	140	136	134	148	91	87	73	47	1934
Sarasota	257	237	230	227	177	215	162	185	158	126	96	90	64	2224
Seminole	526	472	477	439	416	431	426	358	342	274	222	172	169	4724
St. Johns	244	217	227	217	184	200	186	166	163	99	92	71	52	2118
St. Lucie	559	505	482	447	415	389	380	342	296	280	202	182	128	4607
Sumter	28	35	31	38	30	33	18	24	25	16	12	16	12	318
Suwannee	55	73	58	58	64	65	67	53	62	60	45	34	34	728
Taylor	25	33	42	18	29	34	29	29	24	17	17	19	13	329
Union	16	8	8	7	15	14	4	10	9	8	7	6	1	113
Unknown							1		1	1				3
Volusia	917	735	697	663	582	583	674	673	605	461	367	259	213	7429
Wakulla	21	15	13	17	13	13	8	15	16	19	12	12	8	182
Walton	65	52	45	30	34	32	34	21	18	10	18	4	8	371
Washington	38	29	26	18	28	14	25	22	16	17	14	16		263

Grand Total	28683	25805	24142	23474	21567	21139	21915	19917	19003	16498	13776	11610	9812	257341
-------------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	------	--------

		Num	ber of S	Student	s Award	ded a Fl	orida Ta	ax Credi	t Schola	arship, 2	2022-2	3		
County	К	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	Grand Total
Alachua	176	125	117	102	131	128	133	111	117	94	88	49	46	1417
Baker	11	9	7	12	18	9	17	17	14	9	11	7	1	142
Вау	55	53	41	44	63	43	44	43	35	15	24	15	10	485
Bradford	31	22	9	18	17	22	29	22	21	19	19	20	9	258
Brevard	413	361	320	368	393	351	346	345	344	254	202	155	133	3985
Broward	1854	1434	1087	1298	1426	1401	1456	1367	1282	1273	977	829	779	16463
Calhoun	1	2	2	3	4		3	2	2			1		20
Charlotte	57	61	34	41	62	47	63	49	52	32	25	21	20	564
Citrus	83	74	47	59	77	66	63	61	60	52	39	24	25	730
Clay	119	76	72	81	86	99	104	80	99	86	56	45	49	1052
Collier	100	87	47	70	76	96	73	96	84	82	57	52	50	970
Columbia	80	56	55	52	63	71	75	84	67	67	50	54	40	814
DeSoto	20	25	11	17	16	19	21	24	23	20	9	4	4	213
Dixie	4	4	7	7	12	9	8	11	9	12	15	9	8	115
Duval	1143	985	694	879	1069	1028	1064	995	954	876	799	630	572	11688
Escambia	266	229	225	225	241	252	285	283	262	213	191	120	96	2888
Flagler	88	58	49	74	64	70	68	75	54	46	50	26	20	742
Franklin	4	2	4	2	5	5	3	4	4	2	7	3	3	48
Gadsden	59	53	40	34	49	60	59	50	79	84	69	45	51	732
Gilchrist	10	9	6	15	12	7	12	5	5	8	10	5	2	106
Glades	1	3	1	5	4	5	10	3	3	5		2		42
Gulf	5	5	3	2	3	7	3	6	1	4		1		40
Hamilton	12	19	4	15	14	19	19	14	15	10	13	6		170
Hardee	5	6	8	7	3	7	7	4	4	3	3	5		62
Hendry	32	27	21	32	28	29	40	49	39	22	17	20		374
Hernando	119	100	93	104	124	123	128	105	115	102	85	61	57	1316
Highlands	88	78	55	76	94	82	96	89	80	44	47	42	24	895
Hillsborough	992	822	632	790	863	780	952	790	783	662	553	457	417	9493
Holmes	3	11	4	5	3	7	4	6	5	4	5	2	1	60
Indian River	45	36	31	35	63	42	65	49	45	43	25	24		520
Jackson	26	21	17	19	12	26	16	19	16	19	13	5	4	213
Jefferson	9	22	13	16	12	10	9	16	16	15	11	9		162
Lafayette	8	15	5	9	4	3	6	5	7	2	6	7	3	80

Grand Total	16815	13548	10188	12197	14055	13865	14390	13246	12901	11411	9601	8212	7310	157739
Washington	27	17	18	10	21	10	20	15	11	14	9	13		185
Walton	29	26	17	15	19	19	15	9	11	7	8	1	4	180
Wakulla	15	4	6	9	10	9	5	10	11	11	8	9	5	112
Volusia	518	404	291	344	421	399	475	460	439	341	261	191	177	4721
Union	12	2	5	5	12	8	2	7	8	6	4	4		75
Taylor	17	16	20	7	22	25	24	22	19	14	11	16	11	224
Suwannee	34	46	30	33	45	49	48	46	47	49	36	32	35	530
Sumter	17	21	17	28	22	21	15	14	21	9	11	12	9	217
St. Lucie	299	250	200	215	256	249	239	222	203	202	134	129	84	2682
St. Johns	114	101	78	110	92	113	121	102	99	52	61	40	30	1113
Seminole	285	233	204	189	230	257	245	225	218	177	154	105	109	2631
Sarasota	134	102	81	98	102	118	96	109	95	80	60	64	47	1186
Santa Rosa	107	108	78	79	85	78	76	64	92	51	43	52	35	948
Putnam	54	41	21	33	46	47	35	42	53	33	29	20	20	474
Polk	693	584	500	579	572	641	704	638	570	562	431	375	327	7176
Pinellas	439	387	279	362	482	492	559	493	467	436	363	286	253	5298
Pasco	303	241	212	224	243	293	245	246	238	211	162	164	128	2910
Palm Beach	683	566	434	459	544	537	580	485	518	466	358	319	265	6214
Osceola	520	369	320	385	458	479	518	508	535	461	425	381	390	5749
Orange	1458	1143	826	1044	1181	1269	1283	1177	1110	968	822	750	603	13634
Okeechobee	27	12	18	14	18	23	20	16	25	12	11	3	6	205
Okaloosa	97	88	70	80	76	84	59	61	39	35	30	26	13	758
Nassau	38	40	26	22	52	33	29	28	39	25	14	23	18	387
Monroe	30	26	18	20	21	16	13	13	24	5	8	2	3	199
Miami-Dade	3622	2720	1735	2318	2748	2578	2487	2232	2319	2150	1910	1809	1768	30396
Martin	61	62	47	57	59	49	59	38	40	24	32	14	17	559
Marion	317	259	223	262	295	277	318	284	236	224	179	144	107	3125
Manatee	157	123	88	99	135	118	142	141	123	116	107	70	66	1485
Madison	15	19	9	11	5	3	- 7	3	6	3	- 5	4	2	92
Liberty	1	4		1		1	1	4		<u> </u>	1	3		16
Levv	21	27	21	23	25	23	36	22	25	24		17	12	297
Leon	232	196	149	161	166	156	158	163	139	101	111	101	76	1909
Lee	269	208	177 209	178 207	222 259	228 240	252 223	237 231	234 191	210 153	161 145	148 130	122 95	2633 2560

	Num	ber of	Stude	ents wi	ith a Fi	unded	Florid	a Tax (	Credit	Schola	rship,	2022-	23	
County	к	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	Grand Total
Alachua	108	86	45	58	74	72	86	68	73	47	48	34	32	831
Baker	7	5	5	9	13	5	14	16	12	7	7	5		105
Bay	33	35	22	29	34	27	23	29	22	9	13	7	5	288
Bradford	19	18	6	12	15	17	22	17	16	16	16	16	7	197
Brevard	265	242	199	234	265	239	250	241	225	135	115	111	85	2606
Broward	1215	912	587	767	930	913	927	903	779	728	589	520	483	10253
Calhoun	1	1	1	2	3		3	1	2			1		15
Charlotte	34	37	19	32	46	36	46	39	42	14	14	11	16	386
Citrus	59	51	31	36	56	50	45	43	40	28	25	21	17	502
Clay	55	37	31	44	53	59	56	49	54	52	29	29	30	578
Collier	62	56	29	41	49	60	39	63	61	53	36	33	38	620
Columbia	56	37	37	39	50	56	59	57	44	44	29	44	24	576
DeSoto	15	18	5	13	13	12	19	19	21	15	8	3	2	163
Dixie	4	3	7	5	7	8	6	8	7	8	12	5	5	85
Duval	692	614	373	548	706	691	665	660	623	554	531	424	395	7476
Escambia	152	143	139	139	172	194	184	181	164	122	112	65	60	1827
Flagler	63	47	31	52	41	42	49	50	30	22	28	17	13	485
Franklin	4	1	3	2	5	4	3	4	3	2	6	3	2	42
Gadsden	36	36	24	21	34	39	40	35	61	56	49	34	38	503
Gilchrist	8	7	5	9	9	6	9	3	4	7	7	3		77
Glades	1	2	1	3	2	5	8	2	3	2		2		31
Gulf	4	3	3	2	3	7	3	5	1	2				33
Hamilton	10	17	3	13	10	17	14	8	13	8	8	5	7	133
Hardee	2	6	4	5	2	5	6	3	4	1	1	4		43
Hendry	28	22	15	26	23	25	31	37	29	18	14	13	16	297
Hernando	74	64	53	60	86	73	75	77	69	65	61	37	36	830
Highlands	63	47	27	57	65	56	76	68	59	27	34	27	15	621
Hillsborough	553	467	317	429	541	459	533	478	499	365	338	305	253	5537
Holmes	2	8	1	5	2	6	2	4	3	1	3	1		38
Indian River	27	18	17	20	40	30	34	32	31	27	17	16	12	321
Jackson	18	14	11	14	11	15	10	10	9	11	11	4	2	140
Jefferson	2	9	8	8	7	4	5	10	8	6	6	7	3	83
Lafayette	6	13	5	7	2	3	5	3	6	1	6	7	3	67

Lake	165	134	92	114	138	142	156	150	144	122	108	102	85	1652
Lee	168	148	121	117	182	173	155	161	126	105	98	89	65	1708
Leon	131	108	84	79	97	99	81	101	81	52	67	61	50	1091
Levy	9	21	16	18	17	18	30	19	18	19	21	13	8	227
Liberty	1	1				1		3			1	3		10
Madison	8	12	6	8	4	2	5	2	4	2	4	4		61
Manatee	104	84	36	65	88	81	95	91	79	64	73	52	44	956
Marion	197	134	102	153	186	169	225	170	154	147	110	88	71	1906
Martin	41	46	29	43	38	33	34	30	26	12	19	8	14	373
Miami-Dade	2758	2001	1020	1608	2125	1940	1813	1665	1653	1391	1309	1358	1350	21991
Monroe	18	16	11	13	19	10	10	11	17	2	3			130
Nassau	25	24	14	9	38	29	19	18	27	16	9	14	11	253
Okaloosa	40	52	35	34	40	47	29	33	18	25	16	13	7	389
Okeechobee	18	7	9	6	8	16	14	12	18	7	7	2	4	128
Orange	1004	766	470	655	828	859	865	816	773	590	534	482	386	9028
Osceola	348	247	202	256	340	365	370	380	387	309	307	270	273	4054
Palm Beach	406	356	212	249	337	322	339	298	298	232	208	195	160	3612
Pasco	171	146	114	122	154	192	151	166	148	128	105	104	82	1783
Pinellas	291	245	154	224	326	326	388	350	321	279	249	196	170	3519
Polk	390	362	289	354	387	408	470	429	382	347	278	265	214	4575
Putnam	35	22	16	22	32	32	28	31	35	20	22	13	14	322
Santa Rosa	67	72	50	41	47	50	51	44	57	31	30	31	25	596
Sarasota	92	76	48	57	74	83	69	83	78	50	37	34	29	810
Seminole	164	136	89	104	137	145	160	134	125	103	87	70	61	1515
St. Johns	61	56	42	71	57	72	78	68	67	26	37	22	20	677
St. Lucie	189	159	116	129	173	165	150	158	137	108	77	76	50	1687
Sumter	10	10	6	18	16	13	7	6	10	5	6	4	4	115
Suwannee	29	38	26	28	35	40	42	40	43	37	28	24	27	437
Taylor	10	11	9	5	15	23	16	14	16	8	10	12	10	159
Union	8	2	3	3	8	7		5	3	4	4	2		49
Volusia	316	270	171	198	273	276	300	298	309	194	168	133	108	3014
Wakulla	6	3	1	3	6	6	4	7	6	8	7	6	4	67
Walton	19	13	9	7	10	6	6	6	5	4	4		2	91
Washington	21	13	14	10	17	8	15	11	7	11	7	11		145
Grand Total	10998	8867	5680	7564	9621	9393	9522	9033	8589	6911	6223	5571	4947	102919

	Nun	nber of	Applica	tions R	ecieved	for the	Income	e-Based	Schola	rship Pr	ograms	, 2022-2	23	
County	К	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	Grand Total
Alachua	317	259	275	240	225	223	247	194	177	142	129	81	63	2572
Baker	13	15	12	21	24	15	23	19	16	11	14	9	2	194
Вау	88	88	77	63	75	65	64	62	48	24	31	21	17	723
Bradford	53	48	29	43	31	35	45	34	35	30	22	28	12	445
Brevard	695	665	656	639	600	532	510	533	474	347	303	216	193	6363
Broward	3186	2710	2556	2605	2230	2193	2265	2078	1985	1917	1468	1254	1097	27544
Calhoun	2	3	3	3	3		3	2	2			2		23
Charlotte	107	114	80	93	96	76	99	81	77	46	32	32	26	959
Citrus	147	153	134	134	121	113	95	92	84	73	54	34	28	1262
Clay	203	165	184	153	143	163	156	128	144	114	90	70	67	1780
Collier	182	177	132	162	140	149	133	153	148	124	92	86	77	1755
Columbia	115	108	112	89	97	111	109	114	101	87	72	74	46	1235
DeSoto	27	34	19	30	25	26	32	38	31	23	13	8	7	313
Dixie	8	10	11	13	17	12	15	16	12	18	16	11	13	172
Duval	1938	1762	1618	1613	1576	1500	1576	1452	1398	1267	1068	866	723	18357
Escambia	439	427	432	409	366	369	420	401	371	306	254	183	137	4514
Flagler	152	114	136	122	100	112	103	105	89	58	79	34	25	1229
Franklin	6	5	7	7	5	6	5	5	6	4	10	3	5	74
Gadsden	86	85	87	66	77	88	93	83	101	104	98	70	60	1098
Gilchrist	20	20	18	25	23	13	20	8	11	14	13	8	4	197
Glades	3	5	6	9	6	7	14	4	4	5	1	4	1	69
Gulf	7	11	10	2	6	8	8	11	4	7	3	1		78
Hamilton	24	27	11	26	19	25	23	20	20	13	12	7	13	240
Hardee	9	12	13	13	6	13	10	8	5	5	4	6		104
Hendry	45	47	43	50	35	35	56	69	62	25	22	22	23	534
Hernando	220	202	206	195	196	195	188	151	157	143	113	85	74	2125
Highlands	155	171	140	143	140	131	145	128	110	68	58	50	32	1471
Hillsborough	1627	1460	1387	1417	1370	1258	1461	1192	1146	1018	833	684	585	15438
Holmes	6	15	9	8	5	14	7	9	7	5	7	2	2	96
Indian River	94	76	78	81	102	68	100	85	83	68	40	32	25	932
Jackson	41	41	34	34	15	35	19	25	21	24	17	11	6	323
Jefferson	16	27	22	24	13	16	13	23	22	19	15	13	6	229
Lafayette	8	15	6	10	4	4	7	5	9	2	8	7	3	88

Lake	470	410	421	365	356	365	385	350	355	303	237	209	154	4380
Lee	526	466	467	430	430	405	428	375	328	262	245	213	147	4722
Leon	369	305	262	263	250	233	244	231	208	158	171	150	108	2952
Levy	41	46	43	50	43	38	48	42	45	39	31	30	20	516
Liberty	1	6		3	1	1	1	4	1		2	3		23
Madison	24	26	22	17	8	6	10	4	7	6	9	5	2	146
Manatee	283	270	244	243	218	205	236	225	216	179	167	111	99	2696
Marion	520	499	484	492	427	415	466	418	359	322	244	200	155	5001
Martin	121	127	110	117	97	93	89	64	61	35	44	20	20	998
Miami-Dade	5700	5035	4527	4254	3835	3632	3480	3138	3150	2991	2652	2441	2318	47153
Monroe	49	58	44	48	32	29	29	22	32	13	10	4	4	374
Nassau	106	92	73	72	83	62	59	63	55	39	23	31	22	780
Okaloosa	249	239	199	192	145	152	120	120	75	57	46	45	26	1665
Okeechobee	52	51	46	34	29	32	32	35	30	15	13	3	7	379
Orange	2431	2172	2016	1994	1781	1853	1945	1676	1616	1351	1114	985	758	21692
Osceola	846	726	744	737	701	700	779	754	745	672	578	535	495	9012
Palm Beach	1277	1145	1095	989	948	976	978	857	848	744	603	497	405	11362
Pasco	529	481	438	433	384	423	373	372	329	298	232	220	167	4679
Pinellas	789	813	749	758	793	745	869	800	781	630	516	403	337	8983
Polk	1171	1032	994	1008	880	938	1075	949	852	754	622	508	422	11205
Putnam	87	79	59	81	66	63	55	58	67	40	35	29	25	744
Santa Rosa	252	245	226	173	182	140	136	134	148	91	87	73	47	1934
Sarasota	257	237	230	227	177	215	162	185	158	126	96	90	64	2224
Seminole	526	472	477	439	416	431	426	358	342	274	222	172	169	4724
St. Johns	244	217	227	217	184	200	186	166	163	99	92	71	52	2118
St. Lucie	559	505	482	447	415	389	380	342	296	280	202	182	128	4607
Sumter	28	35	31	38	30	33	18	24	25	16	12	16	12	318
Suwannee	55	73	58	58	64	65	67	53	62	60	45	34	34	728
Taylor	25	33	42	18	29	34	29	29	24	17	17	19	13	329
Union	16	8	8	7	15	14	4	10	9	8	7	6	1	113
Unknown							1		1	1				3
Volusia	917	735	697	663	582	583	674	673	605	461	367	259	213	7429
Wakulla	21	15	13	17	13	13	8	15	16	19	12	12	8	182
Walton	65	52	45	30	34	32	34	21	18	10	18	4	8	371
Washington	38	29	26	18	28	14	25	22	16	17	14	16		263

Grand Total	28683	25805	24142	23474	21567	21139	21915	19917	19003	16498	13776	11610	9812	257341
-------------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	------	--------

Number	of Stu	dents A	warded	l a Fami	ily Em	ower	ment	Schola	rship f	or Edu	catior	nal Op	tions,	2022-23
County	К	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	Grand Total
Alachua	105	126	144	113	81	76	91	69	53	41	33	29	16	977
Baker	1	4	6	9	4	5	2	3	2	3	2	2		43
Bay	24	25	29	17	11	16	13	16	9	6	6	4	6	182
Bradford	21	23	18	26	12	15	15	8	13	8	5	5	3	172
Brevard	224	261	306	245	167	155	130	137	113	81	87	46	52	2004
Broward	935	1129	1298	1161	678	638	620	596	552	465	383	349	301	9105
Calhoun	1	1	1						1					4
Charlotte	36	48	39	49	26	26	30	24	23	13	7	10	6	337
Citrus	56	72	81	72	39	41	30	27	22	19	13	7	1	480
Clay	66	79	104	66	48	54	38	43	38	23	26	19	19	623
Collier	58	72	69	81	49	44	43	51	46	29	31	21	25	619
Columbia	35	47	57	39	31	41	33	31	35	24	19	23	10	425
DeSoto	4	10	7	9	7	5	4	8	4	6	4	4	3	75
Dixie	3	5	4	4	3	2	5	5	2	6	1	2	4	46
Duval	650	731	848	659	459	425	443	399	392	338	234	216	161	5955
Escambia	151	190	204	167	118	106	122	111	104	84	66	62	37	1522
Flagler	46	50	79	42	27	33	28	23	30	12	23	8	3	404
Franklin	1	3	2	4		1	1			1	1			14
Gadsden	21	27	37	29	21	25	34	25	23	17	30	22	7	318
Gilchrist	8	9	11	11	9	7	6	3	6	4	3	3	2	82
Glades	1	2	5	4	2	2	3		1			2		22
Gulf	2	5	8		3	2	4	5	1	3	4			37
Hamilton	9	8	6	11	5	4	3	5	4	3	2	1	3	64
Hardee	4	5	5	6	3	7	3	3	1	1				38
Hendry	13	19	21	18	7	5	12	22	22	5	5	3	5	157
Hernando	78	93	107	80	57	64	53	42	36	39	27	22	19	717
Highlands	54	83	84	58	41	38	43	36	26	22	12	7	8	512
Hillsborough	475	559	668	543	404	375	386	338	298	297	224	186	156	4909
Holmes	2	5	4	4	1	7	3	3	2	1	1		1	34
Indian River	36	37	39	39	34	16	25	32	29	16	14	5	9	331
Jackson	10	18	16	15	2	10	6	7	9	5	4	6	2	110
Jefferson	4	6	10	8	2	6	3	7	8	3	3	4	1	65
Lafayette				1		1	1		1		1			5

Lake	156	169	224	167	114	113	117	85	91	74	56	49	33	1448
Lee	178	215	218	184	141	125	152	101	101	78	61	64	38	1656
Leon	108	101	100	94	71	58	71	63	55	44	48	36	30	879
Levy	15	15	19	27	16	11	10	19	19	15	9	12	7	194
Liberty		2		1					1		1			5
Madison	10	8	11	6	5	2	3	1	1	3	4	1		55
Manatee	99	119	139	124	75	70	73	62	68	52	49	28	24	982
Marion	155	221	237	203	111	115	114	121	107	88	53	51	45	1621
Martin	42	54	56	47	35	38	18	21	18	9	9	5	5	357
Miami-Dade	1606	2140	2627	1816	979	915	843	743	658	663	603	541	514	14648
Monroe	16	27	24	27	8	13	13	8	7	7	2	1	1	154
Nassau	56	46	45	51	28	29	25	29	11	10	6	5	6	347
Okaloosa	141	138	124	110	58	63	51	57	34	19	11	18	10	834
Okeechobee	19	39	27	17	12	10	10	16	5	3	2		1	161
Orange	746	915	1081	843	492	497	536	409	389	337	242	207	159	6853
Osceola	245	299	395	310	225	169	221	203	181	196	137	131	123	2835
Palm Beach	403	474	584	420	325	337	306	275	257	199	190	148	131	4049
Pasco	143	192	191	183	114	103	104	101	70	63	54	43	26	1387
Pinellas	261	375	414	342	266	205	257	259	272	160	133	118	98	3160
Polk	385	395	443	369	266	259	310	239	235	159	148	108	91	3407
Putnam	25	37	35	46	17	17	20	18	17	9	7	9	5	262
Santa Rosa	114	118	135	79	83	54	57	61	50	31	31	15	10	838
Sarasota	90	115	127	107	63	76	54	57	51	35	25	25	15	840
Seminole	171	188	226	211	145	136	137	105	102	82	54	51	50	1658
St. Johns	97	104	133	91	68	66	49	50	53	32	22	23	16	804
St. Lucie	211	223	258	211	151	121	113	102	76	71	61	48	40	1686
Sumter	9	16	12	14	7	8	3	8	6	4	1	3	4	95
Suwannee	13	27	27	26	17	14	17	15	17	16	14	9	3	215
Taylor	7	16	22	11	7	11	4	7	4	3	4	4	2	102
Union	5	5	3	1	3	5	2	4	1	2	3	2	1	37
Volusia	321	297	385	286	150	162	160	186	138	103	94	59	40	2381
Wakulla	5	7	6	8	3	2	3	3	3	7	3	3	2	55
Walton	24	18	21	12	14	10	14	10	5	2	7	1	3	141
Washington	10	13	10	6	5	2	4	6	5	2	3			66
Grand Total	9020	10880	12676	10040	6425	6068	6104	5523	5014	4153	3418	2886	2393	84600

County		1			4	<u> </u>					10	11	12	Grand Total
, Alachua	105	124	141	112	80	73	90	69	53	40	33	29	16	965
Baker	1	4	4	9	3	5	1	2	2	3	2	2		38
Bay	22	23	28	15	11	13	12	15	9	6	6	3	5	168
Bradford	21	23	18	26	12	15	15	8	13	8	5	5	3	172
Brevard	221	259	302	243	167	155	129	136	111	75	86	46	51	1981
Broward	920	1117	1282	1151	665	623	612	584	536	455	368	342	294	8949
Calhoun	1	1	1						1					4
Charlotte	36	48	38	49	26	23	28	22	23	12	7	9	6	327
Citrus	56	71	81	71	39	41	29	27	22	18	13	7	1	476
Clay	65	78	102	66	46	52	36	42	35	21	24	17	18	602
Collier	58	72	68	81	49	44	42	49	45	29	31	21	24	613
Columbia	34	47	57	39	31	40	33	31	35	24	19	23	10	423
DeSoto	4	10	7	9	7	5	4	8	4	6	4	4	3	75
Dixie	3	5	4	4	3	2	5	5	2	5	1	2	4	45
Duval	636	719	833	640	445	414	433	391	381	329	229	214	157	5821
Escambia	146	184	201	161	115	103	120	107	101	79	65	62	36	1480
Flagler	45	49	77	41	27	31	28	23	29	12	22	8	2	394
Franklin	1	3	2	4		1	1			1	1			14
Gadsden	20	27	37	29	21	25	34	25	23	16	30	22	7	316
Gilchrist	8	9	11	11	9	7	6	3	6	4	3	3	2	82
Glades	1	2	5	4	2	2	3		1			2		22
Gulf	2	5	8		3	2	4	5	1	3	4			37
Hamilton	9	8	6	11	5	4	3	5	4	3	2	1	3	64
Hardee	4	5	5	6	3	7	3	3	1	1				38
Hendry	13	19	21	18	7	5	12	22	22	5	5	3	5	157
Hernando	76	93	107	80	57	63	52	41	35	38	26	21	19	708
Highlands	54	82	84	58	41	38	43	36	26	21	12	7	8	510
Hillsborough	461	552	661	539	398	364	379	333	291	293	222	185	155	4833
Holmes	2	5	4	4	1	7	3	3	2	1	1		1	34
Indian River	36	36	38	38	34	15	25	28	28	13	14	5	9	319
Jackson	10	18	16	15	2	10	6	7	9	5	4	6	2	110
Jefferson	4	5	10	8	2	6	3	7	8	3	3	4		63
Lafayette				1		1	1		1		1			5

Number of Scholarships Funded for the Family Empowerment Scholarship for Educational Options, 2022-23

Lake	155	167	222	166	113	111	115	84	89	74	55	47	33	1431
Lee	174	215	216	184	141	125	152	101	100	77	60	62	37	1644
Leon	107	101	97	93	69	55	70	60	51	44	45	36	30	858
Levy	15	15	19	27	16	11	10	19	19	14	9	12	7	193
Liberty		2		1					1		1			5
Madison	10	8	11	6	5	2	3	1	1	3	4	1		55
Manatee	99	119	137	124	73	67	73	62	67	52	49	28	24	974
Marion	154	221	234	202	111	114	112	121	107	86	53	50	44	1609
Martin	41	53	55	47	35	38	17	21	18	9	9	5	5	353
Miami-Dade	1580	2131	2611	1803	964	905	838	728	642	650	588	529	505	14474
Monroe	16	27	23	27	8	13	13	8	7	7	2	1	1	153
Nassau	53	45	45	51	27	28	25	29	10	10	6	5	6	340
Okaloosa	139	137	124	109	57	62	51	57	33	17	10	18	10	824
Okeechobee	17	39	27	17	12	10	10	16	5	3	2		1	159
Orange	735	906	1072	839	487	489	531	400	384	327	233	201	156	6760
Osceola	240	298	390	307	221	167	219	201	178	190	136	127	122	2796
Palm Beach	395	470	580	414	321	333	298	270	250	194	184	144	128	3981
Pasco	139	189	187	178	107	101	99	99	70	61	52	42	26	1350
Pinellas	252	372	412	339	264	199	253	253	272	154	130	117	94	3111
Polk	378	392	440	361	259	252	302	237	228	155	145	105	91	3345
Putnam	25	37	35	46	17	17	19	18	17	9	7	9	5	261
Santa Rosa	113	117	134	77	83	53	57	61	49	31	30	15	10	830
Sarasota	89	113	126	105	61	76	54	57	50	35	25	25	15	831
Seminole	170	188	225	210	144	134	132	104	101	79	52	50	48	1637
St. Johns	96	102	131	90	67	66	49	50	52	32	22	23	16	796
St. Lucie	205	222	256	211	149	120	113	100	76	70	60	47	40	1669
Sumter	9	16	12	14	7	8	3	8	5	4	1	3	4	94
Suwannee	13	27	27	26	17	14	17	15	17	15	14	9	2	213
Taylor	7	16	22	11	7	11	4	7	4	3	4	4	2	102
Union	5	5	3	1	3	5	2	4	1	2	3	2	1	37
Volusia	319	296	380	280	148	160	157	185	137	100	90	58	39	2349
Wakulla	4	6	6	8	3	2	2	3	3	7	3	3	2	52
Walton	24	18	21	11	14	9	14	10	5	2	6	1	1	136
Washington	10	13	10	6	5	2	4	6	4	2	3			65
Grand Total	8863	10786	12549	9934	6326	5955	6013	5432	4913	4047	3336	2832	2346	83332

			Number of Applicat	ions Received fo	or a Fa	mily Emp	owern	nent Scho	olarshi	ip for S	tudents W	/ith Unic	que Abil	ities 20	22-23			
County	3 year old	4 year old	Pre-Kindergarten	Kindergarten	First	Second	Third	Fourth	Fifth	Sixth	Seventh	Eighth	Ninth	Tenth	Eleventh	Twelfth	Unknown	Total
Alachua	42	59		87	81	97	89	95	101	111	101	103	100	71	54	67	1	1259
Baker	2	1		6	10	6	5	13	6	8	1	9	4	6	3	5		85
Bay	18	16		32	34	31	29	39	42	56	56	44	39	49	26	19		530
Bradford	3	3		6	3	11	12	10	10	12	13	10	10	4	7	1		115
Brevard	122	161		227	254	262	292	318	323	293	340	249	276	219	185	192	1	3714
Broward	442	533		649	617	566	644	592	620	785	663	640	650	537	433	411	8	8790
Calhoun				2	1	2		3	2	1			1		1	1		14
Charlotte	8	17		25	27	19	25	26	24	34	33	16	21	24	18	12		329
Citrus	6	13		28	26	27	31	23	40	39	33	38	18	18	25	24		389
Clay	23	37		56	55	46	81	85	57	108	91	95	97	69	56	55		1011
Collier	39	32		67	66	52	54	77	78	68	84	72	68	56	52	42	1	908
Columbia	3	3		20	20	21	17	20	27	36	45	37	32	30	20	16		347
DeSoto		7		3	5	7	7	8	12	12	11	15	15	8	3	8		121
Dixie	2	3		5	3	4	3	8	5	9	11	7	7	8	7	7		89
Duval	120	169		317	262	300	349	385	451	457	483	505	530	439	381	348	4	5500
Escambia	23	23		50	50	56	73	60	63	100	79	81	92	81	66	49	1	947
Flagler	8	12		35	23	38	28	39	42	37	43	25	36	29	14	23		432
Franklin									1		1		1					3
Gadsden	5	8		6	12	9	8	11	14	9	11	10	11	12	13	3		142
Gilchrist		3		8	7	12	10	4	11	8	6	9	7	13	2	8		108
Glades	2	2		3	2	2	1	2	2		1	1		2	1			21
Gulf		1			2	1	1	1	1							2		9
Hamilton	1	2		2	1	1	5	3	4	6	6	1	2	4	3	2		43
Hardee				2	2	4	2	5	3	3	1	1		2		3		28
Hendry	2			3	4	7	5	7	8	7	4	12	3	6	4	4		76
Hernando	19	41		60	72	81	77	104	87	101	108	85	76	65	68	56	1	1101
Highlands	1	9		18	16	24	27	40	32	30	33	20	10	18	11	11		300
Hillsborough	147	270		372	336	350	419	435	471	502	440	431	405	351	285	259	8	5481
Holmes	1	2			1		3	4		2	3		4	2	1			24
Indian River	9	17		27	24	24	23	32	37	40	32	44	30	33	23	15		410
Jackson	2	1		4	3	3	5	7	6	5	4	2	3		5	3		53
Jefferson	1	1		5	3	1	2	2	2	2	7	6	1	2	5	4		44
Lafayette	1			5	2	2	1	1	1	2	2	1			1	1		20
Lake	61	93		137	127	138	147	160	160	186	177	189	152	143	115	113	1	2099
Lee	69	69		103	112	108	130	134	142	174	146	-						1704
Leon	67	74		97	82	76	100	83	83	87	97	77	81	69	60	66	1	1200
Levy	2	5		11	8	6	17	14	12	16	12	18	16	8	5	8		158
Liberty				3	1	2	1	4	3		3				2			22
Madison				1	2	3		2	2	1	5	2			3			21

Manatee	37	50		105	107	95	106	137	155	153	145	178	126	128	120	106		1748
Marion	39	67		119	108	101	133	116	134	167	114	114	95	69	62	72		1510
Martin	13	26		35	41	43	56	47	52	60	41	41	27	31	22	23		558
Miami-Dade	808	953		1070	928	862	920	878	960	1037	891	923	965	858	665	719	14	13451
Monroe	13	12		17	5	12	14	11	10	8	7	4	12	5	4	3		137
Nassau	6	18		20	15	17	31	20	36	26	26	29	35	16	29	22		346
Okaloosa	24	24		60	49	59	65	87	90	81	69	61	49	42	32	41	1	834
Okeechobee	6	10		8	5	8	6	6	6	7	7	4	2	1	2	2		80
Orange	207	298		460	427	421	472	444	493	612	499	486	469	358	337	340	7	6330
Osceola	67	122		181	141	156	147	176	187	225	198	195	218	176	150	160		2499
Out of State		1					1				1							3
Palm Beach	304	340		458	426	439	473	417	454	582	450	476	491	408	337	292	4	6351
Pasco	69	100		185	152	157	188	226	206	244	226	211	195	215	160	196	2	2732
Pinellas	86	114		220	179	228	266	270	273	339	348	314	275	213	188	181		3494
Polk	96	134	1	233	228	256	319	283	318	423	371	350	285	244	209	206	2	3958
Putnam	2	5		5	10	9	11	14	22	16	19	18	8	11	7	6		163
Santa Rosa	21	18		26	40	45	48	50	47	50	52	40	45	33	30	18	1	564
Sarasota	25	37		63	56	82	98	81	70	100	92	96	91	76	78	92		1137
Seminole	89	124		189	164	208	215	225	233	284	246	249	200	167	158	163	1	2915
St. Johns	32	43		101	118	134	107	103	146	154	123	118	107	84	63	76		1509
St. Lucie	99	97		113	124	109	129	122	114	104	80	91	82	64	56	52	1	1437
Sumter	1	4		13	13	8	20	14	8	18	25	14	16	12	7	11		184
Suwannee	1	8		15	12	7	6	10	18	18	15	27	16	12	14	11		190
Taylor				1	3	1	3	1	5	4	3	2	3	1	1	2		30
Union	2			1	1	4	1	2	2	4	4	2	4	1	1			29
Volusia	41	68		142	127	126	148	164	164	188	177	183	168	143	104	107		2050
Wakulla	5	4		7	8	5	7	15	7	4	13	13	9	9	5	10	1	122
Walton	9	17		24	17	32	29	28	33	23	14	12	13	12	8	14		285
Washington	2	3		2	2	4	5	3	6	2	5	8	2	2	1	2		49
Total	3355	4384	1	6355	5862	6027	6747	6806	7234	8283	7447	7244	6940	5878	4888	4828	63	92342

				Number o	f Students	Awarded a	Family Emp	owerment	Scholarship	for Studer	nts with Uni	que Abiliti	es 2022-23				
County	3 year old	4 year old	Pre-Kinder	Kindergart	First	Second	Third	Fourth	Fifth	Sixth	Seventh	Eighth	Ninth	Tenth	Eleventh	Twelfth	Total
Alachua	25	36		57	60	75	69	78	80	95	85	87	89	62	48	49	995
Baker	1	1		5	8	4	3	10	6	6		8	3	6	3	5	69
Вау	7	10		22	25	23	24	35	36	46	43	39	34	43	25	13	425
Bradford	2	1		5	2	9	11	7	10	11	12	10	9	4	6	1	100
Brevard	76	108		164	196	214	235	261	255	233	279	204	248	198	162	150	2983
Broward	216	335		461	478	439	513	479	489	632	534	528	530	467	390	330	6821
Calhoun				1	1	2			1	1					1	1	8
Charlotte	4	8		16	21	13	19	24	20	26	29	12	18	22	16	4	252
Citrus	3	8		17	21	22	18	16	33	29	26	29	15	17	20	18	292
Clay	10	26		34	47	39	67	70	45	93	79	80	82	57	48	48	825
Collier	19	21		45	50	32	42	58	65	51	71	48	54	42	41	29	668
Columbia	2	2		15	16	15	14	14	22	33	40	34	28	30	19	10	294
DeSoto		5		1	5	7	6	7	10	10	11	15	14	8	2	7	
Dixie	1	2		3	3	3	2	5	4	9	11	7	6	8	7	5	76
Duval	52	114		206	177	221	257	298	358	335	398	412	447	374	346	276	
Escambia	15	9		32	35	37	53	43	53	78	62	68	78	66	59	37	725
Flagler	6	8		20	16	28	23	29	35	31	32	21	30	27	12	20	338
Franklin											1		1				2
Gadsden	3	5		3	12	6	7	7	10	8	7	9	10	8	12	3	110
Gilchrist		1		6	4	10	7	4	8	7	4	7	6	12		6	
Glades	1			3	1	2	1	2	1		1			2			14
Gulf						1		1	1							2	5
Hamilton		2		1	1	1	4	3	4	4	6	1	2	3	2	2	36
Hardee				2	1	4	2	5	2	2	1	1		2		3	25
Hendry				2	3	6	4	6	7	5	1	8	2	6	3	3	
Hernando	11	29		45	62	70	60	87	78	85	88	78	62	57	61	43	916
Highlands	1	7		10	11	22	20	32	25	21	26	16	8	15	10	8	232
Hillsborou	70	184		277	248	262	329	359	378	411	374	361	349	302	254	195	4353
Holmes		2			1		2	4		2	3	1	4	2	1		22
Indian Rive	5	7		19	16	18	13	23	31	29	26	33	25	24	19	11	299
Jackson	1	1		2	3	2	5	7	5	4	1	2	2		5	3	43
Jefferson		1		4	2		1	2	1	2	6	6	1	1	5	3	35
Lafayette	1			4	1	1	1	1		1	2				1	1	14
Lake	34	59		101	103	109	109	132	130	145	149	160	134	137	103	86	1691
Lee	33	38		77	87	84	99	102	119	150	121	106	116	94	69	50	1345
Leon	26	49		75	57	58	73	69	67	71	76	64	71	53	50	48	907
Levy	1	3		8	3	5	13	11	11	15	7	16	15	7	5	8	128
Liberty				2	1	2	1	3	2	2	2				2		17
Madison						2		2	2	1	4				2		13
Manatee	12	41		86	81	77	81	121	144	129	128	156	111	109	112	77	1465

Marion	23	43		86	82	73	100	91	110	139	90	95	80	57	56	55	1180
Martin	7	16		26	27	36	43	40	40	51	37	34	23	28	20	12	440
Miami-Dad	428	655		823	742	711	750	714	785	888	776	781	847	763	597	606	10866
Monroe	7	7		13	4	10	10	9	10	6	5	3	9	4	4	3	104
Nassau	3	10		12	9	15	28	17	28	26	25	26	29	16	25	19	288
Okaloosa	10	18		45	38	50	54	75	81	70	65	52	44	38	30	35	705
Okeechobe	2	6		5	1	8	5	5	6	3	5	3	2	1	2	1	55
Orange	101	191		333	329	314	365	343	387	500	417	401	384	310	293	253	4921
Osceola	35	74		134	120	130	119	140	150	175	159	169	182	160	130	130	2007
Palm Beach	146	205		315	327	353	367	333	358	453	357	373	409	339	289	237	4861
Pasco	33	61		131	116	120	155	186	165	208	197	180	175	194	144	151	2216
Pinellas	44	73		155	135	178	214	216	226	279	302	262	244	187	166	147	2828
Polk	40	76		168	160	202	263	235	247	339	302	289	237	209	183	156	3106
Putnam	1	3		3	5	6	8	9	18	10	12	18	8	9	6	4	120
Santa Rosa	12	13		20	33	32	33	40	31	39	43	32	40	29	28	15	440
Sarasota	14	22		40	42	57	82	64	59	84	73	79	79	70	72	69	906
Seminole	54	80		134	126	167	171	181	185	250	211	215	176	149	138	126	2363
St. Johns	15	33		68	88	105	89	89	125	139	101	95	90	74	57	60	1228
St. Lucie	47	60		79	100	86	106	104	98	93	66	74	64	53	46	40	1116
Sumter		3		12	9	5	17	13	6	14	16	13	10	12	7	8	145
Suwannee	1	5		11	6	6	6	10	16	13	10	23	15	11	13	9	155
Taylor				1	3		3		5	3	3	2	2		1	2	25
Union	1			1		2	1	2	1	4	4	2	3	1	1		23
Volusia	18	37		89	94	102	119	132	137	154	148	154	139	132	94	84	1633
Wakulla	4	4		5	7	4	7	9	6	2	10	9	8	6	4	6	91
Walton	3	8		18	14	19	22	26	24	23	12	10	9	11	8	10	217
Washingto	1	1		2	1	2	2	1	5	2	4	6	2	1	1	2	33
Total	1688	2827	0	4560	4477	4718	5327	5501	5857	6780	6196	6027	5914	5129	4336	3795	73132

				Number o	f Students	Funded by	Family Emp	owerment	Scholarship	for Studen	ts with Uni	que Abilitie	es 2022-23				
County	3 year old	4 year old	Pre-Kinder	Kindergart	First	Second	Third	Fourth	Fifth	Sixth	Seventh	Eighth	Ninth	Tenth	Eleventh	Twelfth	Total
Alachua	24	36		52	56	66	65	71	79	86	77	84	82	61	46	48	933
Baker	1	1		5	8	4	3	10	6	6		8	3	6	3	5	69
Вау	7	10		21	24	22	21	30	34	40	42	37	32	43	25	11	399
Bradford	2	1		5	2	7	10	7	9	11	10	9	8	4	6	1	92
Brevard	74	107		151	186	202	225	250	240	224	263	191	241	188		148	
Broward	203	315		404	428	399	468	451	445	563	507	497	496	442	383	324	6325
Calhoun				1	1	2			1	1					1	1	8
Charlotte	4	7	,	15	21	13	18	23	19	21	29	12	17	22	15	4	240
Citrus	3			17	18		18			29	25			17			
Clay	10	26		32	45	39	62	70	45	87	78	78	78	55	48	48	801
Collier	19	21		43	47	31	35	54	61	42	67	45	52	41	38	28	624
Columbia	2	2		14	16	14	13	12	22	33	39	33	28	29	18	9	284
DeSoto		5		1	5	7	6	7	9	9	11	14	13	8	2	7	104
Dixie	1	1		2	3	3	2	4	4	8	11	7	6	8	6	5	71
Duval	50	104	,	186	158	198	243	275	339	313	388	392	420	358	338	270	4032
Escambia	13	8		31	32	34	46	41	49	78	60	63	75	64	58	35	687
Flagler	6	8		19	15	23	22	28	32	29	29	20	29	27	12	17	316
Franklin											1		1				2
Gadsden	3	4		3	11	5	7	6	10	8	7	7	10	8	12	3	104
Gilchrist		1		5	4	9	7	4	8	7	4	7	6	11		6	-
Glades	1			3	1	2	1	2	1		1			2			14
Gulf						1		1	1							2	5
Hamilton		2		1	1	1	4	3	4	4	6	1	2	3	2	2	36
Hardee				2	1	4	2	5	2	2	1	1		2		3	25
Hendry				2	3	6	4	6	7	5	1	8	2	6	3	3	56
Hernando	11	29		42	58	65	58	81	73	83	84	77	62	54	59	43	879
Highlands	1	6		8	10	21	15	32	23	20	24	14	7	13	10	6	210
Hillsborou	67	173		256	232	250	312	344	356	388	358	344	328	288	248	188	4132
Holmes		2			1		2	4		2	3	1	4	2	1		22
Indian Rive	5	6		18	16	14	13	20	30	28	25	30	22	24	19	11	281
Jackson	1	1		2	3	2	5	7	5	4	1	2	2		5	3	43
Jefferson		1		4	2		1	2	1	2	6	6	1	1	5	3	35
Lafayette	1			4	1	1	1	1		1	2				1	1	14
Lake	31	56		95	95	104	99	127	125	137	146	148	127	129	100	84	1603
Lee	30	38		71	84	80	91	97	116	137	117	102	114	93	68	48	1286
Leon	25	47		70	53	53	71	61	62	61	74	63	65	50	49	45	849
Levy	1	3		8	2	5	13	11	11	15	7	15	14	7	4	8	124
Liberty				2	1	2	1	3	2	2	2				2		17
Madison						2		2	2	1	4				2		13
Manatee	11	41		82	73	68	76	114	134	125	125	149	106	104	109	77	1394

Marion	21	40		78	73	67	96	90	105	131	85	92	72	54	54	52	1110
Martin	7	15		26	26	34	41	38	39	48	36	29	22	27	19	11	418
Miami-Dad	411	633		746	692	676	704	669	721	832	720	739	796	733	582	592	10246
Monroe	7	7		13	4	10	10	9	9	6	5	3	9	4	4	3	103
Nassau	3	7		12	9	15	25	14	28	25	25	24	28	16	23	19	273
Okaloosa	9	17		44	36	48	52	71	80	69	61	51	42	38	30	34	682
Okeechobe	2	6		5	1	8	5	5	6	3	5	3	2	1	2	1	55
Orange	97	177		301	289	297	333	320	359	462	394	378	354	297	283	249	4590
Osceola	33	67		122	110	121	112	130	141	169	152	160	174	155	123	125	1894
Palm Beack	141	195		265	296	320	346	308	339	411	329	340	379	314	276	229	4488
Pasco	30	55		115	107	115	142	176	160	198	186	169	168	193	143	143	2100
Pinellas	43	70		136	129	165	206	195	214	268	293	257	238	185	163	144	2706
Polk	38	73		148	142	186	247	218	238	322	290	270	227	199	181	150	2929
Putnam	1	3		3	5	6	7	9	17	10	11	17	8	8	6	4	115
Santa Rosa	12	13		20	32	30	31	39	29	38	37	32	40	29	27	15	424
Sarasota	14	21		38	42	56	79	64	58	83	73	77	76	69	70	65	885
Seminole	51	76		126	114	161	157	168	177	236	199	207	166	145	135	122	2240
St. Johns	15	31		63	79	99	82	84	115	131	99	89	84	68	54	58	1151
St. Lucie	46	60		71	96	81	100	93	90	89	63	68	58	48	46	39	1048
Sumter		2		12	8	4	16	12	5	14	16	12	10	12	6	8	137
Suwannee		5		11	5	4	6	10	16	12	10	20	15	11	12	9	146
Taylor				1	3		3		2	3	3	2	2		1	2	22
Union	1			1		2	1	1	1	4	4	2	3	1	1		22
Volusia	17	35		80	89	97	115	125	128	141	141	145	132	131	92	80	1548
Wakulla	4	4		3	7	3	7	9	6	2	10	8	8	6	4	5	86
Walton	3	8		16	13	18	20	25	22	22	12	10	9	11	8	10	207
Washingto	1	1		2	1	2	1	1	5	2	4	6	2	1	1	2	32
Total	1614	2691	0	4135	4125	4406	4984	5165	5509	6343	5898	5703	5591	4926	4224	3685	68999

Ν	Number of Applicatio	ns Receive	d for a Readin	g Scholarsh	ip Account 20	022-2023	
County	К	1	2	3	4	5	Grand Total
ALACHUA	32	31	36	66	44	42	251
BAKER	-	4	2	4	2	1	13
BAY	18	21	16	31	34	45	165
BRADFORD	2	4	-	4	3	2	15
BREVARD	41	87	80	136	129	130	603
BROWARD	153	296	255	437	320	280	1,741
CALHOUN	1	2	-	2	1	1	7
CHARLOTTE	11	11	10	20	16	13	81
CITRUS	1	9	9	21	5	7	52
CLAY	60	68	58	53	49	51	339
COLLIER	14	20	22	35	21	28	140
COLUMBIA	9	7	7	9	7	7	46
DADE	197	364	348	609	327	265	2,110
DESOTO	2	2	3	5	-	1	13
DIXIE	1	-	-	-	-	-	1
DUVAL	126	228	237	237	221	174	1,223
ESCAMBIA	11	17	17	44	14	27	130
FLAGLER	9	14	21	22	16	12	94
FRANKLIN	-	-	1	2	1	1	5
GADSDEN	3	4	6	4	4	6	27
GILCHRIST	2	5	7	3	3	5	25
GLADES	-	1	-	-	1	1	3
GULF	-	-	3	3	-	2	8
HAMILTON	-	1	1	-	-	-	2
HARDEE	-	1	2	2	1	3	9
HENDRY	-	2	1	1	2	4	10
HERNANDO	10	23	19	25	30	23	130
HIGHLANDS	12	12	9	10	11	8	62
HILLSBOROUGH	91	157	180	326	212	182	1,148
HOLMES	1	1	2	4	1	1	10
INDIAN RIVER	8	14	9	22	15	17	85
JACKSON	3	3	6	1	-	5	18

JEFFERSON	-	-	1	5	1	1	8
LAFAYETTE	2	-	-	-	-	-	2
LAKE	22	32	39	74	36	31	234
LEE	26	43	39	62	33	46	249
LEON	31	38	46	93	66	58	332
LEVY	3	6	6	5	-	4	24
LIBERTY	-	1	-	1	1	2	5
MADISON	2	3	1	6	1	3	16
MANATEE	14	15	31	57	32	27	176
MARION	90	83	125	223	141	106	768
MARTIN	2	11	12	24	20	17	86
MONROE	3	5	7	13	4	5	37
NASSAU	3	4	7	17	6	12	49
OKALOOSA	6	11	11	24	12	20	84
OKEECHOBEE	2	-	5	4	4	3	18
ORANGE	86	183	179	329	198	177	1,152
OSCEOLA	19	56	55	82	54	67	333
PALM BEACH	69	143	124	211	141	121	809
PASCO	48	75	63	163	136	97	582
PINELLAS	52	72	77	116	98	85	500
POLK	57	108	97	180	100	119	661
PUTNAM	6	11	10	10	4	11	52
SANTA ROSA	13	23	26	40	23	32	157
SARASOTA	16	23	26	40	23	38	166
SEMINOLE	31	63	69	139	71	62	435
ST. JOHNS	11	34	38	82	39	51	255
ST. LUCIE	19	29	38	70	41	41	238
SUMTER	2	3	3	2	1	2	13
SUWANNEE	1	5	8	7	4	3	28
TAYLOR	-	4	1	3	3	3	14
UNION	-	1	1	-	2	5	9
VOLUSIA	27	57	56	94	85	57	376
WAKULLA	3	4	6	6	4	5	28
WALTON	3	9	6	9	9	5	41

WASHINGTON	1	2	4	4	3	4	18
Grand Total	1,488	2,566	2,584	4,333	2,886	2,664	16,521

Nun	nber of Stud	lents Awar	ded a Readi	ng Scholars	hip Accoun	t 2022-202	3
County	К	1	2	3	4	5	Grand Total
ALACHUA	22	24	28	53	37	22	186
BAKER	-	3	1	4	1	1	10
BAY	15	18	10	27	27	39	136
BRADFORD	1	4	-	2	3	2	12
BREVARD	26	71	59	116	103	113	488
BROWARD	93	211	174	338	242	207	1,265
CALHOUN	1	1	-	2	-	-	4
CHARLOTTE	7	9	9	18	10	9	62
CITRUS	-	8	4	11	2	6	31
CLAY	53	59	55	43	42	45	297
COLLIER	9	16	14	32	18	22	111
COLUMBIA	4	5	5	5	7	7	33
DADE	111	247	237	458	230	207	1,490
DESOTO	1	1	2	4	-	1	9
DIXIE	1	-	-	-	-	-	1
DUVAL	93	194	191	185	189	157	1,009
ESCAMBIA	7	9	10	35	9	21	91
FLAGLER	6	9	15	16	13	10	69
FRANKLIN	-	-	1	2	1	1	5
GADSDEN	-	4	5	4	4	4	21
GILCHRIST	2	5	6	3	3	5	24
GLADES	-	1	-	-	1	1	3
GULF	-	-	-	3	-	1	4
HAMILTON	-	1	-	-	-	-	1
HARDEE	-	1	2	2	1	3	9
HENDRY	-	2	1	1	1	3	8
HERNANDO	6	15	16	18	25	20	100
HIGHLANDS	10	9	7	8	8	3	45
HILLSBOROUGH	61	121	123	264	165	124	858
HOLMES	1	1	2	3	-	1	8
INDIAN RIVER	2	9	7	15	8	11	52
JACKSON	-	2	3	1	-	3	9
JEFFERSON	-	-	-	4	-	1	5

LAFAYETTE	2	-	-	-	-	-	2
LAKE	12	24	21	63	28	28	176
LEE	20	37	29	48	27	40	201
LEON	27	28	39	66	57	49	266
LEVY	2	5	6	3	-	4	20
LIBERTY	-	1	-	1	1	2	5
MADISON	2	2	1	4	1	3	13
MANATEE	8	7	23	41	25	20	124
MARION	59	63	91	174	116	75	578
MARTIN	1	8	7	20	18	12	66
MONROE	-	1	5	11	4	3	24
NASSAU	1	1	4	15	4	11	36
OKALOOSA	5	10	10	21	9	14	69
OKEECHOBEE	2	-	4	4	2	1	13
ORANGE	39	145	144	268	157	129	882
OSCEOLA	11	43	34	62	41	48	239
PALM BEACH	38	97	91	153	90	83	552
PASCO	31	53	47	131	117	86	465
PINELLAS	28	54	61	88	81	71	383
POLK	33	79	66	142	74	89	483
PUTNAM	4	8	8	6	4	10	40
SANTA ROSA	11	18	21	30	18	28	126
SARASOTA	13	15	19	33	16	29	125
SEMINOLE	21	47	54	102	59	53	336
ST. JOHNS	7	26	27	59	35	33	187
ST. LUCIE	11	17	25	49	24	26	152
SUMTER	1	2	1	1	1	1	7
SUWANNEE	1	4	6	6	4	2	23
TAYLOR	-	3	1	2	2	3	11
UNION	-	1	-	-	2	2	5
VOLUSIA	18	44	44	70	65	42	283
WAKULLA	1	4	4	6	3	5	23
WALTON	3	9	3	6	6	4	31
WASHINGTON	1	2	2	4	3	3	15
Grand Total	945	1,918	1,885	3,366	2,244	2,059	12,417

County	К	1	2	3	4	5	Grand Total						
ALACHUA	20	20	19	44	31	19	153						
BAKER	-	1	-	3	-	-	4						
BAY	12	16	9	22	24	37	120						
BRADFORD	1	4	-	1	1	2	9						
BREVARD	21	56	51	101	85	97	411						
BROWARD	70	158	114	259	210	169	980						
CALHOUN	1	-	-	1	-	-	2						
CHARLOTTE	6	7	7	15	9	8	52						
CITRUS	-	5	3	9	2	5	24						
CLAY	52	55	52	33	43	43	278						
COLLIER	7	9	9	26	12	18	81						
COLUMBIA	4	4	4	4	6	6	28						
DADE	82	205	204	383	196	168	1,238						
DESOTO	1	-	2	-	-	-	3						
DIXIE	1	-	-	-	-	-	1						
DUVAL	78	165	167	153	173	143	879						
ESCAMBIA	5	7	6	25	7	18	68						
FLAGLER	4	9	13	14	11	5	56						
FRANKLIN	-	-	-	1	1	1	3						
GADSDEN	-	3	5	2	3	4	17						
GILCHRIST	2	4	6	3	3	5	23						
GLADES	-	-	-	-	-	-	-						
GULF	-	-	-	3	-	1	4						
HAMILTON	-	1	-	-	-	-	1						
HARDEE	-	-	2	2	1	2	7						
HENDRY	-	2	1	1	1	3	8						
HERNANDO	5	12	13	17	20	19	86						
HIGHLANDS	7	5	5	4	7	3	31						
HILLSBOROUGH	36	81	85	206	138	99	645						
HOLMES	1	1	2	3	-	1	8						
INDIAN RIVER	1	7	4	13	4	6	35						
JACKSON	-	1	2	1	-	2	6						
JEFFERSON	-	-	-	3	-	1	4						

Grand Total	717	1,474	1,484	2,641	1,864	1,730	9,910
WASHINGTON	1	2	1	3	2	3	12
WALTON	2	4	2	5	6	1	20
WAKULLA	-	2	3	5	3	4	17
VOLUSIA	16	31	38	59	51	33	228
UNION	-	-	-	-	1	2	3
TAYLOR	-	3	1	2	2	3	11
SUWANNEE	1	3	6	6	3	1	20
SUMTER	1	2	1	1	1	1	7
ST. LUCIE	7	11	20	34	16	19	107
ST. JOHNS	4	20	20	37	32	27	140
SEMINOLE	18	29	43	77	52	48	267
SARASOTA	10	11	15	25	12	27	100
SANTA ROSA	8	12	19	25	12	25	101
PUTNAM	4	7	7	4	4	9	35
POLK	20	62	45	115	50	70	362
PINELLAS	21	45	49	65	60	61	301
PASCO	18	39	31	89	93	71	341
PALM BEACH	21	62	68	115	75	71	412
OSCEOLA	9	33	32	42	30	42	188
ORANGE	30	117	118	200	126	95	686
OKEECHOBEE	2		4	4	1	1	12
OKALOOSA	4	5	7	16	8	8	48
NASSAU	_	1	2	8	3	6	20
MONROE		0	4	8	4	2	19
MARTIN	52	52	5	156	103	12	510
MANATEE MARION	4 52	4 52	14 77	29 156	14 103	15 70	80 510
MADISON	2	2	1	4	1	3	13
LIBERTY	-	1	-	-	-	2	3
LEVY	1	3	5	3	-	4	16
LEON	22	27	35	55	49	48	236
LEE	11	23	15	35	22	36	142
LAKE	8	16	11	45	25	25	130
LAFAYETTE	2	-	-	-	-	-	2

				Num	ber of App	lications R	eceived fo	or a Hope	Scholarship	Account 2	022-2023				
County	к		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	Grand Total
ALACHUA			2	4	5	3	4	8	5	4	8	6	3	3	55
BAKER			-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	1
BAY			-	-	1	1	-	-	-	-	1	1	-	1	5
BRADFORD	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
BREVARD	-	-	5	3	7	2	8	10	15	17	13	7	10	6	103
BROWARD		3	15	7	11	8	14	27	28	27	22	12	13	7	194
CALHOUN		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
CHARLOTTE		-	-	1	2	-	-	5	4	3	4	1	-	2	22
CITRUS	-	-	1	1	3	1	2	-	1	4	3	2	-	-	18
CLAY	-	-	-	-	1	2	3	-	2	3	5	-	4	-	20
COLLIER		1	2	2	2	2	5	7	8	8	7	6	4	-	54
COLUMBIA		-	-	-	-	-	-	1	2	3	-	1	-	-	7
DADE		1	4	3	1	3	4	11	12	14	12	6	6	2	79
DESOTO	-		-	-	-	-	2	3	-	1	-	-	-	-	6
DIXIE	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	1
DUVAL		1	3	2	5	2	6	14	10	19	10	14	11	4	101
ESCAMBIA			-	1	1	5	-	5	10	7	2	8	3	-	42
FLAGLER			-	2	2	5	6	8	10	4	3	2	3	4	49
FRANKLIN	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
GADSDEN	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	-	1
GILCHRIST	-	-	-	-	2	-	-	-	-	1	-	1	-	1	5
GLADES			-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	-	1
GULF		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	-	-	1
HAMILTON		-	-	-	-	-	-	2	-	-	-	-	1	-	3
HARDEE	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	1
HENDRY		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	-	1
HERNANDO		-	-	-	3	4	1	6	7	3	3	1	2	-	30
HIGHLANDS		-	1	-	-	-	2	-	-	1	3	-	-	-	7
HILLSBOROUGH		3	4	6	8	12	14	22	35	27	37	22	19	9	218
HOLMES	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
INDIAN RIVER		1	2	2	3	2	3	2	3	2	-	-	-	-	20
JACKSON			-	-	-	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	-	-	1
JEFFERSON			-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	-	1
LAFAYETTE	-		-	-	-	-	1	-	1	1	-	-	-	-	3
LAKE		1	-	2	2	6	3	9	6	8	6	9	4	4	60
LEE	-	-	7	5	5	4	10	11	8	11	4	3	3	-	71

LEON	-	6	1	6	5	11	13	5	14	5	4	1	3	74
LEVY	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	3	-	-	-	3
LIBERTY	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
MADISON	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
MANATEE	1	-	1	5	9	7	8	6	7	5	6	4	1	60
MARION	-	7	6	7	12	17	17	18	15	16	12	7	1	135
MARTIN	-	-	-	1	1	-	4	1	3	1	-	-	1	12
MONROE	-	1	-	-	-	-	-	1	-	-	1	-	-	3
NASSAU	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	-	2	2	-	-	-	5
OKALOOSA	-	1	1	1	4	-	-	7	-	3	-	3	-	20
OKEECHOBEE	-	-	-	-	2	1	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	4
ORANGE	3	18	22	19	20	32	49	36	33	29	32	34	8	335
OSCEOLA	-	1	-	4	3	6	8	5	8	7	6	1	1	50
PALM BEACH	1	13	11	7	7	11	10	11	16	4	9	10	8	118
PASCO	-	3	6	10	8	15	18	18	14	13	17	4	8	134
PINELLAS	-	4	6	16	10	19	25	31	24	12	18	9	6	180
POLK	2	3	5	11	13	16	26	18	18	16	11	10	3	152
PUTNAM	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	-	-	1
SANTA ROSA	-	-	-	1	-	3	-	5	3	7	8	7	2	36
SARASOTA	-	4	3	8	9	8	15	14	14	14	8	3	1	101
SEMINOLE	2	5	3	9	14	11	17	23	20	24	16	10	7	161
ST. JOHNS	2	-	5	7	2	8	7	9	6	5	8	2	1	62
ST. LUCIE	-	1	-	1	-	3	9	11	2	6	-	3	1	37
SUMTER	-	1	-	1	2	1	1	1	3	-	3	-	1	14
SUWANNEE	-	2	1	2	4	5	5	4	8	6	3	2	3	45
TAYLOR	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
UNION	-	-	-	-	1	-	-	1	-	-	1	-	-	3
VOLUSIA	4	7	6	15	12	13	19	38	34	28	15	6	9	206
WAKULLA	-	-	-	-	-	1	1	3	1	1	1	1	1	10
WALTON	-	-	-	2	-	-	2	2	-	-	1	1	-	8
WASHINGTON	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Grand Total	26	123	118	197	200	276	406	438	416	352	282	205	111	3,150

				Numbe	r of Studen	ts Awarded	a Hope Sch	olarship Ad	count 2022	-2023				
County	К	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	Grand Total
ALACHUA	-	2	2 3	4	2	2	6	3	2	5	6	3	3	41
BAKER	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	1
BAY	-	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	-	1	1	-	1	4
BRADFORD	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
BREVARD	-	5	5 1	4	1	3	5	9	11	9	7	7	5	67
BROWARD	2	2	2 4	2	5	11	12	18	14	13	8	10	5	106
CALHOUN	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
CHARLOTTE	-	-	-	1	-	-	4	2	2	3	1	-	2	15
CITRUS	-	1	. 1	2	1	2	-	1	3	3	2	-	-	16
CLAY	-	-	-	-	1	2	-	2	-	4	-	4	-	13
COLLIER	-	2	2	-	1	4	4	3	7	7	5	4	-	39
COLUMBIA	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	1	2	-	1	-	-	5
DADE	1	3	1	-	2	4	4	6	9	7	3	5	2	47
DESOTO	-	-	-	-	-	2	2	-	-	-	-	-	-	4
DIXIE	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	1
DUVAL	1	1	. 2	4	2	3	8	8	11	9	8	7	4	68
ESCAMBIA	-	-	-	-	2	-	4	7	5	2	4	3	-	27
FLAGLER	-	-	2	1	1	3	8	7	3	3	1	3	4	36
FRANKLIN	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
GADSDEN	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	-	1
GILCHRIST	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	-	1	3
GLADES	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
GULF	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	-	-	1
HAMILTON	-	-	-	-	-	-	2	-	-	-	-	1	-	3
HARDEE	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	1
HENDRY	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	-	1
HERNANDO	-	-	-	2	3	1	3	3	3	1	1	1	-	18
HIGHLANDS	-	1		-	-	1	-	-	1	2	-	-	-	5
HILLSBOROUGH	3	4	3	6	8	12	17	25	21	31	18	13	8	169
HOLMES	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
INDIAN RIVER	-	1	. 1	1	-	-	1	2	2	-	-	-	-	8
JACKSON	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	-	-	1
JEFFERSON	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
LAFAYETTE	-	-	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1
LAKE	-	-	1	1	5	3	5	6	5	3	6	2	4	41

LEE	-	5	2	3	2	6	7	3	8	3	1	3	-	43
LEON	-	3	1	5	3	7	10	3	11	2	2	-	-	47
LEVY	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	1
LIBERTY	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
MADISON	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
MANATEE	1	-	1	1	4	4	5	4	4	5	3	4	-	36
MARION	-	6	5	6	8	9	14	16	9	12	10	4	1	100
MARTIN	-	-	-	1	1	-	1	-	1	-	-	-	1	5
MONROE	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	-	-	1
NASSAU	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	1
OKALOOSA	-	-	-	1	3	-	-	3	-	2	-	3	-	12
OKEECHOBEE	-	-	-	-	2	1	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	4
ORANGE	3	10	11	13	13	19	25	21	16	25	25	24	7	212
OSCEOLA	-	-	-	3	2	4	4	1	5	6	3	1	1	30
PALM BEACH	1	7	6	5	2	7	8	5	13	3	8	7	4	76
PASCO	-	2	5	5	6	9	15	11	11	9	14	3	8	98
PINELLAS	-	2	4	8	6	10	8	18	14	7	13	5	4	99
POLK	2	2	2	4	7	8	16	10	13	14	8	6	1	93
PUTNAM	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
SANTA ROSA	-	-	-	1	-	2	-	3	3	4	5	6	2	26
SARASOTA	-	1	1	3	1	3	11	7	8	8	6	2	1	52
SEMINOLE	1	3	2	2	6	7	10	20	12	16	12	8	4	103
ST. JOHNS	1	-	3	4	1	6	6	3	4	5	5	2	1	41
ST. LUCIE	-	-	-	1	-	-	5	9	-	5	-	1	1	22
SUMTER	-	1	-	-	1	-	1	1	3	-	3	-	1	11
SUWANNEE	-	-	1	-	1	2	3	1	3	3	2	2	2	20
TAYLOR	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
UNION	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	-	-	1
VOLUSIA	2	4	3	9	4	8	10	21	21	22	13	4	8	129
WAKULLA	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	3	1	1	1	1	1	9
WALTON	-	-	-	1	-	-	2	2	-	-	-	1	-	6
WASHINGTON	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Grand Total	18	68	68	105	108	166	248	270	263	259	209	150	89	2,021

				Number	of Student	s Funded by	y a Hope Sc	nolarship A	ccount 202	2-2023				
County	К	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	Grand Total
ALACHUA	-	-	1	1	1	2	1	2	1	3	-	-	-	12
BAKER	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
BAY	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
BRADFORD	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
BREVARD	-	-	1	4	-	4	3	3	7	3	-	3	1	29
BROWARD	1	12	2	5	3	2	8	3	11	7	2	3	2	61
CALHOUN	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
CHARLOTTE	-	-	1	-	-	-	-	2	1	1	-	-	-	5
CITRUS	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	1	1	-	-	-	-	3
CLAY	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	2
COLLIER	1	-	-	1	1	1	2	4	-	-	1	-	-	11
COLUMBIA	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	-	-	1
DADE	-	1	2	-	1	-	2	2	2	3	3	1	-	17
DESOTO	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	-	-	-	1
DIXIE	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
DUVAL	1	2	-	2	-	3	3	4	5	1	5	4	-	30
ESCAMBIA	-	-	1	-	2	-	-	2	2	-	4	-	-	11
FLAGLER	-	-	-	1	2	2	-	3	1	-	1	-	-	10
FRANKLIN	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
GADSDEN	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
GILCHRIST	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	-	2
GLADES	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
GULF	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
HAMILTON	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
HARDEE	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
HENDRY	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
HERNANDO	-	-	-	1	-	-	3	2	-	2	-	-	-	8
HIGHLANDS	-	-	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	2
HILLSBOROUGH	-	-	3	2	4	2	5	5	6	6	4	6	1	44
HOLMES	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
INDIAN RIVER	1	1	1	2	2	3	1	1	-	-	-	-	-	12
JACKSON	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
JEFFERSON	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
LAFAYETTE	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	-	-	1
LAKE	-	-	-	1	1	-	3	-	3	2	3	2	-	15

LEE	-	2	2	2	2	2	4	5	3	1	2	-	-	25
LEON	-	4	-	1	2	4	5	2	3	2	2	1	3	29
LEVY	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	2	-	-	-	2
LIBERTY	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
MADISON	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
MANATEE	-	-	1	-	3	4	1	1	3	-	3	1	-	17
MARION	-	2	-	-	3	8	2	2	4	4	2	3	-	30
MARTIN	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	1	1	-	-	-	3
MONROE	-	1	-	-	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	-	-	2
NASSAU	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	-	-	1	-	-	-	2
OKALOOSA	-	1	1	-	-	-	-	3	-	1	-	-	-	6
OKEECHOBEE	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
ORANGE	-	3	9	7	4	7	9	12	11	3	5	7	-	77
OSCEOLA	-	-	-	1	1	1	2	4	2	-	1	-	-	12
PALM BEACH	-	6	5	2	4	3	2	3	2	1	1	3	4	36
PASCO	-	-	1	3	2	4	4	5	1	4	3	1	-	28
PINELLAS	-	1	2	7	4	6	9	11	10	4	5	4	2	65
POLK	-	2	3	4	7	7	7	6	5	2	2	4	2	51
PUTNAM	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	-	-	I	-	-	1
SANTA ROSA	-	-	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	3	3	1	-	8
SARASOTA	-	3	2	5	6	5	5	7	4	6	2	-	-	45
SEMINOLE	1	2	1	7	5	2	5	5	8	7	3	1	2	49
ST. JOHNS	-	-	2	3	1	1	1	7	1	-	3	-	-	19
ST. LUCIE	-	1	-	1	-	2	2	1	1	1	-	2	-	11
SUMTER	-	-	-	1	1	1	-	-	1	-	-	-	-	4
SUWANNEE	-	1	-	1	2	2	2	2	5	3	1	-	1	20
TAYLOR	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
UNION	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	-	-	1
VOLUSIA	-	2	3	7	6	5	6	15	12	7	1	2	1	67
WAKULLA	-	-	-	-	-	1	-	1	-	-	-	-	-	2
WALTON	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
WASHINGTON	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Grand Total	5	47	44	75	70	86	99	132	118	83	62	49	19	889

#### Step Up For Students Florida, Inc. SCHOLARSHIP CASH FLOW 2024 Plan

Scholarship cash flow is also projected during the planning process. During the 2023 - 2024 school year, Step Up For Students Florida, Inc. will serve approximately 118,995 students between the FTC and Hope programs. To determine the amount of total scholarship payments for the year, Step Up For Students Florida, Inc. balances the desire to maximize scholarship payments with the uncertainty associated with estimating the actual number of students that will take advantage of their scholarship payments and the need to reserve enough funds to make the following year's first scholarship payment. As a safeguard to ensure sufficient scholarship cash is available, Step Up For Students Florida, Inc. maintains a \$60 million line of credit which can be used to bridge any gap between scholarship commitments and available funds.

	Jul-23	Aug-23	Sep-23	Oct-23	Nov-23	Dec-23	Jan-24	Feb-24	Mar-24	Apr-24	May-24	Jun-24	2024 Total
Opening Cash & Cash Equivalents	\$393,823	\$503,286	\$535,011	\$432,609	\$505,170	\$344,301	\$389,278	\$453,254	\$293,850	\$311,533	\$156,473	\$170,426	\$393,823
Gross Donations	43,403	44,034	96,573	79,833	52,870	82,603	70,657	63,064	51,670	66,342	34,265	19,686	705,000
Admin Allowance	(6,609)	(6,609)	(6,609)	(6,609)	(6,609)	(6,609)	(6,609)	(6,609)	(6,609)	(6,609)	(6,609)	(6,609)	(79,309)
Hope Transfer	73,971												73,971
Net Donations	110,765	37,425	89,964	73,224	46,261	75,994	64,048	56,455	45,060	59,733	27,655	13,077	699,662
Scholarship Payments	(1,303)	(5,700)	(198,069)	(664)	(212,833)	(31,018)	(71)	(221,564)	(27,377)	(220,497)	(13,702)	(4,266)	(937,063)
Payments Received from Schools													-
Line of Credit													-
Balance at end of month	\$503,286	\$535,011	\$426,906	\$505,170	\$338,597	\$389,278	\$453,254	\$288,146	\$311,533	\$150,769	\$170,426	\$179,238	\$156,423

# Step Up For Students

# **Detailed Accounting of Administrative Funds**

A detailed accounting of how Step Up For Students spent its administrative funds begins on page 5 of the Audited Financial Statements included in the application. A copy of the audited schedule follows. This Functional Expense Schedule is a detailed accounting which includes the expenditure from scholarship application and service fees.

## Step Up For Students, Inc. and Subsidiaries

## Consolidated Statement of Functional Expenses Year Ended June 30, 2022 (With Summarized Comparative Information for June 30, 2021)

							2	022						
							Progran	ו Ser	vices					
	Florida	Fan	nily				Alabama	Po	icy, Strategic					
	Tax Credit	Empow	/erment		Норе	-	Tax Credit	Cor	nmunications,		Reading	Sc	holarship	Total
	Scholarship	Schola	arship	S	cholarship	S	cho <b>l</b> arship	Leg	islative Affairs	Sc	cholarship		Service	Program
	Program	Prog	gram		Program		Program	aı	nd Advocacy		Program	(	Contract	Services
Scholarships and grants	\$ 567,678,143	\$	-	\$	4,307,167	\$	_	\$	_	\$	-	\$	_	\$ 571,985,310
Salaries and wages	5,068,235	4.3	57,950	•	198,938	·	-	•	2,053,803	•	234,830	•	42,850	11,956,606
Payroll taxes and employee benefits	1,549,527	,	29,168		58,341		-		535,277		83,329		13,296	3,568,938
Contract services	1,611,391	1,7	96,435		30,043		20,200		489,090		26,259		215,511	4,188,929
Contributions	-	,	-		-		4,328,358		· -		· -		-	4,328,358
Telephone	588,946	1,2	03,765		67,231		152		60		86,071		29,443	1,975,668
Recruiting and advertising	793,500	6	39,898		5,313		-		44,204		52,996		986	1,536,897
Software licenses, fees and subscriptions	701,049	5	41,972		12,472		1,254		98,090		16,946		20,339	1,392,122
Depreciation and amortization	809,936	2	11,858		13,557		8,728		-		19,908		1,231	1,065,218
Repairs and maintenance	587,332	1	53,631		9,831		-		-		14,437		40,037	805,268
Other costs	94,359	1	74,423		11,437		-		8,762		12,197		3,297	304,475
Rent	393,690	1	02,979		6,590		-		-		9,677		-	512,936
Professional fees	6,789		1,775		114		-		31,800		167		44,758	85,403
Insurance	253,945		66,425		4,251		327		-		6,242		-	331,190
Travel, lodging and meals	41,958	:	37,063		3,702		-		35,685		1,753		572	120,733
Bank charges and fees	104,262		44,059		27,484		1,288		4,766		5,480		-	187,339
Provision for doubtful accounts (recovery)	143,723		-		-		-		-		-		-	143,723
Printing and postage	62,672	;	36,440		1,525		-		32,821		3,256		-	136,714
Office expenses	39,179		14,683		608		-		5,576		1,002		-	61,048
Total	\$ 580,528,636	\$ 10,7	12,524	\$	4,758,604	\$	4,360,307	\$	3,339,934	\$	574,550	\$	412,320	\$ 604,686,875

(Continued)

# Step Up For Students, Inc. and Subsidiaries

# Consolidated Statement of Functional Expenses (Continued) Year Ended June 30, 2022 (With Summarized Comparative Information for June 30, 2021)

				2	022					
			Ś	Supporting Services					-	
		General		Development		Total	-			Total
		and		and		Supporting		Total		2021
	Ad	ministrative		Fundraising		Services		Expenses		Expenses
Scholarships and grants	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	571,985,310	\$	669,885,343
Salaries and wages		5,120,951		868,362		5,989,313		17,945,919		16,230,191
Payroll taxes and employee benefits		1,249,545		234,571		1,484,116		5,053,054		3,999,651
Contract services		395,076		-		395,076		4,584,005		2,326,957
Contributions		-		-		-		4,328,358		-
Telephone		310		75		385		1,976,053		1,496,279
Recruiting and advertising		32,670		12,821		45,491		1,582,388		827,609
Software licenses, fees and subscriptions		72,614		40,799		113,413		1,505,535		1,117,150
Depreciation and amortization		-		-		-		1,065,218		934,319
Repairs and maintenance		39,774		-		39,774		845,042		252,540
Other costs		149,466		116,266		265,732		570,207		591,990
Rent		5,486		-		5,486		518,422		1,030,307
Professional fees		270,958		-		270,958		356,361		485,315
Insurance		3,234		-		3,234		334,424		289,586
Travel, lodging and meals		79,377		45,642		125,019		245,752		104,983
Bank charges and fees		40,384		-		40,384		227,723		186,676
Provision for doubtful accounts (recovery)		59,385		-		59,385		203,108		(91,632)
Printing and postage		9,987		22,728		32,715		169,429		92,396
Office expenses		12,041		6,902		18,943		79,991		89,943
Total	\$	7,541,258	\$	1,348,166	\$	8,889,424	\$	613,576,299	\$	699,849,603

See notes to consolidated financial statements.



THE POWER OF BEING UNDERSTOOD AUDIT | TAX | CONSULTING



NOVEMBER 13, 2023

STEP UP FOR STUDENTS - FLORIDA, INC. 4655 SALISBURY ROAD 400 JACKSONVILLE, FL 32256

STEP UP FOR STUDENTS - FLORIDA, INC.:

ENCLOSED ARE THE ORIGINAL AND ONE COPY OF THE 2022 EXEMPT ORGANIZATION RETURN, AS FOLLOWS...

2022 FORM 990

WE PREPARED THE RETURNS FROM THE INFORMATION FURNISHED BY YOU. PLEASE REVIEW BEFORE FILING TO ENSURE THERE ARE NO OMMISSIONS OR MISSTATEMENTS OF MATERIAL FACTS. PLEASE NOTE THAT UPON EXAMINATION OF THE RETURNS BY TAXING AUTHORITIES, REQUESTS MAY BE MADE FOR UNDERLYING DATA. WE THEREFORE RECOMMEND THAT YOU PRESERVE ALL RECORDS WHICH YOU MAY BE CALLED UPON TO PRODUCE IN CONNECTION WITH SUCH AN EXAMINATION.

EACH ORIGINAL SHOULD BE DATED, SIGNED AND FILED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE FILING INSTRUCTIONS. THE COPY SHOULD BE RETAINED FOR YOUR FILES.

WE SINCERELY APPRECIATE THE OPPORTUNITY TO SERVE YOU. PLEASE CONTACT US IF YOU HAVE ANY QUESTIONS CONCERNING THE TAX RETURN.

REGARDS,

JULIANA KREUL

# TAX RETURN FILING INSTRUCTIONS

FORM 990

# FOR THE YEAR ENDING

JUNE 30, 2023

### PREPARED FOR:

STEP UP FOR STUDENTS - FLORIDA, INC. 4655 SALISBURY ROAD 400 JACKSONVILLE, FL 32256

# PREPARED BY:

RSM US LLP 7351 OFFICE PARK PLACE MELBOURNE, FL 32940-8229

# AMOUNT DUE OR REFUND:

NOT APPLICABLE

#### MAKE CHECK PAYABLE TO:

NOT APPLICABLE

# MAIL TAX RETURN AND CHECK (IF APPLICABLE) TO:

NOT APPLICABLE

# **RETURN MUST BE MAILED ON OR BEFORE:**

NOT APPLICABLE

# SPECIAL INSTRUCTIONS:

THIS COPY OF THE RETURN IS PROVIDED ONLY FOR PUBLIC DISCLOSURE PURPOSES. ANY CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION REGARDING LARGE DONORS HAS BEEN REMOVED. STEP UP FOR STUDENTS - FLORIDA, INC. 4655 SALISBURY ROAD, 400 JACKSONVILLE, FL 32256

# DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE CENTER OGDEN, UT 84201-0027

HalalahdhllaanHlladhaadhladhlad

			** PUBLIC DISCLOSURE COPY *		OMB No. 1545-0047	
	0		Return of Organization Exempt From	i income rax		
Forr	n J	90	Under section 501(c), 527, or 4947(a)(1) of the Internal Revenue Code (			
Depa	rtment	of the Treasury	Do not enter social security numbers on this form as it may	•	Open to Public	
Department of measury         Go to www.irs.gov/Form990 for instructions and the latest information.           A For the 2022 calendar year, or tax year beginning         JUL 1, 2022         and ending         JUN 30, 2023					Inspection	
_				,		
	heck if pplicat	ble: C Name of	forganization	D Employer identific	ation number	
	Addr	ess SULTE	UP FOR STUDENTS - FLORIDA, INC.			
	_chan	e	usiness as	59-36493	71	
	chan Initial	ĭ	and street (or P.O. box if mail is not delivered to street address) Room/s			
	_returi Final	1655	SALISBURY ROAD 400	904-352-2		
	⊥returi termi ated	n	own, state or province, country, and ZIP or foreign postal code	G Gross receipts \$	913,033,619.	
	Amer	nded TACK	SONVILLE, FL 32256	H(a) Is this a group re		
	Appli		nd address of principal officer: JOE PFOUNTZ	for subordinates'		
	pend		AS C ABOVE	H(b) Are all subordinates in		
ΙT	ax-e>	empt status:	X 501(c)(3) 501(c) ( ) (insert no.) 4947(a)(1) or		list. See instructions	
JV	Vebs	ite: WWW.	STEPUPFORSTUDENTS.ORG	H(c) Group exemptior	n number	
ΚF	orm o	of organization:	X Corporation Trust Association Other L	/ear of formation: 2000 N	I State of legal domicile: ${f FL}$	
Pa	art I	Summary				
đ	1	Briefly describ	be the organization's mission or most significant activities: STEP UP	FOR STUDENTS E	MPOWERS	
Governance		FAMILIE	S TO PURSUE AND ENGAGE IN THE MOST APP	ROPRIATE LEAR	NING	
erne	2	Check this bo	x if the organization discontinued its operations or disposed of m	nore than 25% of its net ass	ets. 10	
0 Vē	3					
	4		lependent voting members of the governing body (Part VI, line 1b)		10	
ies	5		of individuals employed in calendar year 2022 (Part V, line 2a)		182	
Activities &	6		of volunteers (estimate if necessary)		356	
Act			d business revenue from Part VIII, column (C), line 12		0.	
		Net unrelated	business taxable income from Form 990-T, Part I, line 11	Prior Year	Current Year	
	8	Contributions	and grants (Part VIII, line 1h)	821,353,700.	896,372,611.	
anu	9			0.	0.	
Revenue	10	•	ce revenue (Part VIII, line 2g) come (Part VIII, column (A), lines 3, 4, and 7d)	457,345.	16,661,008.	
Re	11		e (Part VIII, column (A), lines 5, 6d, 8c, 9c, 10c, and 11e)	59,161.	0.	
	12		- add lines 8 through 11 (must equal Part VIII, column (A), line 12)	821,870,206.	913,033,619.	
	13		milar amounts paid (Part IX, column (A), lines 1-3)	571,985,310.	701,246,384.	
	14	Benefits paid	to or for members (Part IX, column (A), line 4)	0.	0.	
ŝ	15	Salaries, othe	r compensation, employee benefits (Part IX, column (A), lines 5-10)	22,563,348.	25,311,886.	
Expenses	16a	Professional f	undraising fees (Part IX, column (A), line 11e)	0.	0.	
xpe	b	Total fundrais	ing expenses (Part IX, column (D), line 25) 1,821,891.			
Û	17	Other expense	es (Part IX, column (A), lines 11a-11d, 11f-24e)	18,441,526.	28,738,930.	
	18	Total expense	s. Add lines 13-17 (must equal Part IX, column (A), line 25)	612,990,184.	755,297,200.	
	19	Revenue less	expenses. Subtract line 18 from line 12	208,880,022.	157,736,419.	
t Assets or d Balances				Beginning of Current Year	End of Year	
sset 3ala	20	Total assets (F		1207920053.	1519328624.	
et A ind F	1		(Part X, line 26)	232,935,432. 974,984,621.	<u>386,607,584.</u> 1132721040.	
	art II		fund balances. Subtract line 21 from line 20	J/4,J04,041•	1134/41040.	
			I declare that I have examined this return, including accompanying schedules and sta	temente and to the heet of my	knowledge and belief it is	
			. Declaration of preparer (other than officer) is based on all information of which prep		הווטשובטעב מווט שבוובו, וג 3	
<u>u ue</u> ,	LOILE		. ביטמומנוטה טר אודפאמיפו (טנוופו נוומו טווונפו) וא שמצפע טון מו ווווטרוומנוטה טר אווונרו אופא	מוטו וומס מווץ אווטשופטער.		
Sigr	<b>n</b>	Signature of of	fficer	Date		
Jigi	•					

Here	UOE PFOUNTZ, CFO								
	Type or print name and title								
	Print/Type preparer's name	Preparer's signature	Date	Check	PTIN				
Paid	JULIANA KREUL			/23 self-employ					
Preparer	Firm's name <b>RSM US LLP</b>			Firm's EIN 4	2-0714325				
Use Only	Firm's address 7351 OFFICE PARK	PLACE							
	MELBOURNE, FL 329	40-8229		Phone no. 32	1-751-6200				
May the IRS discuss this return with the preparer shown above? See instructions									
232001 12-1	23200112-13-22LHAFor Paperwork Reduction Act Notice, see the separate instructions.Form 990 (2022)								

I2-13-22 LHA For Paperwork Reduction Act Notice, see the separate instructions. SEE SCHEDULE O FOR ORGANIZATION MISSION STATEMENT CONTINUATION

Form	1990 (2022) STEP UP FOR STUDENTS - FLORIDA, INC. 59-3	649371	Page <b>2</b>			
Pa	rt III Statement of Program Service Accomplishments					
	Check if Schedule O contains a response or note to any line in this Part III		Χ			
1	Briefly describe the organization's mission:					
	STEP UP FOR STUDENTS EMPOWERS FAMILIES TO PURSUE AND ENGAGE I	N THE				
	MOST APPROPRIATE LEARNING OPTIONS FOR THEIR CHILDREN, WITH AN	EMPHAS	IS			
	ON FAMILIES WHO LACK THE INFORMATION AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES	TO ACCE	SS			
	THESE OPTIONS. BY PURSUING THIS MISSION, WE HELP PUBLIC EDUC	ATION				
2	Did the organization undertake any significant program services during the year which were not listed on the					
	prior Form 990 or 990-EZ?	Yes	XNo			
	If "Yes," describe these new services on Schedule O.					
3	Did the organization cease conducting, or make significant changes in how it conducts, any program services?	Yes	XNo			
	If "Yes," describe these changes on Schedule O.					
4	Describe the organization's program service accomplishments for each of its three largest program services, as measured	by expenses.				
	Section 501(c)(3) and 501(c)(4) organizations are required to report the amount of grants and allocations to others, the tota	al expenses, ar	nd			
	revenue, if any, for each program service reported.					
4a	(Code:) (Expenses \$ 717, 171, 898. including grants of \$ 695, 626, 649. ) (Revenue \$		)			
	FLORIDA TAX CREDIT SCHOLARSHIP PROGRAM: IN THE 2022-23 SCHOOL	YEAR,				
	100,198 UNDERPRIVILEGED STUDENTS ATTENDED 2,090 PRIVATE SCHOO	LS ON A				
	STEP UP FOR STUDENTS' TAX CREDIT SCHOLARSHIP. THE K-12 SCHOLA	RSHIP				
	PROGRAM WAS CREATED IN 2001 TO HELP ALLEVIATE THE ENORMOUS ED	UCATION	AL			
	CHALLENGES FACED BY CHILDREN WHO LIVE IN POVERTY, AND IT IS N	OW THE				
	LARGEST SUCH SCHOLARSHIP IN THE NATION. QUALIFIED STUDENTS CO	ULD				
	RECEIVE UP TO A MAXIMUM SCHOLARSHIP OF \$10,373, DEPENDING ON	GRADE				
	LEVEL AND COUNTY RESIDENCE, FOR PRIVATE SCHOOL TUITION AND FE	ES OR U	P			
	TO \$750 IN TRANSPORTATION COSTS TO ATTEND AN OUT-OF-DISTRICT	PUBLIC				
	SCHOOL.					
4b	(Code:) (Expenses \$15,812,721. including grants of \$) (Revenue \$)		)			
	THE FAMILY EMPOWERMENT SCHOLARSHIP PROGRAM WAS ESTABLISHED IN		0			
	PROVIDE CHILDREN AND FAMILIES IN THE STATE OF FLORIDA WHICH H					
	LIMITED RESOURCES WITH EDUCATIONAL OPTIONS TO ACHIEVE SUCCESS		IR			
	EDUCATION. THE FAMILY EMPOWERMENT SCHOLARSHIP WAS EXPANDED IN					
	BRANCHES: FAMILY EMPOWERMENT SCHOLARSHIP FOR EDUCATIONAL OPTI					
	FOR STUDENTS WITH UNIQUE ABILITIES (FORMALLY KNOWN AS GARDINE	<u>R</u>				
	SCHOLARSHIP).					
	FAMILY EMPOWERMENT SCHOLARSHIP EDUCATIONAL OPTIONS: THIS SCHO		15			
	INTENDED TO HELP REDUCE THE WAIT LIST FOR THE TAX CREDIT SCHO	LARSHIP				
	PROGRAM AND SIMILARILY SERVES STUDENTS FROM LOW-INCOME AND	3000017				
	WORKING-CLASS HOUSEHOLDS. STEP UP FOR STUDENTS-FLORIDA, AS AN	APPROV	<u>ed</u>			
4c	(Code: ) (Expenses 6,134,780. including grants of 5,619,735.) (Revenue \$	משבים מייי	) uff			
	HOPE SCHOLARSHIP PROGRAM: STEP UP FOR STUDENTS-FLORIDA ADMINI HOPE SCHOLARSHIP, WHICH WAS CREATED IN 2018 TO PROVIDE THE OP					
	PRIVATE SCHOOL SCHOLARSHIPS TO STUDENTS IN PUBLIC SCHOOLS WHO					
	EXPERIENCED ACTS OF BULLYING AND INTIMIDATION. THE SCHOLARSH FINANCED BY CONTRIBUTIONS FROM AUTOMOBILE BUYERS, WHO ARE ALL					
	THE LAW TO REDIRECT UP TO \$105 OF THEIR STATE TAXES ON EACH P					
	•		•			
	THOSE CONTRIBUTIONS ARE USED TO PROVIDE TUITION SCHOLARSHIPS					
	PARTICIPATING PRIVATE SCHOOLS FOR A MAXIMUM SCHOLARSHIP OF \$1					
	DEPENDING ON GRADE LEVEL AND COUNTY RESIDENCE, OR A \$750 TRAN					
	SCHOLARSHIP TO A ATTEND AN OUT-OF-DISTRICT PUBLIC SCHOOL. THE					
	SCHOLARSHIP BEGAN IN 2018 AND SERVED 871 STUDENTS DURING THE					
	SCHOOL YEAR. ANY UNUSED FUNDS IN THE HOPE SCHOLARSHIP PROGRAM	CAN BE				
4d	Other program services (Describe on Schedule O.)					
	(Expenses \$ 6,374,412. including grants of \$ ) (Revenue \$	)				
4e	Total program service expenses 745, 493, 811.		00 (			

Form	000	(2022)
Form	990	(2022)

			Yes	No
1	Is the organization described in section 501(c)(3) or 4947(a)(1) (other than a private foundation)?			
	If "Yes," complete Schedule A	1	X	
2	Is the organization required to complete Schedule B, Schedule of Contributors? See instructions	2	Х	
3	Did the organization engage in direct or indirect political campaign activities on behalf of or in opposition to candidates for			
	public office? If "Yes," complete Schedule C, Part I	3		X
4	Section 501(c)(3) organizations. Did the organization engage in lobbying activities, or have a section 501(h) election in effect			
	during the tax year? If "Yes," complete Schedule C, Part II	4	X	
5	Is the organization a section 501(c)(4), 501(c)(5), or 501(c)(6) organization that receives membership dues, assessments, or			
	similar amounts as defined in Rev. Proc. 98-19? If "Yes," complete Schedule C, Part III	5		X
6	Did the organization maintain any donor advised funds or any similar funds or accounts for which donors have the right to			
	provide advice on the distribution or investment of amounts in such funds or accounts? If "Yes," complete Schedule D, Part I	6		<u> </u>
7	Did the organization receive or hold a conservation easement, including easements to preserve open space,			
	the environment, historic land areas, or historic structures? If "Yes," complete Schedule D, Part II	7		<u> </u>
8	Did the organization maintain collections of works of art, historical treasures, or other similar assets? If "Yes," complete			
	Schedule D, Part III	8		X
9	Did the organization report an amount in Part X, line 21, for escrow or custodial account liability, serve as a custodian for			
	amounts not listed in Part X; or provide credit counseling, debt management, credit repair, or debt negotiation services?			
	If "Yes," complete Schedule D, Part IV	9	X	
10	Did the organization, directly or through a related organization, hold assets in donor-restricted endowments			
	or in quasi endowments? If "Yes," complete Schedule D, Part V	10		X
11	If the organization's answer to any of the following questions is "Yes," then complete Schedule D, Parts VI, VII, VII, IX, or X,			
	as applicable.			
а	Did the organization report an amount for land, buildings, and equipment in Part X, line 10? If "Yes," complete Schedule D,			
	Part VI	11a	X	
b	Did the organization report an amount for investments - other securities in Part X, line 12, that is 5% or more of its total			
	assets reported in Part X, line 16? If "Yes," complete Schedule D, Part VII	11b		_X_
С	Did the organization report an amount for investments - program related in Part X, line 13, that is 5% or more of its total			
	assets reported in Part X, line 16? If "Yes," complete Schedule D, Part VIII	11c		X
d	Did the organization report an amount for other assets in Part X, line 15, that is 5% or more of its total assets reported in			
	Part X, line 16? If "Yes," complete Schedule D, Part IX	11d	Х	
е	Did the organization report an amount for other liabilities in Part X, line 25? If "Yes," complete Schedule D, Part X	11e		X
f	Did the organization's separate or consolidated financial statements for the tax year include a footnote that addresses			
	the organization's liability for uncertain tax positions under FIN 48 (ASC 740)? If "Yes," complete Schedule D, Part X	11f	X	<u> </u>
12a	Did the organization obtain separate, independent audited financial statements for the tax year? If "Yes," complete			
	Schedule D, Parts XI and XII	12a		<u> </u>
b	Was the organization included in consolidated, independent audited financial statements for the tax year?			
	If "Yes," and if the organization answered "No" to line 12a, then completing Schedule D, Parts XI and XII is optional	12b	X	
13	Is the organization a school described in section 170(b)(1)(A)(ii)? If "Yes," complete Schedule E	13		X
14a	Did the organization maintain an office, employees, or agents outside of the United States?	14a		X
b	Did the organization have aggregate revenues or expenses of more than \$10,000 from grantmaking, fundraising, business,			
	investment, and program service activities outside the United States, or aggregate foreign investments valued at \$100,000			
	or more? If "Yes," complete Schedule F, Parts I and IV	14b		<u> </u>
15	Did the organization report on Part IX, column (A), line 3, more than \$5,000 of grants or other assistance to or for any			
	foreign organization? If "Yes," complete Schedule F, Parts II and IV	15		<u> </u>
16	Did the organization report on Part IX, column (A), line 3, more than \$5,000 of aggregate grants or other assistance to			
	or for foreign individuals? If "Yes," complete Schedule F, Parts III and IV	16		X
17	Did the organization report a total of more than \$15,000 of expenses for professional fundraising services on Part IX,			
	column (A), lines 6 and 11e? If "Yes," complete Schedule G, Part I. See instructions	17		<u> </u>
18	Did the organization report more than \$15,000 total of fundraising event gross income and contributions on Part VIII, lines			
	1c and 8a? If "Yes," complete Schedule G, Part II	18		<u> </u>
19	Did the organization report more than \$15,000 of gross income from gaming activities on Part VIII, line 9a? If "Yes,"			
	complete Schedule G, Part III	19		X
20a	Did the organization operate one or more hospital facilities? If "Yes," complete Schedule H	20a		X
b	If "Yes" to line 20a, did the organization attach a copy of its audited financial statements to this return?	20b		
21	Did the organization report more than \$5,000 of grants or other assistance to any domestic organization or			
	domestic government on Part IX, column (A), line 1? <i>If</i> "Yes," <i>complete Schedule I, Parts I and II</i>	21		Х

Form	990	(2022)
	330	

				Yes	No
22	Did the organization report more than \$5,000 of grants or other assistance to or for domestic individual	als on			
	Part IX, column (A), line 2? If "Yes," complete Schedule I, Parts I and III		22	Х	
23	Did the organization answer "Yes" to Part VII, Section A, line 3, 4, or 5, about compensation of the organization of the organization of the organization answer "Yes" to Part VII, Section A, line 3, 4, or 5, about compensation of the organization	ganization's current			
	and former officers, directors, trustees, key employees, and highest compensated employees? If "Ye	es," complete			
	Schedule J		23	Х	
24a	Did the organization have a tax-exempt bond issue with an outstanding principal amount of more than	n \$100,000 as of the			
	last day of the year, that was issued after December 31, 2002? If "Yes," answer lines 24b through 24c	d and complete			
	Schedule K. If "No," go to line 25a		24a		X
b	Did the organization invest any proceeds of tax-exempt bonds beyond a temporary period exception?		24b		
с	Did the organization maintain an escrow account other than a refunding escrow at any time during the	e year to defease			
	any tax-exempt bonds?		24c		
d	Did the organization act as an "on behalf of" issuer for bonds outstanding at any time during the year'	?	24d		
25a	Section 501(c)(3), 501(c)(4), and 501(c)(29) organizations. Did the organization engage in an excess	s benefit			
	transaction with a disqualified person during the year? If "Yes," complete Schedule L, Part I		25a		X
b	Is the organization aware that it engaged in an excess benefit transaction with a disqualified person in	a prior year, and			
	that the transaction has not been reported on any of the organization's prior Forms 990 or 990-EZ?	f "Yes," complete			
	Schedule L, Part I	· · ·	25b		X
26	Did the organization report any amount on Part X, line 5 or 22, for receivables from or payables to any				
	or former officer, director, trustee, key employee, creator or founder, substantial contributor, or 35%				
			26		x
27	Did the organization provide a grant or other assistance to any current or former officer, director, trust				
	creator or founder, substantial contributor or employee thereof, a grant selection committee member,				
	entity (including an employee thereof) or family member of any of these persons? If "Yes." complete s		27		x
28	Was the organization a party to a business transaction with one of the following parties (see the Sche	,			
	instructions for applicable filing thresholds, conditions, and exceptions):	,,			
а	A current or former officer, director, trustee, key employee, creator or founder, or substantial contribut	tor? If			
	"Yes," complete Schedule L, Part IV		28a		x
b	A family member of any individual described in line 28a? If "Yes," complete Schedule L, Part IV		28b		X
	A 35% controlled entity of one or more individuals and/or organizations described in line 28a or 28b?				
•		"	28c		x
29	Did the organization receive more than \$25,000 in non-cash contributions? If "Yes," complete Schedu				X
30	Did the organization receive contributions of art, historical treasures, or other similar assets, or qualifie				
	contributions? If "Yes," complete Schedule M		30		x
31	Did the organization liquidate, terminate, or dissolve and cease operations? If "Yes," complete Sched				X
32	Did the organization sell, exchange, dispose of, or transfer more than 25% of its net assets? If "Yes."				
02	Schedule N. Part II	compiete	32		x
33	Did the organization own 100% of an entity disregarded as separate from the organization under Regu	lations	02		
00	sections 301.7701-2 and 301.7701-3? If "Yes," complete Schedule R, Part I		33		x
34	Was the organization related to any tax-exempt or taxable entity? If "Yes," complete Schedule R, Part				
04			34	х	
35 2	Part V, line 1 Did the organization have a controlled entity within the meaning of section 512(b)(13)?			X	
	If "Yes" to line 35a, did the organization receive any payment from or engage in any transaction with a		554		
b	within the meaning of section 512(b)(13)? If "Yes," complete Schedule R, Part V, line 2	•	35b		x
36	Section 501(c)(3) organizations. Did the organization make any transfers to an exempt non-charitable		555		
30		-	26		x
27	If "Yes," complete Schedule R, Part V, line 2		36		- 23
37	Did the organization conduct more than 5% of its activities through an entity that is not a related orga and that is treated as a partnership for federal income tax purposes? <i>If "Yes," complete Schedule R</i> ,		37		x
20			31		
38	Did the organization complete Schedule O and provide explanations on Schedule O for Part VI, lines 1		20	х	
Pa	Note: All Form 990 filers are required to complete Schedule O           t V         Statements Regarding Other IRS Filings and Tax Compliance		38	Δ	I
1 0					
	Check if Schedule O contains a response or note to any line in this Part V	<u></u>			
	Establish sumbar associated in her 0 of Estate 1000. Estate 0 (for the distribution	1a   103	6	Yes	No
	Enter the number reported in box 3 of Form 1096. Enter -0- if not applicable				
b	Enter the number of Forms W-2G included on line 1a. Enter -0- if not applicable	1b	4		

c Did the organization comply with backup withholding rules for reportable payments to vendors and reportable gaming (gambling) winnings to prize winners?

1c

Form	990 (2022) STEP UP FOR STUDENTS - FLORIDA, INC. 59-3649	371	Р	age <b>5</b>
Part V Statements Regarding Other IRS Filings and Tax Compliance (continued)				
			Yes	No
2a	Enter the number of employees reported on Form W-3, Transmittal of Wage and Tax Statements,			
	filed for the calendar year ending with or within the year covered by this return 2a 182	2		
b	If at least one is reported on line 2a, did the organization file all required federal employment tax returns?	2b	Х	
3a	Did the organization have unrelated business gross income of \$1,000 or more during the year?	3a		X
h	If "Yee" has it filed a Form 000 T for this year? If "NAL" is the second state of the second state of the operation of the second state of the sec	26		

D	If "Yes," has it filed a Form 990-1 for this year? If "No" to line 3b, provide an explanation on Schedule O	30	
4a	At any time during the calendar year, did the organization have an interest in, or a signature or other authority over, a		
	financial account in a foreign country (such as a bank account, securities account, or other financial account)?	4a	X
b	If "Yes," enter the name of the foreign country		
	See instructions for filing requirements for FinCEN Form 114, Report of Foreign Bank and Financial Accounts (FBAR).		
5a	Was the organization a party to a prohibited tax shelter transaction at any time during the tax year?	5a	X
b	Did any taxable party notify the organization that it was or is a party to a prohibited tax shelter transaction?	5b	X
с	If "Yes" to line 5a or 5b, did the organization file Form 8886-T?	5c	
6a	Does the organization have annual gross receipts that are normally greater than \$100,000, and did the organization solicit		
	any contributions that were not tax deductible as charitable contributions?	6a	X
b	If "Yes," did the organization include with every solicitation an express statement that such contributions or gifts		
	were not tax deductible?	6b	
7	Organizations that may receive deductible contributions under section 170(c).		
а	Did the organization receive a payment in excess of \$75 made partly as a contribution and partly for goods and services provided to the payor?	7a	X

а	Did the organization receive a payment in excess of \$75 made partly as a contribution and partly for goods and services provided to the payor?	7	'a
b	If "Yes," did the organization notify the donor of the value of the goods or services provided?	7	

с	Did the organization sell, exchange, or otherwise dispose of tangible personal property for which it wa	s requ	ired
	to file Form 8282?		
d	If "Yes." indicate the number of Forms 8282 filed during the year	7d	

е	Did the organization receive any funds, directly or indirectly, to pay premiums on a personal benefit contract?								
f	Did the organization, during the year, pay premiums, directly or indirectly, on a personal benefit contract?								
g	g If the organization received a contribution of qualified intellectual property, did the organization file Form 8899 as required?								
h	h If the organization received a contribution of cars, boats, airplanes, or other vehicles, did the organization file a Form 1098-C?								
8	Sponsoring organizations maintaining donor advised funds. Did a donor advised fund maintained by the								
	sponsoring organization have excess business holdings at any time during the year?								

			•	•			•	
9	S	ponsori	ng e	organizations	maintaining	donor	advised <sup>-</sup>	funds

9	Sponsoring organizations maintaining donor advised funds.								
а	a Did the sponsoring organization make any taxable distributions under section 4966?								
b	<b>b</b> Did the sponsoring organization make a distribution to a donor, donor advisor, or related person?								
10	Section 501(c)(7) organizations. Enter:								
а	Initiation fees and capital contributions included on Part VIII, line 12	10a							
b	Gross receipts, included on Form 990, Part VIII, line 12, for public use of club facilities	10b							
11	Section 501(c)(12) organizations. Enter:								
а	Gross income from members or shareholders	11a							
b	Gross income from other sources. (Do not net amounts due or paid to other sources against								
	amounts due or received from them.)	11b							
12a	Section 4947(a)(1) non-exempt charitable trusts. Is the organization filing Form 990 in lieu of Form	1041?		12a					
b	If "Yes," enter the amount of tax-exempt interest received or accrued during the year	12b							
13	Section 501(c)(29) qualified nonprofit health insurance issuers.								
а	Is the organization licensed to issue qualified health plans in more than one state?			13a					
	Note: See the instructions for additional information the organization must report on Schedule O.								

b	Enter the amount of reserves the organization is required to maintain by the states in which the								
	organization is licensed to issue qualified health plans	13b							
с	Enter the amount of reserves on hand	13c							
14a	14a Did the organization receive any payments for indoor tanning services during the tax year?								
b	<b>b</b> If "Yes," has it filed a Form 720 to report these payments? If "No," provide an explanation on Schedule O								
15									
	excess parachute payment(s) during the year?			15		Х			
	If "Yes," see the instructions and file Form 4720, Schedule N.								
16	Is the organization an educational institution subject to the section 4968 excise tax on net investment	incom	ne?	16		Х			
	If "Yes," complete Form 4720, Schedule O.								
17	Section 501(c)(21) organizations. Did the trust, or any disqualified or other person engage in any ac	ivities							
	that would result in the imposition of an excise tax under section 4951, 4952 or 4953?			17					

If "Yes," complete Form 6069.

Х

X X

7c

7e 7f 7g 7h

8

STEP UP FOR STUDENTS - FLORIDA, INC.

Part VI Governance, Management, and Disclosure. For each "Yes" response to lines 2 through 7b below, and for a "No" response to line 8a, 8b, or 10b below, describe the circumstances, processes, or changes on Schedule O. See instructions.

Check if Schedule O contains a response or note to any line in this Part VI	

	Check if Schedule O contains a response or note to any line in this Part VI			X									
Sec	tion A. Governing Body and Management												
			Yes	No									
1a	Enter the number of voting members of the governing body at the end of the tax year 1a 10												
	If there are material differences in voting rights among members of the governing body, or if the governing												
	body delegated broad authority to an executive committee or similar committee, explain on Schedule O.												
b	Enter the number of voting members included on line 1a, above, who are independent 10 10												
2	Did any officer, director, trustee, or key employee have a family relationship or a business relationship with any other												
	officer, director, trustee, or key employee?												
3													
	of officers, directors, trustees, or key employees to a management company or other person?												
4													
5													
6	Did the organization have members or stockholders?	6		Х									
7a	Did the organization have members, stockholders, or other persons who had the power to elect or appoint one or												
	more members of the governing body?	7a		X									
b	Are any governance decisions of the organization reserved to (or subject to approval by) members, stockholders, or												
	persons other than the governing body?	7b		<u>X</u>									
8	Did the organization contemporaneously document the meetings held or written actions undertaken during the year by the following:												
а	The governing body?	8a	Х										
b	Each committee with authority to act on behalf of the governing body?	8b	Х										
9	Is there any officer, director, trustee, or key employee listed in Part VII, Section A, who cannot be reached at the												
	organization's mailing address? If "Yes," provide the names and addresses on Schedule O	9		Х									
Sec	tion B. Policies (This Section B requests information about policies not required by the Internal Revenue Code.)												
			Yes	No									
	Did the organization have local chapters, branches, or affiliates?	10a		X									
b	If "Yes," did the organization have written policies and procedures governing the activities of such chapters, affiliates,												
	and branches to ensure their operations are consistent with the organization's exempt purposes?	10b											
11a	Has the organization provided a complete copy of this Form 990 to all members of its governing body before filing the form?	11a	Х										
b	Describe on Schedule O the process, if any, used by the organization to review this Form 990.												
12a	Did the organization have a written conflict of interest policy? If "No," go to line 13	12a	X										
b	Were officers, directors, or trustees, and key employees required to disclose annually interests that could give rise to conflicts?	12b	Х										
с	Did the organization regularly and consistently monitor and enforce compliance with the policy? If "Yes," describe												
	on Schedule O how this was done	12c	X										
13	Did the organization have a written whistleblower policy?	13	X										
14	Did the organization have a written document retention and destruction policy?	14	Х										
15	Did the process for determining compensation of the following persons include a review and approval by independent												
	persons, comparability data, and contemporaneous substantiation of the deliberation and decision?		77										
	The organization's CEO, Executive Director, or top management official	15a	X										
b	Other officers or key employees of the organization	15b	Х										
	If "Yes" to line 15a or 15b, describe the process on Schedule O. See instructions.												
16a	Did the organization invest in, contribute assets to, or participate in a joint venture or similar arrangement with a			37									
	taxable entity during the year?	16a		X									
b	If "Yes," did the organization follow a written policy or procedure requiring the organization to evaluate its participation												
	in joint venture arrangements under applicable federal tax law, and take steps to safeguard the organization's	101											
Sec	exempt status with respect to such arrangements?	16b		<u> </u>									
			VC	VV									
17	List the states with which a copy of this Form 990 is required to be filed <u>AK, AR, CA, CO, CT, FL, DC, GA, HI</u>												
18	Section 6104 requires an organization to make its Forms 1023 (1024 or 1024-A, if applicable), 990, and 990-T (section 501(c)(3)	s only)	availat	DIE									
	for public inspection. Indicate how you made these available. Check all that apply.												
	X Own website Another's website X Upon request Other (explain on Schedule O)												

19	Describe on Schedule O whether (and if so, how) the organization made its governing documents, conflict of interest policy, and financial
	statements available to the public during the tax year.

20	State the name, address, and telephone number of the person who possesses the organization's books and records
	JOE PFOUNTZ - 904-352-2246

4655	SALISBURY	RD,	SUITE	: 4	100,	JACKS	SONVII	ιLΕ,	FL	32256
12-13-22	SEE	SCH	EDULE	0	FOR	FULL	LIST	OF	STATI	ΞS

Enter -0- in columns (D), (E), and (F) if no compens	sation was paid	d.										
• List all of the organization's current key employees, if any. See the instructions for definition of "key employee."												
• List the organization's five current highest compensated employees (other than an officer, director, trustee, or key employee)												
who received reportable compensation (box 5 of Form W-2, box 6 of Form 1099-MISC, and/or box 1 of Form 1099-NEC) of more than \$100,000 from the organization and any related organizations.												
• List all of the organization's <b>former</b> officers						comp	bens	ated employees who re	ceived more than \$100	,000 of		
<ul> <li>reportable compensation from the organization a</li> <li>List all of the organization's former director</li> </ul>						n the	car	nacity as a former direct	or or trustee of the ora	anization		
more than \$10,000 of reportable compensation fi									or or trustee or the org	anzation,		
See the instructions for the order in which to list	•				,			5				
Check this box if neither the organization n	or any related (	oraa	niza	tion	con	nner	eate	ad any current officer di	rector or trustee			
		l	unza			nper	isaid	(D)		(E)		
(A)	(B)			Pos	<b>C)</b> itior	ı			(E)	(F)		
Name and title	Average (do not check more than one Reportable Reportable Estimated											
	week	hours per box, unless person is both an compensation compensation										
	(list any	tor						the	organizations	other compensation		
	hours for	direc				l_		organization	(W-2/1099-MISC/	from the		
	related	ee or	stee			nsate		(W-2/1099-MISC/	1099-NEC)	organization		
	organizations	Individual trustee or director	In stitutional trustee		yee	Highest compensated employee		1099-NEC)		and related		
	below	idual	ution	5	mplc	est cc	er	,		organizations		
	line)	ndivi	Instit	Officer	Key employee	Highe	Former			0		
(1) DOUG TUTHILL	36.00											
PRESIDENT, SUFS	4.00			x				258,138.	28,682.	33,909.		
(2) JOE PFOUNTZ	36.00											
TREASURER & CFO, SUFS	4.00			x				213,140.	23,682.	23,450.		
(3) LESLEY SEARCY	36.00											
CEAO, SUFS	4.00			Х				190,880.	21,209.	16,250.		
(4) ANNE WHITE	36.00											
CAO, SUFS (THRU 12/22)	4.00			X				182,374.	20,264.	18,898.		
(5) ALISSA RANDALL (THRU 06/2022)	36.00											
CMO, SUFS	4.00					X		161,981.	17,998.	19,130.		
(6) CRAIG GONSALVES	36.00							144 005	16 000	00 054		
VP OF IT SOLUTIONS	4.00		-			X		144,205.	16,023.	29,354.		
(7) SUSAN DUGAN	36.00							150.000	10 000	1 - 000		
VP FINANCE (8) JILL LAROSE	4.00					X		153,239.	17,027.	15,920.		
(8) JILL LAROSE VP LEADERSHIP DEVELOPMENT	36.00					x		152 542	17 060	11 517		
(9) JILLIAN METZ	4.00		-					153,543.	17,060.	11,517.		
VP OF EXTERNAL RELATIONS	4.00					x		135,371.	15,041.	18,812.		
(10) JOHN KIRTLEY	36.00							10070711		10,0120		
CHAIRMAN, SUFS/DIRECTOR, A	4.00	х						0.	0.	0.		
(11) ALFRED "AL" LAWSON	2.00											
DIRECTOR, SUFS	4.00	х						0.	0.	0.		
(12) RICHARD OUTRAM	2.00											
DIRECTOR, SUFS	4.00	Х						0.	0.	0.		
(13) CURTIS STOKES	2.00											
DIRECTOR, SUFS	4.00	Х						0.	0.	0.		
(14) TERRY JOVE	2.00											
DIRECTOR, SUFS	4.00	Х	<u> </u>			<u> </u>	<b> </b>	0.	0.	0.		
(15) JOHN LEGG	2.00											
DIRECTOR, SUFS	4.00	Х				<u> </u>		0.	0.	0.		
(16) DENISHA MERRIWEATHER	2.00									^		
DIRECTOR, SUFS	4.00	X	<u> </u>		<u> </u>	-		0.	0.	0.		
(17) LINH LAM	2.00	v						0.	0.	0		
DIRECTOR, SUFS	4.00	Δ	1	I	I	1	I	I U.	U•	0 • Form <b>990</b> (2022)		
232007 12-13-22										(2022)		

# Check if Schedule O contains a response or note to any line in this Part VII Section A. Officers, Directors, Trustees, Key Employees, and Highest Compensated Employees

STEP UP FOR STUDENTS - FLORIDA, INC.

**Employees, and Independent Contractors** 

1a Complete this table for all persons required to be listed. Report compensation for the calendar year ending with or within the organization's tax year. • List all of the organization's current officers, directors, trustees (whether individuals or organizations), regardless of amount of compensation.

Form 990 (2022) STEP UP I	FOR STUD	EN	тs	_	FI	LOR	RID	A, INC.	59-36	5493'	71 I	⊃ <sub>age</sub> 8
Part VII Section A. Officers, Directors, Trus	tees, Key Emp	loye	es,	and	High	nest	Con	npensated Employee	s (continued)			
(A)	(B)			(C				(D)	(E)		(F)	
Name and title	Average	(do		Posit		ian one	e	Reportable	Reportable		Estima	
	hours per week					both ar trustee		compensation	compensatio		amoun	
	(list any	tor					-	from the	from related organization		othe compens	
	hours for	· direc			7	2		organization	(W-2/1099-MIS		from t	
	related	stee or	ustee		tonot	E I SQL		(W-2/1099-MISC/	1099-NEC)		organiza	ation
	organizations below	al trus	onal ti		loyee	e comit		1099-NEC)			and rela	
	line)	Individual trustee or director	Institutional trustee	Officer	Key employee	employee	Former				organiza	lions
(18) BARON CONCORS	2.00	l	<u> </u>	ò	<u> </u>		<u> </u>					
DIRECTOR, SUFS	4.00	х						0.		0.		Ο.
(19) KAREN HOBBS	2.00											
DIRECTOR, SUFS	4.00	х						Ο.		0.		0.
				_								
				_						-+		
							-	1,592,871.	176,98	36	187,2	240
1b Subtotal c Total from continuation sheets to Part VI							$\vdash$	0.	170,90	0.	107,2	0.
d Total (add lines 1b and 1c)							F	1,592,871.	176,98		187,2	
2 Total number of individuals (including but n							rece		-			
compensation from the organization		000			010)		1000	inde more than ¢ree,				12
											Yes	-
<b>3</b> Did the organization list any <b>former</b> officer,	director, truste	e, k	ey ei	mplo	oyee,	or hi	nighe	st compensated empl	oyee on			
line 1a? If "Yes," complete Schedule J for s	uch individual								•		3	X
4 For any individual listed on line 1a, is the su												
and related organizations greater than \$150	,000? If "Yes,	" coi	mple	te S	chea	lule J	J for	such individual		L	4 X	
5 Did any person listed on line 1a receive or a	ccrue compen	satio	on fro	om a	any u	nrela	ated	organization or individ	lual for services			
rendered to the organization? If "Yes," com	plete Schedule	e J fo	or su	ch p	erso	n				<u></u>	5	X
Section B. Independent Contractors												
<b>1</b> Complete this table for your five highest co	=	-								pensatio	n from	
the organization. Report compensation for	he calendar ye	ear e	ndin	g wi	th or	withi	nin th		ear.			
(A) Name and business	addraaa							<b>(B)</b> Description of s	onviooo	Cor	(C) npensati	<b>~</b> ~
NLP LOGIX LLC, 4215 SOUTH		T T 7	<u> </u>		ת חוי		_	Description of s	ervices		npensau	
140, JACKSONVILLE, FL 322		цv.	<b>D</b> •,	, z	2.T.E		a	יזייר ייראישר		6	7/2 0	05
SOLIX, INC.	10						_	DFTWARE DEVI JSTOMER SERV		0,	743,9	105.
P.O. BOX 641773, PITTSBUR	сч ра	15	26/	1_1	177	2		ALL CENTER	VICE	2	335,5	16
SUTHERLAND GLOBAL SERVICE							_	JSTOMER SERV	VICE	4,	555,5	10.
OUELLETTE AVE, 8TH FLOOR,								ALL CENTER	VICE	2	185,4	198.
PRAXENT LLC, 9450 SW GEMI												
BEAVERTON, OR 97008						'	sc	OFTWARE DEVI	ELOPMENT	1.	609,2	268.
ASTON CARTER							Ē			/		
P.O. BOX 7410408, CHICAGO	, IL 6	06	74-	-04	108		Т	EMP AGENCY		1,	242,1	.37.
2 Total number of independent contractors (ii									ore than	,	,	
\$100,000 of compensation from the organiz	-				6							

						OR S	STUDENTS	- FLORIDA,	INC.	59-3649	371 Page <b>9</b>
Pa	rt VI		Statement of Re	ven	ue						
			Check if Schedule O	conta	ains a re	sponse	e or note to any lir	ne in this Part VIII			
								(A)	(B) Related or exempt	(C) Unrelated	<b>(D)</b> Revenue excluded
								Total revenue	function revenue	business revenue	from tax under
											sections 512 - 514
ts t	1 :	а	Federated campaigns		1	a					
irar oun	I	b	Membership dues		1	b					
⊒ ن کړ		С	Fundraising events		1	lc					
ar J		d	Related organizations		1	d		-			
in, o		е	Government grants (contr	ibutio	ons) <u>1</u>	le		-			
er tior S	1	f	All other contributions, gifts,								
Contributions, Gifts, Grants and Other Similar Amounts			similar amounts not included			lf	896,372,611.	4			
ti pe	9	-	Noncash contributions included in			<b>g</b> \$					
<u>ਹ ਸ</u>							1	896372611.			
							Business Code				
ice	2 8										
er v		b									
n S /en		C									
grar Rev		d									
Program Service Revenue		e									
ц.			All other program service								
		g	Total. Add lines 2a-2f								
	3		Investment income (includ other similar amounts)					16,661,008.			16661008.
	4		Income from investment of				procode				
	5		Royalties				-				
	5			·····	(i) F	Real	(ii) Personal				
	6	a	Gross rents	6a	(.) .		() 1 0100110.	-			
			Less: rental expenses	6b				-			
			Rental income or (loss)	6c				1			
			Net rental income or (loss)								
			Gross amount from sales of	,		urities					
			assets other than inventory	7a							
	-	b	Less: cost or other basis								
е			and sales expenses	7b							
venue		с	Gain or (loss)	7c							
		d	Net gain or (loss)								
Other Re	8 8	а	Gross income from fundraisi	ng ev	ents (not	t					
₿			including \$		c	of					
			contributions reported on	line	1c). See						
			Part IV, line 18			8	a	-			
			Less: direct expenses				b				
			Net income or (loss) from								
	9 8	а	Gross income from gamin	-							
			Part IV, line 19					4			
			Less: direct expenses				b				
			Net income or (loss) from			vities					
	10 a	а	Gross sales of inventory, I								
		_	and allowances					4			
			Less: cost of goods sold								
	- (	С	Net income or (loss) from	sales	s ot inve	ntory	Business Code				
sn	11 :	~									
Miscellaneous Revenue	11 i   11 i	a b									
∋llaı ven		с С									
Be			All other revenue								
Σ			Total. Add lines 11a-11d								
			Total revenue. See instruction					913033619.	0.	0.	16661008.

# Form 990 (2022) STEP UP FOR STUDENTS - FLORIDA, INC. Part IX Statement of Functional Expenses

59-3649371 Page 10

Section 501(c)(3) and 501(c)(4) organizations must complete all columns. All other organizations must complete column (A).

	Check if Schedule O contains a respon				
	not include amounts reported on lines 6b, 8b, 9b, and 10b of Part VIII.	(A) Total expenses	(B) Program service expenses	<b>(C)</b> Management and general expenses	(D) Fundraising expenses
1	Grants and other assistance to domestic organizations			92	
	and domestic governments. See Part IV, line 21				
2	Grants and other assistance to domestic individuals. See Part IV, line 22	701,246,384.	701,246,384.		
3	Grants and other assistance to foreign				
	organizations, foreign governments, and foreign				
	individuals. See Part IV, lines 15 and 16				
4	Benefits paid to or for members				
5	Compensation of current officers, directors,				
	trustees, and key employees	1,942,374.	474,889.	1,467,485.	
6	Compensation not included above to disqualified				
	persons (as defined under section 4958(f)(1)) and				
	persons described in section 4958(c)(3)(B)				
7	Other salaries and wages	18,534,094.	13,473,415.	4,063,750.	996,929.
8	Pension plan accruals and contributions (include	, , ,			
-	section 401(k) and 403(b) employer contributions)	804,621.	570,027.	190,194.	44,400.
9	Other employee benefits	2,465,075.	1,877,100.	481,344.	<u>44,400.</u> 106,631.
10	Payroll taxes	1,565,722.	1,073,442.	415,842.	76,438.
11	Fees for services (nonemployees):	_,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	_,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,		
	Management				
	Legal	64,726.	9,511.	55,215.	
	Accounting	142,252.		142,252.	
	Lobbying	439,559.			
	Professional fundraising services. See Part IV, line 17	100,000	100,000		
f	Investment management fees				
g					
9	column (A), amount, list line 11g expenses on Sch O.)				
12	Advertising and promotion	2,349,085.	2,080,688.	226,494.	41,903.
13	Office expenses	116,194.	87,317.	7,483.	<u>41,903.</u> 21,394.
14	Information technology			,	,
15	Royalties				
16	Occupancy	400,010.	400,010.		
17	Travel	363,297.	169,862.	113,576.	79,859.
18	Payments of travel or entertainment expenses		,		
	for any federal, state, or local public officials				
19	Conferences, conventions, and meetings				
20	Interest				
21	Payments to affiliates				
22	Depreciation, depletion, and amortization	1,398,070.	1,398,070.		
23	Insurance	332,186.	332,186.		
24	Other expenses. Itemize expenses not covered				
	above. (List miscellaneous expenses on line 24e. If line 24e amount exceeds 10% of line 25, column (A), amount, list line 24e expenses on Schedule 0.)				
а	BAD DEBT EXPENSE	8,982,448.	8,982,448.		
a b	REPAIR AND MAINTENANCE	1,513,664.		47,752.	350.
c	OTHER COST	1,286,483.		103,026.	121,334.
d	BANK FEES	225,684.		44,331.	4,613.
	All other expenses	11,125,272.		622,754.	328,040.
25	Total functional expenses. Add lines 1 through 24e		745,493,811.	7,981,498.	1,821,891.
26	Joint costs. Complete this line only if the organization		,,	.,,	_,,
	reported in column (B) joint costs from a combined				
	educational campaign and fundraising solicitation.				
	Check here if following SOP 98-2 (ASC 958-720)				
					- 000 (2222)

STEP UP FOR STUDENTS - FLORIDA, IN	NC.
------------------------------------	-----

59-3649371 Page 11

		Check if Schedule O contains a response or note	e to any	/ line in this Part X			
					<b>(A)</b> Beginning of year		<b>(B)</b> End of year
	1	Cash - non-interest-bearing			394,636,091.	1	611,217,473.
	2	Savings and temporary cash investments			116,000.	2	116,000.
	3	Pledges and grants receivable, net			606,074,982.	3	553,897,108.
	4	Accounts receivable, net			4,749,403.	4	5,886,257.
	5	Loans and other receivables from any current or	· · ·				
		trustee, key employee, creator or founder, subst					
		controlled entity or family member of any of thes				5	
	6	Loans and other receivables from other disqualif	•				
		under section 4958(f)(1)), and persons described	-			6	
s	7	Notes and loans receivable, net	()())())		7		
Assets	8	Inventories for sale or use		8			
As	9	<b>_</b>			983,075.	9	743,483.
	10a	Land, buildings, and equipment: cost or other					
		basis. Complete Part VI of Schedule D	10a	18,938,845.			
	b	Less: accumulated depreciation		4,964,523.	8,156,213.	10c	13,974,322.
	11	Investments - publicly traded securities		11			
	12	Investments - other securities. See Part IV, line 1		12			
	13	Investments - program-related. See Part IV, line 1		13			
	14	Intangible assets		14			
	15	Other assets. See Part IV, line 11		193,204,289.	15	333,493,981.	
	16	Total assets. Add lines 1 through 15 (must equa			1207920053.	16	1519328624.
	17	Accounts payable and accrued expenses			39,402,548.	17	55,527,729.
	18	Grants payable		18			
	19	Deferred revenue		19			
	20	Tax-exempt bond liabilities				20	
	21	Escrow or custodial account liability. Complete F			191,053,539.	21	331,079,855.
ŝ	22	Loans and other payables to any current or form	er offic	er, director,			
Liabilities		trustee, key employee, creator or founder, substa	antial c	ontributor, or 35%			
abi		controlled entity or family member of any of thes	e perso	ons		22	
	23	Secured mortgages and notes payable to unrela	ted thir	d parties		23	
	24	Unsecured notes and loans payable to unrelated	l third p	arties		24	
	25	Other liabilities (including federal income tax, pay	ables t	to related third			
		parties, and other liabilities not included on lines	17-24).	. Complete Part X			
		of Schedule D			2,479,345.	25	0.
	26	Total liabilities. Add lines 17 through 25			232,935,432.	26	386,607,584.
		Organizations that follow FASB ASC 958, che	ck here	e X			
čě		and complete lines 27, 28, 32, and 33.			10 000 140		00 005 006
lan	27	Net assets without donor restrictions	18,888,149.	27	28,805,206.		
B	28				956,096,472.	28	1103915834.
oun		Organizations that do not follow FASB ASC 9	58, che	ck here			
Net Assets or Fund Balances		and complete lines 29 through 33.					
ts c	29	Capital stock or trust principal, or current funds				29	
sse	30	Paid-in or capital surplus, or land, building, or eq				30	
ťΑ	31	Retained earnings, endowment, accumulated inc			074 004 001	31	1120001040
a Ne	32				974,984,621.	32	1132721040.
	33	Total liabilities and net assets/fund balances			1207920053.	33	1519328624.

Form **990** (2022)

# Part X | Balance Sheet

Form	990	(2022)
1.01111	000	LOLL

-

-

Form	1990 (2022) STEP UP FOR STUDENTS - FLORIDA, INC.	59-3	649371	Pag	<sub>ge</sub> 12
	rt XI Reconciliation of Net Assets				-
	Check if Schedule O contains a response or note to any line in this Part XI				
1	Total revenue (must equal Part VIII, column (A), line 12)	1	913,033	3,6	19.
2	Total expenses (must equal Part IX, column (A), line 25)	2	755,29	7,2	00.
3	Revenue less expenses. Subtract line 2 from line 1	3	157,736	5,4	19.
4	Net assets or fund balances at beginning of year (must equal Part X, line 32, column (A))	4	974,984	1,6	21.
5	Net unrealized gains (losses) on investments	5			
6	Donated services and use of facilities	6			
7	Investment expenses	7			
8	Prior period adjustments	8			
9	Other changes in net assets or fund balances (explain on Schedule O)	9			0.
10	Net assets or fund balances at end of year. Combine lines 3 through 9 (must equal Part X, line 32,				
	column (B))	10 1,	132,722	L,04	40.
Pa	rt XII Financial Statements and Reporting				
	Check if Schedule O contains a response or note to any line in this Part XII				X
				Yes	No
1	Accounting method used to prepare the Form 990: Cash X Accrual Other				
	If the organization changed its method of accounting from a prior year or checked "Other," explain on Schedule	Ο.			
2a	Were the organization's financial statements compiled or reviewed by an independent accountant?		2a		X
	If "Yes," check a box below to indicate whether the financial statements for the year were compiled or reviewed	on a			
	separate basis, consolidated basis, or both:				
	Separate basis Consolidated basis Both consolidated and separate basis				
b	Were the organization's financial statements audited by an independent accountant?		2b	Х	
	If "Yes," check a box below to indicate whether the financial statements for the year were audited on a separate	basis,			
	consolidated basis, or both:				
	Separate basis X Consolidated basis Both consolidated and separate basis				
с	If "Yes" to line 2a or 2b, does the organization have a committee that assumes responsibility for oversight of the	audit,			
	review, or compilation of its financial statements and selection of an independent accountant?		2c	Х	
	If the organization changed either its oversight process or selection process during the tax year, explain on Sch	edule O.			
3a	As a result of a federal award, was the organization required to undergo an audit or audits as set forth in the				
	Uniform Guidance, 2 C.F.R. Part 200, Subpart F?		За	Х	
b	If "Yes," did the organization undergo the required audit or audits? If the organization did not undergo the required	ed audit			
	or audits, explain why on Schedule O and describe any steps taken to undergo such audits			Х	
				000	

Form **990** (2022)

SCHEDULE A (Form 990) Department of the Treasury Internal Revenue Service			Co	Public Ch omplete if the org Go to www.irs.go	OMB No. 1545-0047 <b>2022</b> Open to Public Inspection					
Nan	ne of t	the organization							Employer	identification number
					TUDENTS - FLO					9-3649371
Pa	rt I	Reason	for Public C	Charity Status	All organizations must o	complete th	nis part.) S	ee instructior	IS.	
The 1 2 3 4	organ	A church, cor A school des A hospital or	nvention of chi cribed in <b>sect</b> i a cooperative earch organiza	urches, or associa ion 170(b)(1)(A)(ii hospital service o	s: (For lines 1 through 12, c ation of churches described ). (Attach Schedule E (Forr rganization described in <b>s</b> conjunction with a hospital	d in <b>sectio</b> n 990).) <b>ection 170</b>	n 170(b)(1 (b)(1)(A)(ii	i).	)(iii). Enter	the hospital's name,
5					college or university owned	d or operate	ed by a go	overnmental u	nit describe	ed in
		section 170	<b>b)(1)(A)(iv).</b> (C	Complete Part II.)						
6			-	-	mmental unit described in					
7	X	•			stantial part of its support f	rom a gove	rnmental	unit or from th	ne general p	public described in
~		-		omplete Part II.)						
8	$\square$	-			(b)(1)(A)(vi). (Complete Par		d in aanii	notion with o	land grant	
9		•	-		ed in <b>section 170(b)(1)(A)(</b> priculture (see instructions).		-		-	-
		university:	a non-land-g	grant conege of ag			lame, ony	, and state of	the college	
10			on that norma	Ily receives (1) mo	re than 33 1/3% of its supp	port from co	ontributior	ns, membersh	ip fees, and	d gross receipts from
		-		•	ject to certain exceptions;				-	•
		income and u	nrelated busir	ness taxable incor	ne (less section 511 tax) fro	om busines	ses acqui	red by the org	ganization a	fter June 30, 1975.
		See section	509(a)(2). (Cor	mplete Part III.)						
11		An organizati	on organized a	and operated excl	usively to test for public sa	fety. See s	section 50	)9(a)(4).		
12		An organizati	on organized a	and operated excl	usively for the benefit of, to	perform th	ne functio	ns of, or to ca	rry out the	purposes of one or
		more publicly	supported or	ganizations descr	ibed in section 509(a)(1) o	or section 5	5 <b>09(a)(2)</b> .	See section	509(a)(3). (	Check the box on
		7	-		e of supporting organization	-			-	
а				-	l, supervised, or controlled	• • • •	-			
			•		regularly appoint or elect a	a majority o	f the direc	tors or truste	es of the su	ipporting
		¬ ~		-	Sections A and B.					
b				-	ed or controlled in connec			-		-
					rganization vested in the s	ame persor	ns that col	ntrol or mana	ge the supp	ported
_		<b>-</b>			V, Sections A and C. ting organization operated	in connect	ion with a	and functional	lly into grata	d with
C		••	-	• • • •	ons). You must complete				ily integrate	a with,
d			0	()(	pporting organization oper	,			ted organiz	zation(s)
·					nization generally must sat					
				• •	complete Part IV, Sections	•		•		
е		7			a written determination fro				II, Type III	
		functionally	integrated, or	r Type III non-func	tionally integrated supporti	ng organiza	ation.			
f	Ente	er the number of	of supported o	organizations						
<u> </u>					rted organization(s).	(iv) Is the orga	nization listed	( ) )		
	(	<ol> <li>Name of support organization</li> </ol>		(ii) EIN	(iii) Type of organization (described on lines 1-10	in your governir	ng document?	(v) Amount o support (see ir		(vi) Amount of other support (see instructions)
		3			above (see instructions))	Yes	No		/	
<b>T</b> - 1										
Tota	11									1

Schedule A (Form 990) 2022		-	STUDENTS				59-3649371	Page 2
Part II Support Schedule for	or Organiza	ations D	escribed in Se	ecti	ions 170(b)(1)	(A)(iv) and	d 170(b)(1)(A)(vi)	

(Complete only if you checked the box on line 5, 7, or 8 of Part I or if the organization failed to qualify under Part III. If the organization fails to qualify under the tests listed below, please complete Part III.)

Sec	tion A. Public Support						
Cale	ndar year (or fiscal year beginning in)	(a) 2018	<b>(b)</b> 2019	(c) 2020	(d) 2021	(e) 2022	(f) Total
1	Gifts, grants, contributions, and						
	membership fees received. (Do not						
	include any "unusual grants.")	714828892	618153616	988188946	821353700	896372611	#########
2	Tax revenues levied for the organ-						
	ization's benefit and either paid to						
	or expended on its behalf						
3	The value of services or facilities						
	furnished by a governmental unit to						
	the organization without charge						
4	Total. Add lines 1 through 3	714828892	618153616	988188946	821353700	896372611	#########
	The portion of total contributions						
	by each person (other than a						
	governmental unit or publicly						
	supported organization) included						
	on line 1 that exceeds 2% of the						
	amount shown on line 11,						
	column (f)						#########
6	Public support. Subtract line 5 from line 4.						#########
	tion B. Total Support						
	ndar year (or fiscal year beginning in)	(a) 2018	<b>(b)</b> 2019	(c) 2020	(d) 2021	(e) 2022	(f) Total
	Amounts from line 4	714828892					
	Gross income from interest,	/14020092	010100010	500100540	021000	050572011	
0							
	dividends, payments received on						
	securities loans, rents, royalties,	1673206.	1464788.	E1 127	157 215	16661000	20207754
	and income from similar sources	10/3200.	1404/00.	51,457.	457,315.	10001000.	2030//54.
9	Net income from unrelated business						
	activities, whether or not the						
	business is regularly carried on						
10	Other income. Do not include gain						
	or loss from the sale of capital						
	assets (Explain in Part VI.)	15,075.	440.	25,811.	59,161.		100,487.
11	Total support. Add lines 7 through 10						########
12	Gross receipts from related activities,	etc. (see instructio	ons)			12 2	<u>,636,132.</u>
13	First 5 years. If the Form 990 is for the	ne organization's fir	rst, second, third, <sup>-</sup>	fourth, or fifth tax y	/ear as a section 5	01(c)(3)	
	organization, check this box and stop						
Sec	tion C. Computation of Publi	c Support Per	centage				
14	Public support percentage for 2022 (I	ine 6, column (f), d	ivided by line 11, o	column (f))		14	<u>71.71 %</u>
15	Public support percentage from 2021	Schedule A, Part	II, line 14			15	68.72 %
16a	33 1/3% support test - 2022. If the o	organization did no	t check the box o	n line 13, and line <sup>.</sup>	14 is 33 1/3% or m	ore, check this bo	x and
	stop here. The organization qualifies	as a publicly supp	orted organization				X
b	33 1/3% support test - 2021. If the o	organization did no	t check a box on l				
	and stop here. The organization qual						
17a	10% -facts-and-circumstances test						
	and if the organization meets the fact	e e					
	meets the facts-and-circumstances te			•			
h	10% -facts-and-circumstances test	-			-		
~	more, and if the organization meets the	-					
	organization meets the facts-and-circi						
18	Private foundation. If the organization						
10	i mate roundation. It the organization	an alla not check a		a, 100, 17a, 01 17L	, oneon unis DUX a		,

Schedule A (Form 990) 2022

	(complete only if you oncolled		of Part I or If the	Jiganization laneu	to quality under F	art II. If the organiz	ation fails to
See	qualify under the tests listed b ction A. Public Support	elow, please comp	lete Part II.)				
Cale	ndar year (or fiscal year beginning in)	<b>(a)</b> 2018	<b>(b)</b> 2019	(c) 2020	(d) 2021	(e) 2022	(f) Total
1	Gifts, grants, contributions, and						
	membership fees received. (Do not						
	include any "unusual grants.")						
2	Gross receipts from admissions, merchandise sold or services per- formed, or facilities furnished in any activity that is related to the organization's tax-exempt purpose						
3	Gross receipts from activities that						
	are not an unrelated trade or bus-						
	iness under section 513						
4	Tax revenues levied for the organ-						
	ization's benefit and either paid to						
	or expended on its behalf						
5	The value of services or facilities furnished by a governmental unit to						
	the organization without charge						
6	Total. Add lines 1 through 5						
7a	Amounts included on lines 1, 2, and						
	3 received from disqualified persons						
t	Amounts included on lines 2 and 3 received from other than disqualified persons that exceed the greater of \$5,000 or 1% of the amount on line 13 for the year						
c	Add lines 7a and 7b						
	Public support. (Subtract line 7c from line 6.)						
	ction B. Total Support				•		
Cale	ndar year (or fiscal year beginning in)	<b>(a)</b> 2018	<b>(b)</b> 2019	(c) 2020	(d) 2021	(e) 2022	(f) Total
9	Amounts from line 6						
	Gross income from interest, dividends, payments received on securities loans, rents, royalties, and income from similar sources						
Ł	• Unrelated business taxable income (less section 511 taxes) from businesses acquired after June 30, 1975						
	Add lines 10a and 10b						
	Net income from unrelated business activities not included on line 10b, whether or not the business is regulated contract on						
11	Net income from unrelated business activities not included on line 10b, whether or not the business is regularly carried on Other income. Do not include gain or loss from the sale of capital						
11 12	Net income from unrelated business activities not included on line 10b, whether or not the business is regularly carried on Other income. Do not include gain						
11 12 13	Net income from unrelated business activities not included on line 10b, whether or not the business is regularly carried on Other income. Do not include gain or loss from the sale of capital assets (Explain in Part VI.)	e organization's fi	rst, second, third,	fourth, or fifth tax y	year as a section 5	i01(c)(3) organizatic	on,
11 12 13	Net income from unrelated business activities not included on line 10b, whether or not the business is regularly carried on Other income. Do not include gain or loss from the sale of capital assets (Explain in Part VI.) Total support. (Add lines 9, 10c, 11, and 12.) First 5 years. If the Form 990 is for the	-					
11 12 13 14	Net income from unrelated business activities not included on line 10b, whether or not the business is regularly carried on Other income. Do not include gain or loss from the sale of capital assets (Explain in Part VI.) Total support. (Add lines 9, 10c, 11, and 12.)						
11 12 13 14 Sec	Net income from unrelated business activities not included on line 10b, whether or not the business is regularly carried on Other income. Do not include gain or loss from the sale of capital assets (Explain in Part VI.) Total support. (Add lines 9, 10c, 11, and 12.) First 5 years. If the Form 990 is for th check this box and stop here Ction C. Computation of Public	c Support Per	centage	(1)			
11 12 13 14 Sec	Net income from unrelated business activities not included on line 10b, whether or not the business is regularly carried on Other income. Do not include gain or loss from the sale of capital assets (Explain in Part VI.) Total support. (Add lines 9, 10c, 11, and 12.) First 5 years. If the Form 990 is for th check this box and stop here ction C. Computation of Public Public support percentage for 2022 (I	<b>c Support Per</b> ine 8, column (f), d	<b>centage</b> ivided by line 13, d	column (f))		1 1	
11 12 13 14 <b>Sec</b> 15 16	Net income from unrelated business activities not included on line 10b, whether or not the business is regularly carried on Other income. Do not include gain or loss from the sale of capital assets (Explain in Part VI.) Total support. (Add lines 9, 10c, 11, and 12.) First 5 years. If the Form 990 is for th check this box and stop here ction C. Computation of Public Public support percentage for 2022 (I	<b>c Support Per</b> ine 8, column (f), d Schedule A, Part	<b>centage</b> ivided by line 13, o III, line 15	(1)		15	
11 12 13 14 <b>Sec</b> 15 16	Net income from unrelated business activities not included on line 10b, whether or not the business is regularly carried on Other income. Do not include gain or loss from the sale of capital assets (Explain in Part VI.) Total support. (Add lines 9, 10c, 11, and 12.) First 5 years. If the Form 990 is for th check this box and stop here Ction C. Computation of Public Public support percentage for 2022 (I Public support percentage from 2021 Ction D. Computation of Invest	c Support Per ine 8, column (f), d Schedule A, Part tment Income	centage ivided by line 13, d III, line 15 Percentage	column (f))		15	%
11 12 13 14 <u>Sec</u> 15 <u>16</u> <u>Sec</u> 17	Net income from unrelated business activities not included on line 10b, whether or not the business is regularly carried on Other income. Do not include gain or loss from the sale of capital assets (Explain in Part VI.) Total support. (Add lines 9, 10c, 11, and 12.) First 5 years. If the Form 990 is for the check this box and stop here ction C. Computation of Public Public support percentage for 2022 (I Public support percentage from 2021 ction D. Computation of Investion Investment income percentage for 2020	c Support Per ine 8, column (f), d Schedule A, Part tment Income 22 (line 10c, colur	centage ivided by line 13, d III, line 15 Percentage nn (f), divided by li	column (f)) ne 13, column (f))		15	
11 12 13 14 <u>Sec</u> 15 <u>16</u> <u>Sec</u> 17 18	Net income from unrelated business activities not included on line 10b, whether or not the business is regularly carried on Other income. Do not include gain or loss from the sale of capital assets (Explain in Part VI.) Total support. (Add lines 9, 10c, 11, and 12.) First 5 years. If the Form 990 is for th check this box and stop here Ction C. Computation of Public Public support percentage from 2021 Ction D. Computation of Invess Investment income percentage from 2021	c Support Per ine 8, column (f), d Schedule A, Part tment Income 222 (line 10c, colur 2021 Schedule A,	centage ivided by line 13, d III, line 15 Percentage nn (f), divided by li Part III, line 17	column (f)) ne 13, column (f))		15 16 17 18	
11 12 13 14 <u>Sec</u> 15 <u>16</u> <u>Sec</u> 17 18	Net income from unrelated business activities not included on line 10b, whether or not the business is regularly carried on Other income. Do not include gain or loss from the sale of capital assets (Explain in Part VI.) Total support. (Add lines 9, 10c, 11, and 12.) First 5 years. If the Form 990 is for the check this box and stop here ction C. Computation of Public Public support percentage for 2022 (I Public support percentage from 2021 Ction D. Computation of Invess Investment income percentage from 2021 a 33 1/3% support tests - 2022. If the	c Support Per ine 8, column (f), d Schedule A, Part ttment Income 222 (line 10c, colur 2021 Schedule A, organization did n	centage ivided by line 13, o III, line 15 Percentage nn (f), divided by li Part III, line 17 ot check the box o	column (f)) ne 13, column (f)) on line 14, and line	15 is more than 3	15           16           17           18           33 1/3%, and line 17	
11 12 13 14 <u>See</u> 15 16 <u>See</u> 17 18 19a	Net income from unrelated business activities not included on line 10b, whether or not the business is regularly carried on Other income. Do not include gain or loss from the sale of capital assets (Explain in Part VI.) Total support. (Add lines 9, 10c, 11, and 12.) First 5 years. If the Form 990 is for th check this box and stop here Ction C. Computation of Public Public support percentage for 2022 (I Public support percentage from 2021 Ction D. Computation of Investion Investment income percentage from 2021 as 1/3% support tests - 2022. If the more than 33 1/3%, check this box ar	c Support Per ine 8, column (f), d Schedule A, Part timent Income 22 (line 10c, colur 2021 Schedule A, organization did n ad stop here. The	centage ivided by line 13, o III, line 15 Percentage nn (f), divided by li Part III, line 17 ot check the box o organization quali	ne 13, column (f)) ne 13, column (f)) on line 14, and line fies as a publicly s	15 is more than 3 upported organiza	15           16           17           18           33 1/3%, and line 17           ition	% % % 7 is not
11 12 13 14 <u>See</u> 15 16 <u>See</u> 17 18 19a	Net income from unrelated business activities not included on line 10b, whether or not the business is regularly carried on Other income. Do not include gain or loss from the sale of capital assets (Explain in Part VI.) Total support. (Add lines 9, 10c, 11, and 12.) First 5 years. If the Form 990 is for the check this box and stop here ction C. Computation of Public Public support percentage for 2022 (I Public support percentage from 2021 Ction D. Computation of Invess Investment income percentage from 2021 a 33 1/3% support tests - 2022. If the	c Support Per ine 8, column (f), d Schedule A, Part timent Income 222 (line 10c, colur 2021 Schedule A, organization did n ad stop here. The organization did n	centage ivided by line 13, o III, line 15 Percentage nn (f), divided by li Part III, line 17 ot check the box o organization quali ot check a box on	column (f)) ne 13, column (f)) on line 14, and line fies as a publicly s I line 14 or line 19a	15 is more than 3 upported organiza , and line 16 is mo	15           16           17           18           33 1/3%, and line 17           ition           ore than 33 1/3%, a	% % % 7 is not 

 Schedule A (Form 990) 2022
 STEP UP FOR STUDENTS - FLORIDA, INC.

 Part III
 Support Schedule for Organizations Described in Section 509(a)(2)

59-3649371 Page 3

59-3649371 Page 4

1

2

3a

3b

3c

4a

4b

4c

5a

5b

5c

Yes

No

(Complete only if you checked a box on line 12 of Part I. If you checked box 12a, Part I, complete Sections A and B. If you checked box 12b, Part I, complete Sections A and C. If you checked box 12c, Part I, complete Sections A, D, and E. If you checked box 12d, Part I, complete Sections A and D, and complete Part V.)

## Section A. All Supporting Organizations

Part IV Supporting Organizations

Schedule A (Form 990) 2022

- 1 Are all of the organization's supported organizations listed by name in the organization's governing documents? If "No," describe in Part VI how the supported organizations are designated. If designated by class or purpose, describe the designation. If historic and continuing relationship, explain.
- 2 Did the organization have any supported organization that does not have an IRS determination of status under section 509(a)(1) or (2)? If "Yes," explain in Part VI how the organization determined that the supported organization was described in section 509(a)(1) or (2).
- 3a Did the organization have a supported organization described in section 501(c)(4), (5), or (6)? If "Yes," answer lines 3b and 3c below.
- b Did the organization confirm that each supported organization qualified under section 501(c)(4), (5), or (6) and satisfied the public support tests under section 509(a)(2)? If "Yes," describe in Part VI when and how the organization made the determination.
- c Did the organization ensure that all support to such organizations was used exclusively for section 170(c)(2)(B) purposes? If "Yes," explain in Part VI what controls the organization put in place to ensure such use.
- 4a Was any supported organization not organized in the United States ("foreign supported organization")? // "Yes," and if you checked box 12a or 12b in Part I, answer lines 4b and 4c below.
- b Did the organization have ultimate control and discretion in deciding whether to make grants to the foreign supported organization? If "Yes," describe in Part VI how the organization had such control and discretion despite being controlled or supervised by or in connection with its supported organizations.
- c Did the organization support any foreign supported organization that does not have an IRS determination under sections 501(c)(3) and 509(a)(1) or (2)? If "Yes," explain in Part VI what controls the organization used to ensure that all support to the foreign supported organization was used exclusively for section 170(c)(2)(B) purposes.
- **5a** Did the organization add, substitute, or remove any supported organizations during the tax year? If "Yes." answer lines 5b and 5c below (if applicable). Also, provide detail in Part VI, including (i) the names and EIN numbers of the supported organizations added, substituted, or removed; (ii) the reasons for each such action; (iii) the authority under the organization's organizing document authorizing such action; and (iv) how the action was accomplished (such as by amendment to the organizing document).
- b Type I or Type II only. Was any added or substituted supported organization part of a class already designated in the organization's organizing document?
- c Substitutions only. Was the substitution the result of an event beyond the organization's control?
- Did the organization provide support (whether in the form of grants or the provision of services or facilities) to 6 anyone other than (i) its supported organizations, (ii) individuals that are part of the charitable class benefited by one or more of its supported organizations, or (iii) other supporting organizations that also support or benefit one or more of the filing organization's supported organizations? If "Yes," provide detail in Part VI.
- 7 Did the organization provide a grant, loan, compensation, or other similar payment to a substantial contributor (as defined in section 4958(c)(3)(C)), a family member of a substantial contributor, or a 35% controlled entity with regard to a substantial contributor? If "Yes," complete Part I of Schedule L (Form 990).
- 8 Did the organization make a loan to a disqualified person (as defined in section 4958) not described on line 7? If "Yes." complete Part I of Schedule L (Form 990).
- 9a Was the organization controlled directly or indirectly at any time during the tax year by one or more disqualified persons, as defined in section 4946 (other than foundation managers and organizations described in section 509(a)(1) or (2))? If "Yes," provide detail in Part VI.
- b Did one or more disqualified persons (as defined on line 9a) hold a controlling interest in any entity in which the supporting organization had an interest? If "Yes." provide detail in Part VI.
- c Did a disgualified person (as defined on line 9a) have an ownership interest in, or derive any personal benefit from, assets in which the supporting organization also had an interest? If "Yes." provide detail in Part VI.
- 10a Was the organization subject to the excess business holdings rules of section 4943 because of section 4943(f) (regarding certain Type II supporting organizations, and all Type III non-functionally integrated supporting organizations)? If "Yes," answer line 10b below.
  - b Did the organization have any excess business holdings in the tax year? (Use Schedule C. Form 4720, to determine whether the organization had excess business holdings.)

6 7 8 9a 9b 9c 10a 10b

Sche		-3649371	1 Pa	age <b>5</b>
Pa	rt IV Supporting Organizations (continued)			
			Yes	No
11	Has the organization accepted a gift or contribution from any of the following persons?			
а	A person who directly or indirectly controls, either alone or together with persons described on lines 11b and			
	11c below, the governing body of a supported organization?	11a		
b	A family member of a person described on line 11a above?	11b		
с	A 35% controlled entity of a person described on line 11a or 11b above? If "Yes" to line 11a, 11b, or 11c, provide			
	detail in Part VI.	11c		
Sec	ction B. Type I Supporting Organizations			

1	Did the governing body, members of the governing body, officers acting in their official capacity, or membership of one or more supported organizations have the power to regularly appoint or elect at least a majority of the organization's officers, directors, or trustees at all times during the tax year? <i>If "No," describe in</i> <b>Part VI</b> <i>how the supported organization(s)</i> effectively operated, supervised, or controlled the organization's activities. If the organization had more than one supported organization, describe how the powers to appoint and/or remove officers, directors, or trustees were allocated among the		
	supported organizations and what conditions or restrictions, if any, applied to such powers during the tax year.	1	L
2	Did the organization operate for the benefit of any supported organization other than the supported		
	organization(s) that operated, supervised, or controlled the supporting organization? If "Yes," explain in		
	Part VI how providing such benefit carried out the purposes of the supported organization(s) that operated,		

supervised, or controlled the supporting organization.	
Section C. Type II Supporting Organizations	

Were a majority of the organization's directors or trustees during the tax year also a majority of the directors or trustees of each of the organization's supported organization(s)? *If "No," describe in Part VI how control or management of the supporting organization was vested in the same persons that controlled or managed the supported organization(s).*

Sec	tion D. All Type III Supporting Organizations		
			Yes
1	Did the organization provide to each of its supported organizations, by the last day of the fifth month of the		
	organization's tax year, (i) a written notice describing the type and amount of support provided during the prior tax		
	year, (ii) a copy of the Form 990 that was most recently filed as of the date of notification, and (iii) copies of the		
	organization's governing documents in effect on the date of notification, to the extent not previously provided?	1	
2	Were any of the organization's officers, directors, or trustees either (i) appointed or elected by the supported		
	organization(s) or (ii) serving on the governing body of a supported organization? If "No," explain in Part VI how		
	the organization maintained a close and continuous working relationship with the supported organization(s).	2	
3	By reason of the relationship described on line 2, above, did the organization's supported organizations have a		
	significant voice in the organization's investment policies and in directing the use of the organization's		
	income or assets at all times during the tax year? If "Yes," describe in Part VI the role the organization's		

supported organizations played in this regard.

### Section E. Type III Functionally Integrated Supporting Organizations

- 1 Check the box next to the method that the organization used to satisfy the Integral Part Test during the year (see instructions).
- a \_\_\_\_ The organization satisfied the Activities Test. Complete line 2 below.
- **b** \_\_\_\_ The organization is the parent of each of its supported organizations. *Complete* **line 3** *below.*

С		The organization supported a g	governmental entity.	Describe in Part VI how	you supported a governmental	entity (see instruction <u>s).</u>
---	--	--------------------------------	----------------------	-------------------------	------------------------------	------------------------------------

- 2 Activities Test. Answer lines 2a and 2b below.
- **a** Did substantially all of the organization's activities during the tax year directly further the exempt purposes of the supported organization(s) to which the organization was responsive? If "Yes," then in **Part VI identify those supported organizations and explain** how these activities directly furthered their exempt purposes, how the organization was responsive to those supported organizations, and how the organization determined that these activities constituted substantially all of its activities.
- b Did the activities described on line 2a, above, constitute activities that, but for the organization's involvement, one or more of the organization's supported organization(s) would have been engaged in? *If* "Yes," *explain in* Part VI *the reasons for the organization's position that its supported organization(s) would have engaged in these activities but for the organization's involvement.*
- 3 Parent of Supported Organizations. Answer lines 3a and 3b below.
- a Did the organization have the power to regularly appoint or elect a majority of the officers, directors, or trustees of each of the supported organizations? *If* "Yes" or "*No*" *provide details in* **Part VI.**
- **b** Did the organization exercise a substantial degree of direction over the policies, programs, and activities of each of its supported organizations? *If "Yes," describe in* **Part VI** *the role played by the organization in this regard.*

Yes No

Yes No

No

2

3

2a

2b

3a

Yes No

Sche	dule A (Form 990) 2022 STEP UP FOR STUDENTS -			59-3649371 Page 6
Pa	t V Type III Non-Functionally Integrated 509(a)(3) Support	ng Organ	izations	
1	Check here if the organization satisfied the Integral Part Test as a qualify	ing trust on I	Nov. 20, 1970 ( <i>explain in</i>	Part VI). See instructions.
	All other Type III non-functionally integrated supporting organizations mu	st complete	Sections A through E.	
Sect	ion A - Adjusted Net Income		(A) Prior Year	(B) Current Year (optional)
1	Net short-term capital gain	1		
2	Recoveries of prior-year distributions	2		
3	Other gross income (see instructions)	3		
4	Add lines 1 through 3.	4		
5	Depreciation and depletion	5		
6	Portion of operating expenses paid or incurred for production or			
	collection of gross income or for management, conservation, or			
	maintenance of property held for production of income (see instructions)	6		
7	Other expenses (see instructions)	7		
8	Adjusted Net Income (subtract lines 5, 6, and 7 from line 4)	8		
Sect	ion B - Minimum Asset Amount		(A) Prior Year	(B) Current Year (optional)
1	Aggregate fair market value of all non-exempt-use assets (see			
	instructions for short tax year or assets held for part of year):			
a	Average monthly value of securities	1a		
b	Average monthly cash balances	1b		
C	Fair market value of other non-exempt-use assets	1c		
d	Total (add lines 1a, 1b, and 1c)	1d		
е	Discount claimed for blockage or other factors			
	(explain in detail in Part VI):			
2	Acquisition indebtedness applicable to non-exempt-use assets	2		
3	Subtract line 2 from line 1d.	3		
4	Cash deemed held for exempt use. Enter 0.015 of line 3 (for greater amount,			
	see instructions).	4		
5	Net value of non-exempt-use assets (subtract line 4 from line 3)	5		
6	Multiply line 5 by 0.035.	6		
7	Recoveries of prior-year distributions	7		
8	Minimum Asset Amount (add line 7 to line 6)	8		
Sect	ion C - Distributable Amount			Current Year
1	Adjusted net income for prior year (from Section A, line 8, column A)	1		
2	Enter 0.85 of line 1.	2		
3	Minimum asset amount for prior year (from Section B, line 8, column A)	3		
4	Enter greater of line 2 or line 3.	4		
5	Income tax imposed in prior year	5		
6	Distributable Amount. Subtract line 5 from line 4, unless subject to			
	emergency temporary reduction (see instructions).	6		
7	Check here if the current year is the organization's first as a non-function	ally integrate	d Type III supporting org	anization (see

instructions).

Schedule A (Form 990) 2022

and 4c.

Pa	dule A (Form 990) 2022 STEP UP FOR Street V Type III Non-Functionally Integrated 509	TUDENTS - FLORI (a)(3) Supporting Orga	nizations (continu	ued)	0-3649371 <sub>Ра</sub>
	ion D - Distributions		(******		Current Year
1	Amounts paid to supported organizations to accomplish exe	mpt purposes		1	
2	Amounts paid to perform activity that directly furthers exemp	t purposes of supported			
	organizations, in excess of income from activity			2	
3	Administrative expenses paid to accomplish exempt purpose	es of supported organizations	5	3	
4	Amounts paid to acquire exempt-use assets			4	
5	Qualified set-aside amounts (prior IRS approval required - pro	ovide details in Part VI)		5	
6	Other distributions ( <i>describe in</i> <b>Part VI</b> ). See instructions.			6	
7	Total annual distributions. Add lines 1 through 6.			7	
8	Distributions to attentive supported organizations to which the	ne organization is responsive			
	(provide details in Part VI). See instructions.			8	
9	Distributable amount for 2022 from Section C, line 6			9	
10	Line 8 amount divided by line 9 amount			10	
Sect	ion E - Distribution Allocations (see instructions)	(i) Excess Distributions	(ii) Underdistributior Pre-2022	าร	(iii) Distributable Amount for 2022
1	Distributable amount for 2022 from Section C, line 6				
	Underdistributions, if any, for years prior to 2022 (reason-				
	able cause required - explain in Part VI). See instructions.				
3	Excess distributions carryover, if any, to 2022				
	From 2017				
b	From 2018				
с	From 2019				
d	From 2020				
е	From 2021				
f	Total of lines 3a through 3e				
g	Applied to underdistributions of prior years				
h	Applied to 2022 distributable amount				
i	Carryover from 2017 not applied (see instructions)				
j	Remainder. Subtract lines 3g, 3h, and 3i from line 3f.				
4	Distributions for 2022 from Section D, line 7: \$				
а	Applied to underdistributions of prior years				
	Applied to 2022 distributable amount				
с	Remainder. Subtract lines 4a and 4b from line 4.				
5	Remaining underdistributions for years prior to 2022, if				
	any. Subtract lines 3g and 4a from line 2. For result greater				
	than zero, explain in Part VI. See instructions.				
6	Remaining underdistributions for 2022. Subtract lines 3h				
	and 4b from line 1. For result greater than zero, explain in				
	Part VI. See instructions.				

7 Excess distributions carryover to 2023. Add lines 3j 8 Breakdown of line 7: a Excess from 2018 b Excess from 2019 c Excess from 2020 d Excess from 2021 e Excess from 2022

Schedule A (Form 990) 2022

STEP UP FOR STUDENTS - FLORIDA, INC. 59-3649371 Page 8 Schedule A (Form 990) 2022 Supplemental Information. Provide the explanations required by Part II, line 10; Part II, line 17a or 17b; Part III, line 12; Part VI Part IV, Section A, lines 1, 2, 3b, 3c, 4b, 4c, 5a, 6, 9a, 9b, 9c, 11a, 11b, and 11c; Part IV, Section B, lines 1 and 2; Part IV, Section C, line 1; Part IV, Section D, lines 2 and 3; Part IV, Section E, lines 1c, 2a, 2b, 3a, and 3b; Part V, line 1; Part V, Section B, line 1e; Part V, Section D, lines 5, 6, and 8; and Part V, Section E, lines 2, 5, and 6. Also complete this part for any additional information. (See instructions.) SCHEDULE A, PART II, LINE 10, EXPLANATION FOR OTHER INCOME: OTHER INCOME 15,075. 2018 AMOUNT: \$ 440. 2019 AMOUNT: \$ 25,811. 2020 AMOUNT: \$ 59,161. 2021 AMOUNT: \$

### \*\* PUBLIC DISCLOSURE COPY

# Schedule of Contributors

Attach to Form 990 or Form 990-PF. Go to www.irs.gov/Form990 for the latest information. OMB No. 1545-0047

# 2022

Name of the organization	on and the second se	Employer identification number
	STEP UP FOR STUDENTS - FLORIDA, INC.	59-3649371
Organization type (che	ck one):	
Filers of:	Section:	
Form 990 or 990-EZ	$\fbox$ 501(c)( 3 ) (enter number) organization	
	4947(a)(1) nonexempt charitable trust <b>not</b> treated as a private foundation	
	527 political organization	
Form 990-PF	501(c)(3) exempt private foundation	
	4947(a)(1) nonexempt charitable trust treated as a private foundation	
	501(c)(3) taxable private foundation	
, ,	ion is covered by the <b>General Rule</b> or a <b>Special Rule.</b> 01(c)(7), (8), or (10) organization can check boxes for both the General Rule and a Special	Rule. See instructions.
General Rule		
•	ation filing Form 990, 990-EZ, or 990-PF that received, during the year, contributions tota any one contributor. Complete Parts I and II. See instructions for determining a contribu	

#### Special Rules

X For an organization described in section 501(c)(3) filing Form 990 or 990-EZ that met the 33 1/3% support test of the regulations under sections 509(a)(1) and 170(b)(1)(A)(vi), that checked Schedule A (Form 990), Part II, line 13, 16a, or 16b, and that received from any one contributor, during the year, total contributions of the greater of (1) \$5,000; or (2) 2% of the amount on (i) Form 990, Part VIII, line 1h; or (ii) Form 990-EZ, line 1. Complete Parts I and II.

☐ For an organization described in section 501(c)(7), (8), or (10) filing Form 990 or 990-EZ that received from any one contributor, during the year, total contributions of more than \$1,000 exclusively for religious, charitable, scientific, literary, or educational purposes, or for the prevention of cruelty to children or animals. Complete Parts I (entering "N/A" in column (b) instead of the contributor name and address), II, and III.

For an organization described in section 501(c)(7), (8), or (10) filing Form 990 or 990-EZ that received from any one contributor, during the year, contributions exclusively for religious, charitable, etc., purposes, but no such contributions totaled more than \$1,000. If this box is checked, enter here the total contributions that were received during the year for an exclusively religious, charitable, etc., purpose. Don't complete any of the parts unless the General Rule applies to this organization because it received nonexclusively religious, charitable, etc., contributions totaling \$5,000 or more during the year \_\_\_\_\_\_\$

Caution: An organization that isn't covered by the General Rule and/or the Special Rules doesn't file Schedule B (Form 990), but it must answer "No" on Part IV, line 2, of its Form 990; or check the box on line H of its Form 990-EZ or on its Form 990-PF, Part I, line 2, to certify that it doesn't meet the filing requirements of Schedule B (Form 990).

LHA For Paperwork Reduction Act Notice, see the instructions for Form 990, 990-EZ, or 990-PF.

Schedule B (Form 990) (2022)

Schedule B (Form 990)

Department of the Treasury

Internal Revenue Service

(a) No.	(b) Name, address, and ZIP + 4	(c) Total contributions	(d) Type of contribution
2		\$ <u>24,000,000.</u>	Person X Payroll Noncash (Complete Part II for noncash contributions.)
(a) No.	(b) Name, address, and ZIP + 4	(c) Total contributions	(d) Type of contribution
3		\$ <u>58,100,000.</u>	Person X Payroll Noncash (Complete Part II for noncash contributions.)
(a) No.	(b) Name, address, and ZIP + 4	(c) Total contributions	(d) Type of contribution
4		\$ <u>170,000,000.</u>	Person X Payroll Noncash (Complete Part II for noncash contributions.)
(a) No.	(b) Name, address, and ZIP + 4	(c) Total contributions	(d) Type of contribution
5		\$43,000,000.	Person X Payroll Noncash (Complete Part II for noncash contributions.)
(a) No.	(b) Name, address, and ZIP + 4	(c) Total contributions	(d) Type of contribution
223452 11-15		\$	Person Payroll Occupied Part II for noncash contributions.)

STEP UP FOR STUDENTS - FLORIDA, INC.

Contributors (see instructions). Use duplicate copies of Part I if additional space is needed.

(b)

Name, address, and ZIP + 4

Name of organization

Part I

(a)

No.

1

Employer identification number

Person Payroll

Noncash (Complete Part II for noncash contributions.)

(d)

Type of contribution

X

59-3649371

(c)

**Total contributions** 

30,450,000.

\$\_\_\_

	(See Instructions.)	
	\$	
(b) Description of noncash property given	(c) FMV (or estimate) (See instructions.)	(d) Date received
	\$	
(b) Description of noncash property given	(c) FMV (or estimate) (See instructions.)	(d) Date received
	\$	
(b) Description of noncash property given	(c) FMV (or estimate) (See instructions.)	(d) Date received
	\$	
(b) Description of noncash property given	(c) FMV (or estimate) (See instructions.)	(d) Date received
	\$	
(b) Description of noncash property given	(c) FMV (or estimate) (See instructions.)	(d) Date received
	\$	
	(b) Description of noncash property given	(b)       (c)         Description of noncash property given       (c)         (b)       (c)         (c)       FMV (or estimate)         (b)       (c)         (c)       FMV (or estimate)         (c)       FMV (or estimate)         (c)       (c)         (c)       FMV (or estimate)         (c)       (c)         (c)       FMV (or estimate)         (c)       (c)         (c)       FMV (or estimate)         (c)       FMV (or estimate)         (c)       (c)         (c)       FMV (or estimate)         (c)       (c)         (c)       FMV (or estimate)         (c)       FMV (or estimate) </td

# STEP UP FOR STUDENTS - FLORIDA, INC.

Part II Noncash Property (see instructions). Use duplicate copies of Part II if additional space is needed.

(b)

Description of noncash property given

Schedule B (Form 990) (2022) Name of organization

(a)

No.

from

Employer identification number

(d)

**Date received** 

59-3649371

(c)

FMV (or estimate)

(See instructions.)

Page 3

Schedule	B (Form 990) (2022)			Page 4		
Name of c	organization			Employer identification number		
STEP	UP FOR STUDENTS - FLORI	DA, INC.		59-3649371		
Part III	Exclusively religious, charitable, etc., contribut from any one contributor. Complete columns (a completing Part III, enter the total of exclusively religious,	tions to organizations described in se- a) through (e) and the following line entri- charitable, etc., contributions of \$1,000 or I	ry. For organizations	nat total more than \$1,000 for the year		
(a) No.	Use duplicate copies of Part III if additional					
from Part I	(b) Purpose of gift	(c) Use of gift	(d) Desc	cription of how gift is held		
		(e) Transfer of gif	 t			
	Transferee's name, address,	and ZIP + 4	Relationship of tra	nsferor to transferee		
(a) No						
(a) No. from Part I	(b) Purpose of gift	(c) Use of gift	(d) Desc	cription of how gift is held		
	(e) Transfer of gift					
	Transferee's name, address,	and ZIP + 4	Relationship of tra	nsferor to transferee		
(a) No. from Part I	(b) Purpose of gift	(c) Use of gift	(d) Desc	cription of how gift is held		
	(e) Transfer of gift					
	Transferee's name, address,	and ZIP + 4	Relationship of tra	nsferor to transferee		
(a) No. from Part I	(b) Purpose of gift	(c) Use of gift	(d) Desc	cription of how gift is held		
		e) Transfer of gif	t			
	Transferee's name, address,	and ZIP + 4	Relationship of tra	nsferor to transferee		

SCHEDULE C	Po	litical Campaign a	nd Lobbying	g Activities		OMB No. 1545-0047
(Form 990) For Organizations Exempt From Income Tax Under section 501(c) and section 527					2022	
	-	-				LULL
Department of the Treasury Internal Revenue Service	-	if the organization is described b to www.irs.gov/Form990 for ins			U-EZ.	Open to Public Inspection
If the organization answ	vered "Yes," on	Form 990, Part IV, line 3, or For	m 990-EZ, Part V, line	e 46 (Political Cam	baign Ac	tivities), then
<ul> <li>Section 501(c)(3) org</li> </ul>	anizations: Com	plete Parts I-A and B. Do not com	plete Part I-C.			
<ul> <li>Section 501(c) (other</li> </ul>	r than section 50	1(c)(3)) organizations: Complete P	arts I-A and C below. I	Do not complete Pa	t I-B.	
<ul> <li>Section 527 organiza</li> </ul>	ations: Complete	e Part I-A only.				
If the organization answ	wered "Yes," on	Form 990, Part IV, line 4, or For	m 990-EZ, Part VI, lin	e 47 (Lobbying Act	ivities), t	hen
		nave filed Form 5768 (election und	( )/	•	•	
		nave NOT filed Form 5768 (election				
-		Form 990, Part IV, line 5 (Proxy	Tax) (See separate in	nstructions) or Form	n <b>990-EZ</b>	, Part V, line 35c (Proxy
Tax) (See separate inst						
Name of organization	, or (6) organizat	ions: Complete Part III.			Employ	er identification number
Name of organization	מחדה נוה				Employ	59-3649371
Part I-A Comple		FOR STUDENTS - Fi anization is exempt under			27 orga	
1 Provide a description	on of the organiz	ation's direct and indirect political	campaign activities in	Part IV		
2 Political campaign	•	•			\$	
3 Volunteer hours for	<b>,</b>					
		-				
Part I-B Comple	ete if the org	anization is exempt under	section 501(c)(3	·).		
1 Enter the amount o	f any excise tax i	incurred by the organization under				
		incurred by organization managers				
		n 4955 tax, did it file Form 4720 fo				
						Yes No
b If "Yes," describe in Part I-C Comple		anization is exempt under	section 501(c)	excent section	501(c)(	21
-	-			-		-
		I by the filing organization for secti ization's funds contributed to othe			Þ_	
exempt function ac					\$	
•		. Add lines 1 and 2. Enter here and			···· • _	
	-				\$	
						Yes No
5 Enter the names, ad	ddresses and em	ployer identification number (EIN)	of all section 527 polit	tical organizations to	which th	ne filing organization
		tion listed, enter the amount paid f				
	•	omptly and directly delivered to a s			eparate s	egregated fund or a
··	. ,	additional space is needed, provid	1	Т		
(a) Name	3	(b) Address	(c) EIN	(d) Amount paid filing organization funds. If none, en	on's c	(e) Amount of political contributions received and promptly and directly delivered to a separate political organization. If none, enter -0

LHA

Schedule C (Form 990) 2022	STEP UP FOR	STUDENTS -	FLORIDA, IN	<u>IC. 59-3</u>	649371 Page 2
Part II-A Complete if the org section 501(h)).	anization is exen	npt under section	1 501(c)(3) and file	ed Form 5768 (ele	ction under
	tion bolongo to on offi	isted aroun (and list in	Dart IV acab offiliated	aroup mombor's nom	
	U U	liated group (and list in	Part IV each amiliated	group member's name	e, address, Elin,
	re of excess lobbying e	• •	viciono onnh		
Limi	ts on Lobbying Exper	nd "limited control" pro Inditures Ints paid or incurred.)		<b>(a)</b> Filing organization's totals	(b) Affiliated group totals
<b>1a</b> Total lobbying expenditures to influ	ience public opinion (c	arassroots lobbying)		154,789.	
<b>b</b> Total lobbying expenditures to influence				284,770.	
c Total lobbying expenditures (add li				439,559.	
d Other exempt purpose expenditure				754857641.	
e Total exempt purpose expenditure				755297200.	
f Lobbying nontaxable amount. Ente				1,000,000.	
If the amount on line 1e, column (a) o		bying nontaxable am			
Not over \$500,000		the amount on line 1e.			
Over \$500,000 but not over \$1,000	0,000 \$100,00	0 plus 15% of the exce	ess over \$500,000.		
Over \$1,000,000 but not over \$1,5	00,000 \$175,00	0 plus 10% of the exce	ess over \$1,000,000.		
Over \$1,500,000 but not over \$17,	,000,000 \$225,00	0 plus 5% of the exces	ss over \$1,500,000.		
Over \$17,000,000	\$1,000,0	000.			
g Grassroots nontaxable amount (en	iter 25% of line 1f)			250,000.	
h Subtract line 1g from line 1a. If zer	o or less, enter -0			0.	
i Subtract line 1f from line 1c. If zero	o or less, enter -0			0.	
j If there is an amount other than ze	ro on either line 1h or l	ine 1i, did the organiza	ation file Form 4720	_	
reporting section 4911 tax for this	year?				Yes No
(Some organizations the	hat made a section 50	eraging Period Under D1(h) election do not l ate instructions for lir	nave to complete all o	of the five columns be	low.
	Lobbying Exper	nditures During 4-Yea	r Averaging Period	I	
Calendar year (or fiscal year beginning in)	<b>(a)</b> 2019	<b>(b)</b> 2020	<b>(c)</b> 2021	( <b>d)</b> 2022	<b>(e)</b> Total
2a Lobbying nontaxable amount	1 000 000.	1,000,000.	1 000 000.	1 000 000.	4 000 000.
<b>b</b> Lobbying ceiling amount	_,	_,	_,	_,	_,
(150% of line 2a, column(e))					6,000,000.
(					
<b>c</b> Total lobbying expenditures	414,718.	482,783.	514,259.	439,559.	1,851,319.
					1 000 000
d Grassroots nontaxable amount	250,000.	250,000.	250,000.	250,000.	1,000,000.
e Grassroots ceiling amount					1,500,000.
(150% of line 2d, column (e))					<u> </u>
f Grassroots lobbying expenditures	241,907.	216,615.	225,321.	154,789.	838,632.
. Gracereere reseying experiateres	,_,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	,	,		le C (Eorm 990) 2022

Schedule C (Form 990) 2022

# Schedule C (Form 990) 2022 STEP UP FOR STUDENTS - FLORIDA, INC. 59-36493 Part II-B Complete if the organization is exempt under section 501(c)(3) and has NOT filed Form 5768 (election under section 501(h)).

r each "Yes" response on lines 1a through 1i below, provide in Part IV a detailed description		(a)		(b)		
of the lobbying activity.	Yes	No	Amo	ount		
<ul> <li>During the year, did the filing organization attempt to influence foreign, national, state, or local legislation, including any attempt to influence public opinion on a legislative matter or referendum, through the use of:         <ul> <li>a Volunteers?</li> <li>b Paid staff or management (include compensation in expenses reported on lines 1c through 1i)?</li> <li>c Media advertisements?</li> </ul> </li> </ul>						
d Mailings to members, legislators, or the public?						
e Publications, or published or broadcast statements?						
f Grants to other organizations for lobbying purposes?						
g Direct contact with legislators, their staffs, government officials, or a legislative body?						
h Rallies, demonstrations, seminars, conventions, speeches, lectures, or any similar means?						
i Other activities?						
j Total. Add lines 1c through 1i						
2a Did the activities in line 1 cause the organization to be not described in section 501(c)(3)?						
b If "Yes," enter the amount of any tax incurred under section 4912						
c If "Yes," enter the amount of any tax incurred by organization managers under section 4912						
d If the filing organization incurred a section 4912 tax, did it file Form 4720 for this year?						
Part III-A Complete if the organization is exempt under section 501(c)(4), section 501(c)(6).	n 501(c)(	5), or sec	tion			
			Yes	No		
1 Were substantially all (90% or more) dues received nondeductible by members?		1				
2 Did the organization make only in-house lobbying expenditures of \$2,000 or less?		2				
3 Did the organization agree to carry over lobbying and political campaign activity expenditures from the	e prior year	? 3				
Part III-B Complete if the organization is exempt under section 501(c)(4), section 501(c)(6) and if either (a) BOTH Part III-A, lines 1 and 2, are answered ' answered "Yes."				3, is		
1 Dues, assessments and similar amounts from members		1				
2 Section 162(e) nondeductible lobbying and political expenditures (do not include amounts of politic expenses for which the section 527(f) tax was paid).						
a Current year		2a				
b Carryover from last year						
c Total						
<b>0</b>						
4 If notices were sent and the amount on line 2c exceeds the amount on line 3, what portion of the exce	ess					
does the organization agree to carryover to the reasonable estimate of nondeductible lobbying and po	olitical					
expenditures next year?		4				
5 Taxable amount of lobbying and political expenditures. See instructions		5				
Part IV         Supplemental Information           Provide the descriptions required for Part I-A, line 1; Part I-B, line 4; Part I-C, line 5; Part II-A (affiliated group instructions); and Part II-B, line 1. Also, complete this part for any additional information.           SCHEDULE         C , PART II-A	list); Part II·	A, lines 1 a	nd 2 (See			
THE POLICY AND PUBLIC AFFAIRS GROUP AIDED LEGISLATORS	AND LI	EGISLA	TIVE			
STAFF BY ANSWERING QUESTIONS AND PROVIDING DETAILED IN	FORMA	TION A	BOUT I	HE		
STATE'S VARIOUS SCHOLARSHIP PROGRAMS. THIS GROUP ALSO	HELPI	ED SCH	OLARSH	IIP		
PARENTS MEET STATE SENATORS AND REPRESENTATIVES TO DIS	CUSS 1	THEIR				
EXPERIENCE ON THE PROGRAMS. THESE LOBBYING EFFORTS AR	E FINZ			990) 2022		

Schedule C	(Form 990) 2022	STEP	UP	FOR	STUDENTS	_	FLORIDA,	INC.	59-3649371	Page 4
Part IV	Supplemental Inforn	nation (	(contin	ued)						

SEPARATE PRIVATE FUNDRAISING AND NOT THROUGH ANY OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE

ALLOWANCE STEP UP RECEIVES FOR EACH PROGRAM.

)

Department of the Treasury

Internal Revenue Service

Supplemental Financial Statements Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11a, 11b, 11c, 11d, 11e, 11f, 12a, or 12b. Attach to Form 990. o to www.irs.gov/Form990 for instructions and the latest information.

ZZ L Open to Public Inspection

OMB No. 1545-0047

Attach to Form 990.
Go to www.irs.gov/Form990 for instructions and the lat

Nam	of the organization STEP UP FOR STUDEN	ITS - FLORII	)A.	INC.		Employer identification number 59-3649371		
Par					or Ac			
	organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, li							
	<b>.</b>	(a) Donor ac	lvisec	d funds	(	b) Funds and other accounts		
1	Total number at end of year					,		
2	Aggregate value of contributions to (during year)							
3	Aggregate value of grants from (during year)							
4	Aggregate value at end of year							
5	Did the organization inform all donors and donor advisors in		s hel	d in donor advis	ed fund	<u></u>		
5	are the organization's property, subject to the organization's	-						
6	Did the organization inform all grantees, donors, and donor							
U	for charitable purposes and not for the benefit of the donor							
	impermissible private benefit?	-						
Par								
1	Purpose(s) of conservation easements held by the organizat				r art rv,			
•	Preservation of land for public use (for example, recreation)		, y).	Preservation	f a histo	rically important land area		
	Protection of natural habitat		$\square$			ied historic structure		
	Preservation of open space							
2	Complete lines 2a through 2d if the organization held a qual	ified conservation cor	tribu	tion in the form	of a cor	servation essement on the last		
2	day of the tax year.	med conservation cor	iinbu			Held at the End of the Tax Year		
~						2a		
a b						2b		
b	Number of conservation easements on a certified historic st	ructure included in (a)				20 2c		
C C								
d	Number of conservation easements included in (c) acquired					24		
2	historic structure listed in the National Register 2d 2d 2d 3 Number of conservation easements modified, transferred, released, extinguished, or terminated by the organization during the tax							
3		eleaseu, extinguisneu,	orte	ininated by the	e organiz			
4	year	according located						
4 5	Number of states where property subject to conservation ea		nanti	on handling of				
5	Does the organization have a written policy regarding the per- violations, and enforcement of the conservation easements					Yes No		
6	Staff and volunteer hours devoted to monitoring, inspecting			d onforcing con				
0	Stan and volunteer nours devoted to morntoning, inspecting	, nanoling of violation	5, and	a entorcing con	Servation	reasements during the year		
7	 Amount of expenses incurred in monitoring, inspecting, han	dling of violations and	d onf	orcina conserva	ntion one	ements during the year		
•	Another of expenses mouned in monitoring, inspecting, har	aning of violations, an		oroning conserve		chients during the year		
8	Does each conservation easement reported on line 2(d) abo	ve satisfy the requirer	nonto	of section 170	(b)(4)(B)(	i)		
U	and section 170(h)(4)(B)(ii)?							
9	In Part XIII, describe how the organization reports conservat							
5	balance sheet, and include, if applicable, the text of the foot							
	organization's accounting for conservation easements.		0113					
Par		f Art, Historical	Trea	sures, or O	ther Si	milar Assets.		
	Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Forr			·				
1a	If the organization elected, as permitted under FASB ASC 9		reve	nue statement a	and bala	nce sheet works		
	of art, historical treasures, or other similar assets held for pu	•						
	service, provide in Part XIII the text of the footnote to its fina							
b	If the organization elected, as permitted under FASB ASC 9					sheet works of		
2	art, historical treasures, or other similar assets held for publi							
	provide the following amounts relating to these items:		., .,		noranoo			
	(i) Revenue included on Form 990, Part VIII, line 1					\$		
	···· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·							
2	If the organization received or held works of art, historical tre							
~	the following amounts required to be reported under FASB /				yanı, μ			
~						\$		
a h	Revenue included on Form 990, Part VIII, line 1 Assets included in Form 990, Part X							
<u>b</u> тна	For Paperwork Reduction Act Notice, see the Instruction	s for Form 990				» Schedule D (Form 990) 2022		
LINA	Tor raperwork neuronact Notice, see the instruction					Schedule D (FUIII 330) 2022		

_		FOR STUDE						<u>59-36</u>			ige <b>2</b>
Par									s <sub>(contir</sub>	nued)	
3	Using the organization's acquisition, accessi	on, and other record	s, checl	k any of the	following th	at make s	significant (	use of its			
	collection items (check all that apply):										
а	Public exhibition	d	I 🛄	Loan or exc	change prog	gram					
b	Scholarly research	e		Other							
с	Preservation for future generations										
4	Provide a description of the organization's co	ollections and explair	n how th	ney further th	he organiza	tion's exe	empt purpo	se in Part	XIII.		
5	During the year, did the organization solicit of	or receive donations of	of art, hi	istorical treas	sures, or ot	her simila	r assets				
	to be sold to raise funds rather than to be ma	aintained as part of tl	he orga	nization's co	llection?				Yes		No
Par	t IV Escrow and Custodial Arran		ete if th	e organizatic	on answered	d "Yes" o	n Form 990	), Part IV,	line 9, or		
	reported an amount on Form 990, Pa	rt X, line 21.									
1a	Is the organization an agent, trustee, custodi								_		
	on Form 990, Part X?							X	Yes		No
b	If "Yes," explain the arrangement in Part XIII	and complete the fol	lowing	table:							
									Amoun		
С	Beginning balance						1c	19	1,05	3,53	39.
d	Additions during the year						1d		5,30		
е	Distributions during the year						1e		5,27		
f	Ending balance						<b>1</b> f		1,07	9,85	55.
2a	Did the organization include an amount on F	orm 990, Part X, line	21, for	escrow or cu	ustodial acc	ount liab	ility?	X	Yes		No
	If "Yes," explain the arrangement in Part XIII.									X	
Par	t V Endowment Funds. Complete	if the organization an	swered	"Yes" on Fo	orm 990, Pa	rt IV, line	10.				
		(a) Current year	(b) I	Prior year	(c) Two y	ears back	(d) Three y	years back	(e) Fou	years l	back
1a	Beginning of year balance										
b	Contributions										
с	Net investment earnings, gains, and losses										
d	Grants or scholarships										
	Other expenditures for facilities										
	and programs										
f	Administrative expenses										
g	End of year balance										
2	Provide the estimated percentage of the curr		e (line 1	a. column (a	)) held as:		•		•		
а	Board designated or quasi-endowment	•	%	<b>J</b>	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,						
b	Permanent endowment	%									
		%									
-	The percentages on lines 2a, 2b, and 2c sho	uld equal 100%.									
3a	Are there endowment funds not in the posse		ation the	at are held ar	nd administ	ered for t	he				
	organization by:								1	Yes	No
	(i) Unrelated organizations								3a(i)		
	(ii) Related organizations								3a(ii)		
b	If "Yes" on line 3a(ii), are the related organiza										
4	Describe in Part XIII the intended uses of the								0.0		
Par	t VI Land, Buildings, and Equipm										
	Complete if the organization answere		), Part IV	V, line 11a. S	See Form 99	90, Part X	, line 10.				
	Description of property	(a) Cost or o			t or other		Accumulate	ed	(d) Boo	k value	<u>,</u>
		basis (investr			(other)		epreciation		( <b>u</b> ) 200	it value	
1a	Land										
	Buildings										
	Leasehold improvements			4	7,544		45,4			2,11	
	Equipment			18,89	1,301	. 4,	919,0		3,97		
	Other										
	. Add lines 1a through 1e. (Column (d) must e		<u>X. co</u> lur	mn (B). line 1	0 <u>c.)</u>	<u></u>	<u></u>	1	.3,97	4, <u>3</u> 2	22.

Schedule D (Form 990) 2022

Schedule D (Form 990) 2022 STEP UP FC	R STUDENTS -	FLORIDA, INC.	59-3649371 Page <b>3</b>
Part VII Investments - Other Securities.			
Complete if the organization answered "Ye			
(a) Description of security or category (including name of security	(b) Book value	(c) Method of valuation:	Cost or end-of-year market value
(1) Financial derivatives			
(2) Closely held equity interests			
(3) Other			
(A)(B)			
(C)			
(D)			
(E)			
(F)			
(G)			
(H)			
Total. (Col. (b) must equal Form 990, Part X, col. (B) line 12.)			
Part VIII Investments - Program Related.			
Complete if the organization answered "Ye			
(a) Description of investment	(b) Book value	(c) Method of valuation:	Cost or end-of-year market value
(1)			
(2)			
(3)			
(4)			
(5)			
<u>(6)</u>			
<u>(8)</u>			
(9)			
Total. (Col. (b) must equal Form 990, Part X, col. (B) line 13.) Part IX Other Assets.			
Complete if the organization answered "Ye	s" on Form 990. Part IV.	line 11d. See Form 990. Part X. lin	ie 15.
-	(a) Description	, ,	(b) Book value
(1) FUNDS HELD IN TRUST FOR	STUDENTS		331,079,855.
(2) DUE FROM RELATED PARTY			2,414,126.
(3)			
(4)			
(5)			
(6)			
(7)			
(8)			
(9)			
Total. (Column (b) must equal Form 990, Part X, col. (B) Part X Other Liabilities.	line 15.)		333,493,981.
	all an Farm 000 Dart IV	line 11e er 11f See Form 000 Der	t V line 05
Complete if the organization answered "Ye <b>1</b> . (a) Description of liability	s on Form 990, Part IV,	line Te of TTI. See Forti 990, Par	(b) Book value
			(b) BOOK value
(1) Federal income taxes			
(2)			
(3) (4)			
(5)			
(6)			
(7)			
(8)			
(9)			
Total. (Column (b) must equal Form 990, Part X, col. (B)	line 25.)		

2. Liability for uncertain tax positions. In Part XIII, provide the text of the footnote to the organization's financial statements that reports the organization's liability for uncertain tax positions under FASB ASC 740. Check here if the text of the footnote has been provided in Part XIII

X

	dule D (Form 990) 2022 STEP UP FOR STUDENTS -				<u>3649371 Ра</u>	<sub>age</sub> 4
Pa	t XI Reconciliation of Revenue per Audited Financial Sta	tements With F	Revenue per Re	turn.		
	Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, lir	ne 12a.				
1	Total revenue, gains, and other support per audited financial statements			1	913,060,75	<u>79.</u>
2	Amounts included on line 1 but not on Form 990, Part VIII, line 12:					
а	Net unrealized gains (losses) on investments	2a				
b	Donated services and use of facilities	2b	27,160.			
с	Recoveries of prior year grants					
d						
е	Add lines 2a through 2d			2e	27,16	
3	Subtract line <b>2e</b> from line <b>1</b>			3	913,033,61	<u>19.</u>
4	Amounts included on Form 990, Part VIII, line 12, but not on line 1:					
а	Investment expenses not included on Form 990, Part VIII, line 7b	4a				
b	Other (Describe in Part XIII.)	4b				
с	Add lines <b>4a</b> and <b>4b</b>			4c		0.
				5	913,033,61	10
5	I otal revenue. Add lines 3 and 4c. (This must equal Form 990. Part I. line 12.	)		5	<u>JIJ,033,01</u>	13.
	Total revenue. Add lines 3 and 4c. (This must equal Form 990, Part I, line 12, rt XII Reconciliation of Expenses per Audited Financial Sta	) atements With	Expenses per F	Retur	n.	19.
	International revenue. Add lines 3 and 4c. (This must equal Form 990, Part I, line 12, <b>t XII</b> Reconciliation of Expenses per Audited Financial State Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, lire	atements With	Expenses per F	Retur	n.	
	rt XII Reconciliation of Expenses per Audited Financial Sta	ne 12a.	Expenses per F	Retur	n.	
Pa	<b>rt XII</b> Reconciliation of Expenses per Audited Financial Sta Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, lin	ne 12a.	Expenses per F	Retur	n.	
Pa 1	Reconciliation of Expenses per Audited Financial State           Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, lir           Total expenses and losses per audited financial statements	ne 12a.	Expenses per F	Retur	n.	
Pa 1 2	Reconciliation of Expenses per Audited Financial Statements           Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line           Total expenses and losses per audited financial statements           Amounts included on line 1 but not on Form 990, Part IX, line 25:	atements With ne 12a. 	Expenses per F	Retur	n.	
Pa 1 2 a	TXII       Reconciliation of Expenses per Audited Financial Statements         Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line         Total expenses and losses per audited financial statements         Amounts included on line 1 but not on Form 990, Part IX, line 25:         Donated services and use of facilities         Prior year adjustments	atements With           ne 12a.	Expenses per F	Retur	n.	
Pa 1 2 a	TXII       Reconciliation of Expenses per Audited Financial Statements         Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line         Total expenses and losses per audited financial statements         Amounts included on line 1 but not on Form 990, Part IX, line 25:         Donated services and use of facilities	atements With           ne 12a.	Expenses per F	Retur	n.	
Pa 1 2 a	<b>Reconciliation of Expenses per Audited Financial Sta</b> Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, lin         Total expenses and losses per audited financial statements         Amounts included on line 1 but not on Form 990, Part IX, line 25:         Donated services and use of facilities         Prior year adjustments         Other losses	2a           2b           2c           2d	Expenses per F	1 2e	n. 755,324,36 27,16	60.
Pa 1 2 b c d	<b>Reconciliation of Expenses per Audited Financial Sta</b> Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, lin         Total expenses and losses per audited financial statements         Amounts included on line 1 but not on Form 990, Part IX, line 25:         Donated services and use of facilities         Prior year adjustments         Other losses         Other (Describe in Part XIII.)         Add lines <b>2a</b> through <b>2d</b>	2a           2b           2c           2d	Expenses per F	1 2e	n. 755,324,36	60.
Pa 1 2 a b c d e	<b>Reconciliation of Expenses per Audited Financial Sta</b> Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, lin         Total expenses and losses per audited financial statements         Amounts included on line 1 but not on Form 990, Part IX, line 25:         Donated services and use of facilities         Prior year adjustments         Other losses         Other (Describe in Part XIII.)	2a           2b           2c           2d	Expenses per F	1 2e	n. 755,324,36 27,16	60.
Pa 1 2 b c d 3	<b>Reconciliation of Expenses per Audited Financial Sta</b> Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, lin         Total expenses and losses per audited financial statements         Amounts included on line 1 but not on Form 990, Part IX, line 25:         Donated services and use of facilities         Prior year adjustments         Other losses         Other (Describe in Part XIII.)         Add lines 2a through 2d         Subtract line 2e from line 1	2a           2b           2c           2d	Expenses per F	1 2e	n. 755,324,36 27,16	60.
Pa 1 2 3 4	Reconciliation of Expenses per Audited Financial State         Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line         Total expenses and losses per audited financial statements         Amounts included on line 1 but not on Form 990, Part IX, line 25:         Donated services and use of facilities         Prior year adjustments         Other losses         Other (Describe in Part XIII.)         Add lines 2a through 2d         Subtract line 2e from line 1         Amounts included on Form 990, Part IX, line 25, but not on line 1:	2a           2b           2c           2d	Expenses per F	1 2e	n. 755,324,30 27,10	60.
Pa 1 2 3 4	<b>Reconciliation of Expenses per Audited Financial Sta</b> Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, lin         Total expenses and losses per audited financial statements         Amounts included on line 1 but not on Form 990, Part IX, line 25:         Donated services and use of facilities         Prior year adjustments         Other losses         Other (Describe in Part XIII.)         Add lines 2a through 2d         Subtract line 2e from line 1         Amounts included on Form 990, Part IX, line 25, but not on line 1:         Investment expenses not included on Form 990, Part VIII, line 7b	atements With         ne 12a.         2a         2b         2c         2d         2d         4a         4b	27,160.	Retur	n. 755,324,36 27,16 755,297,20	<u>60.</u> 00.
Pa 1 2 a b c d e 3 4 a b c 5	<b>Reconciliation of Expenses per Audited Financial Sta</b> Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, lin         Total expenses and losses per audited financial statements         Amounts included on line 1 but not on Form 990, Part IX, line 25:         Donated services and use of facilities         Prior year adjustments         Other losses         Other (Describe in Part XIII.)         Add lines <b>2a</b> through <b>2d</b> Subtract line <b>2e</b> from line <b>1</b> Amounts included on Form 990, Part IX, line 25, but not on line 1:         Investment expenses not included on Form 990, Part VIII, line 7b         Other (Describe in Part XIII.)	atements With         ne 12a.         2a         2b         2c         2d         2d         4a         4b	27,160.	Retur	n. 755,324,30 27,10	<u>60.</u> 00.

Provide the descriptions required for Part II, lines 3, 5, and 9; Part III, lines 1a and 4; Part IV, lines 1b and 2b; Part V, line 4; Part X, line 2; Part XI, lines 2d and 4b; and Part XII, lines 2d and 4b. Also complete this part to provide any additional information.

## PART IV, LINE 2B:

IN JUNE 2014, LEGISLATION CREATED A SCHOLARSHIP FOR SPECIAL NEEDS CHILDREN
THAT WAS SIGNED INTO LAW IN FLORIDA. A FAMILY EMPOWERMENT SCHOLARSHIP FOR
STUDENTS WITH UNIQUE ABILITIES (FORMALLY KNOWN AS GARDINER SCHOLARSHIP)
WAS ESTABLISHED FOR EACH CHILD THAT IS AWARDED A SPECIAL NEEDS
SCHOLARSHIP. PARENTS USE THIS MONEY TO PERSONALIZE THE EDUCATION OF THEIR
CHILDREN WITH UNIQUE ABILITIES BY DIRECTING MONEY TOWARDS A COMBINATION OF
PROGRAMS AND STATE APPROVED PROVIDERS. THESE INCLUDE SCHOOLS, THERAPISTS,
SPECIALISTS, CURRICULUM AND TECHNOLOGY AND COLLEGE SAVINGS ACCOUNTS.
STHEIMING CONTENTED THE MOLECT AND CONTENTED ACCOUNTS.

## IN JUNE 2018, LEGISLATION CREATED A SCHOLARSHIP TO PROVIDE ACADEMIC

SUPPORT FOR ELEMENTARY SCHOOL STUDENTS IN DISTRICT OR CHARTER SCHOOLS WHO

 Schedule D (Form 990) 2022
 STEP UP FOR STUDENTS - FLORIDA, INC. 59-3649371 Page 5

 Part XIII
 Supplemental Information (continued)

 STRUGGLE IN READING THAT WAS SIGNED INTO LAW IN FLORIDA. THE NEW WORLDS

 READING SCHOLARSHIP IS AVAILABLE TO STUDENTS IN THIRD THROUGH FIFTH GRADE

 WHO HAVE SCORED A LEVEL 1 OR 2 ON THE ENGLISH LANGUAGE ARTS SECTION OF THE

 FLORIDA STANDARDS ASSESSMENT. PARENTS USE THIS SCHOLARSHIP TO PAY FOR

 TUITION AND FEES RELATED TO PART-TIME TUTORING, SUMMER AND AFTER-SCHOOL

 LITERACY PROGRAMS, INSTRUCTIONAL MATERIALS AND MORE.

DURING THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022, SUFS-FL DISTRIBUTED APPROXIMATELY \$556.6 MILLION AND \$203.9 MILLION, LEAVING A BALANCE OF APPROXIMATELY \$331.0 MILLION AND \$191.1 MILLION RESPECTIVELY FOR BOTH THE FES-UA AND NEW WORLDS READING SCHOLARSHIP, WHICH IS RECORDED IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS BOTH AS ASSET AND A LIABILITY. SUFS-FL IS ACTING AS AN AGENT FOR BOTH OF THESE PROGRAMS, THEREFORE, THERE ARE NO REVENUES AND EXPENSES REPORTED ON THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES FOR SCHOLARSHIP FUNDS RECEIVED AND DISTRIBUTED FROM THE STATE OF FLORIDA.

PART X, LINE 2:

THE ORGANIZATION FOLLOWS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS RELATING TO ACCOUNTING FOR UNCERTAINTY IN INCOME TAXES. MANAGEMENT ASSESSED WHETHER THERE WERE ANY UNCERTAIN TAX POSITIONS WHICH MAY GIVE RISE TO INCOME TAX LIABILITIES AND DETERMINED THAT THERE WERE NO SUCH MATTERS REQUIRING RECOGNITION IN THE ACCOMPANYING CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. GENERALLY, THE ORGANIZATION IS NO LONGER SUBJECT TO U.S. FEDERAL OR STATE INCOME TAX EXAMINATIONS BY TAX AUTHORITIES FOR YEARS BEFORE JUNE 30, 2019.

SCHEDULE D, PART VI - LAND, BUILDINGS AND EQUIPMENT

BEGINNING IN 2021, STEP UP FOR STUDENTS - FLORIDA HAD AN INCREASE IN

Schedule D (Form 990) 2022 STEP UP FOR STUDENTS - FLORIDA, INC. 59-3649371 Page 5 Part XIII Supplemental Information (continued) SOFTWARE WHICH IS THE RESULT OF THE ORGANIZATION'S INVESTMENT IN A NEW SOFTWARE PLATFORM TO BETTER SERVE OUR SCHOLARSHIP STUDENTS AND FAMILIES. THE PLATFORM WILL CONTAIN STUDENT ACCOUNTS AND WILL BE THE PLATFORM ON WHICH PAYMENTS TO SCHOOLS, PROVIDERS, AND PARENTS WILL BE RECORDED. THIS WILL BE CLOUD-BASED, WHICH WILL ALLOW SUFS-FL TO BETTER MANAGE FUTURE GROWTH IN PROGRAMS, WHILE ENHANCING THE STUDENT/FAMILY EXPERIENCE AND SUPPORTING SCHOOLS AND PROVIDERS. THE NEW PLATFORM WILL HAVE AN ARTIFICIAL INTELLIGENCE COMPONENT AND WORKFLOWS TO PROVIDE A MORE MODERN, FASTER EXPERIENCE FOR USERS.

SCHEDULE I (Form 990)	Grants and Other Assistance to Organizations, Governments, and Individuals in the United States Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 21 or 22.											
Department of the Treasury												
Name of the organization STEP UP FOR STUDENTS - FLORIDA, INC. 59												
STEP UP FOR STUDENTS - FLORIDA, INC.       59         Part I       General Information on Grants and Assistance												
1 Does the organization maintain records to substantiate the amount of the grants or assistance, the grantees' eligibility for the grants or assistance, and the selection												
criteria used to award the grants or assistance? X Yes 2 Describe in Part IV the organization's procedures for monitoring the use of grant funds in the United States.												
		-				anization answered "Y	es" on Form 990, Part	t IV, line 21, for any				
<b>1 (a)</b> Name and ad	Part II       Grants and Other Assistance to Domestic Organizations and Domestic Governments. Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 21, for recipient that received more than \$5,000. Part II can be duplicated if additional space is needed.       Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 21, for recipient that received more than \$5,000. Part II can be duplicated if additional space is needed.         1 (a) Name and address of organization or government       (b) EIN       (c) IRC section (if applicable)       (d) Amount of cash grant       (e) Amount of noncash assistance       (f) Method of valuation (book, FMV, appraisal, other)       (g) Description of noncash assistance       (h) Pu or table											

2 Enter total number of section 501(c)(3) and government organizations listed in the line 1 table

3 Enter total number of other organizations listed in the line 1 table ....

LHA For Paperwork Reduction Act Notice, see the Instructions for Form 990.

59-3649371 Page 2

Part III Grants and Other Assistance to Domestic Individuals. Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 22. Part III can be duplicated if additional space is needed.

(a) Type of grant or assistance	(b) Number of recipients	(c) Amount of cash grant	(d) Amount of non- cash assistance	<b>(e)</b> Method of valuation (book, FMV, appraisal, other)	(f) Description of noncash assistance
LORIDA TAX CREDIT SCHOLARSHIP PROGRAM	100198	695,626,649.	0.	NA	NA
HOPE SCHOLARSHIP PROGRAM	871	5,619,735.	0.	NA	NA

**Part IV Supplemental Information.** Provide the information required in Part I, line 2; Part III, column (b); and any other additional information.

PART I, LINE 2:

STEP UP FOR STUDENTS RECEIVES GRANTS TO FUND PROJECTS AND INITIATIVES TO

EMPOWER THE FAMILIES OF OUR STUDENTS. THE GRANT EXPENSES ARE TRACKED BY

PROJECT CODE FOR EASE OF REPORTING TO OUR GRANTORS, IF APPLICABLE.

SCHEDULE J Compensation Information		1	OMB No. 1545-0047				
(Form 990) For certain Officers, Directors, Trustees, Key Employees, and Highest			2022				
	Compensated Employees Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 23.						
epartment of the Treasury	Attach to Form 990.		Open to P				
ternal Revenue Service	Go to www.irs.gov/Form990 for instructions and the latest information.		Inspecti				
lame of the organizat		mployer ide		number			
Part I Questic	STEP UP FOR STUDENTS - FLORIDA, INC.	59-30	49371				
			v				
		0	Y	es No			
	priate box(es) if the organization provided any of the following to or for a person listed on Form 99 A, line 1a. Complete Part III to provide any relevant information regarding these items.	Ο,					
	r charter travel Housing allowance or residence for personal	1150					
Travel for co							
	fication and gross-up payments Health or social club dues or initiation fees	ence					
	y spending account Personal services (such as maid, chauffeur, o	chef)					
		onony					
<b>b</b> If any of the boxe	s on line 1a are checked, did the organization follow a written policy regarding payment or						
	r provision of all of the expenses described above? If "No," complete Part III to explain		1b				
	on require substantiation prior to reimbursing or allowing expenses incurred by all directors,						
•	cers, including the CEO/Executive Director, regarding the items checked on line 1a?		2				
3 Indicate which, if	any, of the following the organization used to establish the compensation of the organization's						
	irector. Check all that apply. Do not check any boxes for methods used by a related organization	to					
	sation of the CEO/Executive Director, but explain in Part III.						
X Compensat							
	compensation consultant X Compensation survey or study						
X Form 990 o	other organizations X Approval by the board or compensation com	mittee					
4 During the year, o	lid any person listed on Form 990, Part VII, Section A, line 1a, with respect to the filing						
organization or a	related organization:						
a Receive a severa	nce payment or change-of-control payment?		4a 2	ζ 📃			
b Participate in or i	eceive payment from a supplemental nonqualified retirement plan?		4b	<u> </u>			
c Participate in or I	eceive payment from an equity-based compensation arrangement?		4c	<u> </u>			
If "Yes" to any of	lines 4a-c, list the persons and provide the applicable amounts for each item in Part III.						
Only section 50	(c)(3), 501(c)(4), and 501(c)(29) organizations must complete lines 5-9.						
5 For persons liste	on Form 990, Part VII, Section A, line 1a, did the organization pay or accrue any compensation						
contingent on the							
	)		5a	<u> </u>			
<b>b</b> Any related organ			5b	X			
	a or 5b, describe in Part III.						
6 For persons liste	on Form 990, Part VII, Section A, line 1a, did the organization pay or accrue any compensation						
contingent on the	0						
a The organization	)		<u>6a</u>				
	ization?		6b	X			
	a or 6b, describe in Part III.						
	d on Form 990, Part VII, Section A, line 1a, did the organization provide any nonfixed payments						
	lines 5 and 6? If "Yes," describe in Part III		7	X			
-	is reported on Form 990, Part VII, paid or accrued pursuant to a contract that was subject to the						
			8	<u> </u>			
	did the organization also follow the rebuttable presumption procedure described in		_				
	on 53.4958-6(c)?		9	1			

59-3649371

#### Part II Officers, Directors, Trustees, Key Employees, and Highest Compensated Employees. Use duplicate copies if additional space is needed.

For each individual whose compensation must be reported on Schedule J, report compensation from the organization on row (i) and from related organizations, described in the instructions, on row (ii). Do not list any individuals that aren't listed on Form 990, Part VII.

Note: The sum of columns (B)(i)-(iii) for each listed individual must equal the total amount of Form 990, Part VII, Section A, line 1a, applicable column (D) and (E) amounts for that individual.

(A) Name and Title		(B) Breakdown of W	-2 and/or 1099-MIS0 compensation	C and/or 1099-NEC	(C) Retirement and other deferred	(D) Nontaxable benefits	(E) Total of columns (B)(i)-(D)	<b>(F)</b> Compensation in column (B)
		(i) Base compensation	(ii) Bonus & incentive compensation	(iii) Other reportable compensation	compensation			reported as deferred on prior Form 990
(1) DOUG TUTHILL	(i)	258,138.	0.	0.	24,300.	6,218.	288,656.	0.
PRESIDENT, SUFS	(ii)	28,682.	0.	0.	2,700.	691.	32,073.	0.
(2) JOE PFOUNTZ	(i)	213,140.	0.	0.	14,767.	6,338.	234,245.	0.
TREASURER & CFO, SUFS	(ii)	23,682.	0.	0.	1,641.	704.	26,027.	0.
(3) LESLEY SEARCY	(i)	190,880.	0.	0.	14,625.	0.	205,505.	0.
CEAO, SUFS	(ii)	21,209.	0.	0.	1,625.	0.	22,834.	0.
(4) ANNE WHITE	(i)	182,374.	0.	0.	13,349.	3,659.	199,382.	0.
CAO, SUFS (THRU 12/22)	(ii)	20,264.	0.	0.	1,483.	407.	22,154.	0.
(5) ALISSA RANDALL (THRU 06/2022)	(i)	161,981.	0.	0.	12,825.	4,392.	179,198.	0.
CMO, SUFS	(ii)	17,998.	0.	0.	1,425.	488.	19,911.	0.
(6) CRAIG GONSALVES	(i)	144,205.	0.	0.	18,450.	7,969.	170,624.	0.
VP OF IT SOLUTIONS	(ii)	16,023.	0.	0.	2,050.	885.	18,958.	0.
(7) SUSAN DUGAN	(i)	153,239.	0.	0.	14,328.	0.	167,567.	0.
VP FINANCE	(ii)	17,027.	0.	0.	1,592.	0.	18,619.	0.
(8) JILL LAROSE	(i)	153,543.	0.	0.	8,092.	2,273.	163,908.	0.
VP LEADERSHIP DEVELOPMENT	(ii)	17,060.	0.	0.	899.	253.	18,212.	0.
(9) JILLIAN METZ	(i)	135,371.	0.	0.	13,153.	3,778.	152,302.	0.
VP OF EXTERNAL RELATIONS	(ii)	15,041.	0.	0.	1,461.	420.	16,922.	0.
	(i)							
	(ii)							
	(i)							
	(ii)							
	(i)							
	(ii)							
	(i)							
	(ii)							
	(i)							
	(ii)							
	(i)							
	(ii)							
	(i)							
	(ii)							

#### Part III Supplemental Information

Provide the information, explanation, or descriptions required for Part I, lines 1a, 1b, 3, 4a, 4b, 4c, 5a, 5b, 6a, 6b, 7, and 8, and for Part II. Also complete this part for any additional information.

PART I, LINE 3:

ANNE WHITE - \$95,661

Schedule J (Form 990) 2022

SCHEDULE O

(Form 990)

Department of the Treasury Internal Revenue Service Name of the organization Supplemental Information to Form 990 or 990-EZ Complete to provide information for responses to specific questions on Form 990 or 990-EZ or to provide any additional information. Attach to Form 990 or Form 990-EZ. Go to www.irs.gov/Form990 for the latest information.

INC.



59-3649371

FORM 990, PART I, LINE 1, DESCRIPTION OF ORGANIZATION MISSION:

STEP UP FOR STUDENTS - FLORIDA,

OPTIONS FOR THEIR CHILDREN, WITH AN EMPHASIS ON FAMILIES WHO LACK THE

INFORMATION AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES TO ACCESS THESE OPTIONS. BY

PURSUING THIS MISSION, WE HELP PUBLIC EDUCATION FULFILL THE PROMISE OF

EQUAL OPPORTUNITY.

FORM 990, PART III, LINE 1, DESCRIPTION OF ORGANIZATION MISSION:

FULFILL THE PROMISE OF EQUAL OPPORTUNITY.

FORM 990, PART III, LINE 4B, PROGRAM SERVICE ACCOMPLISHMENTS: SFO, ADMINISTERED THIS SCHOLARSHIP AND SERVED 88,584 K-12 STUDENTS FOR THE 2022-2023 SCHOOL YEAR. QUALIFIED STUDENTS COULD RECEIVE UP TO A MAXIMUM SCHOLARSHIP OF \$10,373, DEPENDING ON GRADE LEVEL AND COUNTY RESIDENCE, FOR PRIVATE SCHOOL TUITION AND FEES OR UP TO \$750 IN TRANSPORTATION COSTS TO ATTEND AN OUT-OF-DISTRICT PUBLIC SCHOOL.

FAMILY EMPOWERMENT SCHOLARSHIP FOR STUDENTS WITH UNIQUE ABILITIES

(FORMALLY KNOWN AS GARDINER SCHOLARSHIP): IN THE 2022-23 SCHOOL YEAR,

STEP UP FOR STUDENTS-FLORIDA ADMINISTERED THIS SCHOLARSHIP PROGRAM FOR

STUDENTS WITH UNIQUE ABILITIES WITH SPECIFIC DIABILITIES THAT INCLUDE:

AUTISM, CEREBRAL PALSY, DOWN SYNDROME, SPINA BIFIDA, INTELLECTUAL

DISABILITY, WILLIAMS SYNDROME, AND MORE. THROUGH THIS SCHOLARSHIP

PROGRAM, 17,902 ELIGIBLE STUDENTS RECEIVED A SCHOLARSHIP FOR THE

2022-23 SCHOOL YEAR AT AN AVERAGE OF \$9,773 EACH. THE PROGRAM EMPOWERS

FAMILIES TO CHOOSE THE EDUCATIONAL SERVICES THAT BEST MEET THE NEEDS OF

THEIR STUDENT, AND THE MONEY CAN BE SPENT FOR SCHOOLS, THERAPISTS,

Schedule O (Form 990) 2022	Page <b>2</b>
Name of the organization STEP UP FOR STUDENTS - FLORIDA, INC.	Employer identification number 59-3649371
SPECIALISTS, CURRICULUM, TECHNOLOGY EVEN A COLLEGE SAVING	S ACCOUNT.
FORM 990, PART III, LINE 4C, PROGRAM SERVICE ACCOMPLISHMEN	TS:
USED TO FUND SCHOLARSHIPS TO STUDENTS ON THE FLORIDA TAX C	REDIT
SCHOLARSHIP PROGRAM IN THE NEXT STATE OF FLORIDA FISCAL YE	AR.
FORM 990, PART III, LINE 4D, OTHER PROGRAM SERVICES:	
NEW WORLDS READING SCHOLARSHIP PROGRAM: THE NEW WORLDS REA	DING
SCHOLARSHIP WAS CREATED IN 2018 TO PROVIDE ACADEMIC SUPPOR	T FOR
ELEMENTARY SCHOOL STUDENTS IN DISTRICT OR CHARTER SCHOOLS,	WHO STRUGGLE

IN READING. STEP UP FOR STUDENTS-FLORIDA, AS AN APPROVED SCHOLARSHIP

FUNDING ORGANIZATION, ADMINISTERS THE PROGRAM. THE SCHOLARSHIP IS

AVAILABLE TO STUDENTS IN THIRD- THROUGH FIFTH-GRADE WHO HAVE SCORED A

LEVEL 1 OR 2 ON THE ENGLISH LANGUAGE ARTS SECTION OF THE FLORIDA

STANDARDS ASSESSMENT. EACH SCHOLARSHIP IS WORTH \$500, WHICH THE PARENT

CAN USE TO PAY FOR TUITION AND FEES RELATED TO PART-TIME TUTORING,

SUMMER AND AFTER-SCHOOL LITERACY PROGRAMS, INSTRUCTIONAL MATERIALS AND

MORE. THROUGH THE NEW WORLDS READING SCHOLARSHIP PROGRAM, 7,447

STUDENTS RECEIVED SCHOLARSHIPS IN THE 2022-23 SCHOOL YEAR.

EXPENSES \$ 928,631. INCLUDING GRANTS OF \$ 0. REVENUE \$ 0.

POLICY, INNOVATION AND EMPOWERMENT: THIS DEPARTMENT TAKES THE MESSAGE OF THE SCHOLARSHIP PROGRAMS TO CONSTITUENCY GROUPS, COMMUNITY AND

POLITICAL LEADERS, AND LOCAL, STATE, AND NATIONAL NEWS PUBLICATIONS. IT

ISSUES PRESS RELEASES ON TOPICS OF SPECIAL CONCERN AND WRITES

COMMENTARY FOR VARIOUS PUBLICATIONS. THE TEAM ANALYZES DEMOGRAPHIC,

ACHIEVEMENT AND PARTICIPATION DATA, AND TRENDS IN THE PROGRAM AND

EDUCATION CHOICE MOVEMENT. THE TEAM RESPONDS TO NUMEROUS INFORMATION

Schedule O (Form 990) 2022	Page <b>2</b>
Name of the organization STEP UP FOR STUDENTS - FLORIDA, INC.	Employer identification number $59-3649371$
REQUESTS FROM NEWSPAPERS, OTHER MEDIA, AND LEGISLATIVE AND	AGENCY
OFFICES. THE TEAM ALSO ORGANIZES ADVOCATES AND SUPPORTERS	WHO BELIEVE
CHILDREN SHOULD BE EDUCATED BASED ON HOW THEY LEARN, RATHE	R THAN WHERE
THEY LIVE. THE TEAM EDUCATES, INFORMS, AND TRAINS PARENTS	TO BE
ADVOCATES AND SUPPORTERS FOR THE PROTECTIONS AND EXPANSION	OF CHOICE
OPPORTUNITIES. THESE SERVICES ARE PROVIDED TO PARENTS OF C	HILDREN
PARTICIPATING IN PROGRAMS ADMINISTERED BY THE ORGANIZATION	AND MAY ALSO
BE PROVIDED TO PARENTS UTILIZING OTHER CHOICE OPTIONS.	
EXPENSES \$ 5,445,781. INCLUDING GRANTS OF \$ 0. REVENUE	\$ 0.
FORM 990, PART VI, SECTION B, LINE 11B:	
FORM 990 IS PREPARED BY THE FUND'S INDEPENDENT CPA FIRM. A	FTER BEING
REVIEWED BY MANAGEMENT, THE FULL FORM 990 INFORMATIONAL RE	TURN IS PROVIDED
TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS FOR REVIEW AND COMMENT. THE BOAR	D OF DIRECTORS IS
ALSO AFFORDED THE OPPORTUNITY TO ASK QUESTIONS WITH RESPEC	T TO THE FORM 990
BEFORE THE RETURN IS FILED.	
FORM 990, PART VI, SECTION B, LINE 12C:	

STEP UP FOR STUDENTS ENSURES THAT THE CONFLICT OF INTEREST POLICY IS ADHERED TO WITH THE FOLLOWING ACTIVITIES: 1) REGULAR EDUCATION WITH THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS, OFFICERS AND KEY STAFF. EACH YEAR, THE POLICY IS REVIEWED WITH THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS. EACH BOARD MEMBER AND OFFICER ACKNOWLEDGES THEIR UNDERSTANDING AND COMPLIANCE BY SIGNING A COMPLIANCE STATEMENT. 2) THE CFO OR CAO REVIEWS EACH CONTRACT THE ORGANIZATION ENTERS. 3) FINANCE STAFF AND THE CAO REVIEW ALL PAYMENTS AS THEY ARE MADE FOR POSSIBLE CONFLICTS.

Schedule O (Form 990) 2022	Page <b>2</b>
Name of the organization	Employer identification number
STEP UP FOR STUDENTS - FLORIDA, INC.	59-3649371
THE COMPENSATION COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS REVIE	WS COMPARABLE
COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS DATA OF SIMILAR ORGANIZATIONS. D	URING FISCAL YEAR
2016, AN INDEPENDENT COMPENSATION CONSULTING FIRM CONDUCTE	D A FULL
COMPARATIVE STUDY FOR EACH INDIVIDUAL EXECUTIVE POSITION A	ND ALL
NON-EXECUTIVE JOB GRADES. THE COMMITTEE USES THIS INFORMAT	ION, COMBINED
WITH THE PERFORMANCE OF THE PRESIDENT, TO RECOMMEND THE PR	ESIDENT'S
COMPENSATION PACKAGE FOR APPROVAL OF THE FULL BOARD. THE F	ULL BOARD
APPROVES THE PACKAGE.	
FORM 990, PART VI, LINE 17, LIST OF STATES RECEIVING COPY	OF FORM 990:
AK, AR, CA, CO, CT, FL, DC, GA, HI, IL, KS, KY, ME, MD, MA, MI, MN, MS, NV, N	H, NJ, NM, NY, NC, OH
OR, PA, RI, SC, TN, UT, VA, WA, WV, WI, AL, ND, MO, OK	
FORM 990, PART VI, SECTION C, LINE 19:	
STEP UP FOR STUDENTS MAKES ITS GOVERNING DOCUMENTS, CONFLI	CT OF INTEREST
POLICY AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AVAILABLE ON ITS WEBSITE,	
WWW.STEPUPFORSTUDENTS.ORG. PRINTED COPIES ARE AVAILABLE BY	REQUEST FOR THE
SAME PERIOD OF DISCLOSURE AS SET FORTH IN IRC SECTION 6104	(D).
FORM 990, PART XII, LINE 2C	
THIS PROCESS HAS NOT CHANGED SINCE THE PRIOR YEAR.	

## SCHEDULE R

(Form 990)

# **Related Organizations and Unrelated Partnerships**

Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 33, 34, 35b, 36, or 37.

Attach to Form 990.

OMB No. 1545-0047

2022 Open to Public Inspection

Employer identification number 59 - 3649371

Department of the Treasury Internal Revenue Service

Go to www.irs.gov/Form990 for instructions and the latest information.

Name of the organization

STEP UP FOR STUDENTS - FLORIDA, INC.

Part I Identification of Disregarded Entities. Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 33.

<b>(a)</b> Name, address, and EIN (if applicable) of disregarded entity	<b>(b)</b> Primary activity	<b>(c)</b> Legal domicile (state or foreign country)	<b>(d)</b> Total income	<b>(e)</b> End-of-year assets	<b>(f)</b> Direct controlling entity

Part II Identification of Related Tax-Exempt Organizations. Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 34, because it had one or more related tax-exempt organizations during the tax year.

(a) Name, address, and EIN of related organization	<b>(b)</b> Primary activity	(c) Legal domicile (state or foreign country)	(d) Exempt Code section	<b>(e)</b> Public charity status (if section	(f) Direct controlling entity	cont	<b>g)</b> 512(b)(13) rolled ity?
				501(c)(3))		Yes	No
STEP UP FOR STUDENTS WEST VIRGINIA, INC							
87-4413159, 4655 SALISBURY ROAD, SUITE 180,					STEP UP FOR		
JACKSONVILLE, FL 32256	SCHOLARSHIP FUNDING	FLORIDA	501(C)(3)	LINE 7	STUDENTS, INC.		х
STEP UP FOR STUDENTS, INC 87-3825479							
4655 SALISBURY ROAD, SUITE 180	7						
JACKSONVILLE, FL 32256	SCHOLARSHIP FUNDING	FLORIDA	501(C)(3)	LINE 12A, I			X
	-						
	-						

For Paperwork Reduction Act Notice, see the Instructions for Form 990.

Schedule R (Form 990) 2022

## Schedule R (Form 990) 2022 STEP UP FOR STUDENTS - FLORIDA, INC.

59-3649371 Page 2

Part III Identification of Related Organizations Taxable as a Partnership. Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 34, because it had one or more related organizations treated as a partnership during the tax year.

(a)	(b)	(c)	(d)	(e)	(f)	(g)	(1	h)	(i)		i)	(k)				
Name, address, and EIN of related organization	Primary activity	Legal domicile (state or foreign	Direct controlling entity	Predominant income (related, unrelated, excluded from tax under	(related, unrelated, excluded from tax under	(related, unrelated, excluded from tax under	(related, unrelated, excluded from tax under	(related, unrelated, excluded from tax under	(related, unrelated, income excluded from tax under		Disproportionate allocations?		Code V-UBI amount in box 20 of Schedule	Gene mana part	ral or aging ner?	Percentage ownership
		country)		sections 512-514)		455615	Yes	No	K-1 (Form 1065)	Yes						
	]															
	1															
	-															
	-															
	{															
	4															

Part IV Identification of Related Organizations Taxable as a Corporation or Trust. Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 34, because it had one or more related organizations treated as a corporation or trust during the tax year.

<b>(a)</b> Name, address, and EIN of related organization	<b>(b)</b> Primary activity	(c) Legal domicile (state or foreign	(d) Direct controlling entity	(e) Type of entity (C corp, S corp, or trust)	<b>(f)</b> Share of total income	<b>(g)</b> Share of end-of-year assets	<b>(h)</b> Percentage ownership	Sec 512(t contr ent	(i) ction (b)(13) trolled tity?
		country)				400010		Yes	No
								<sup> </sup>	──
								<sup> </sup>	<u> </u>
	-								
									<u> </u>
	1								
	1								

#### Schedule R (Form 990) 2022 STEP UP FOR STUDENTS - FLORIDA, INC.

#### Part V Transactions With Related Organizations. Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 34, 35b, or 36.

Not	e: Complete line 1 if any entity is listed in Parts II, III, or IV of this schedule.		Yes	No
1	During the tax year, did the organization engage in any of the following transactions with one or more related organizations listed in Parts II-IV?			
а	Receipt of (i) interest, (ii) annuities, (iii) royalties, or (iv) rent from a controlled entity	1a		Х
	Gift, grant, or capital contribution to related organization(s)	1b		Х
	Gift, grant, or capital contribution from related organization(s)	1c		Х
	Loans or loan guarantees to or for related organization(s)	1d		Х
	Loans or loan guarantees by related organization(s)	1e		Х
f	Dividends from related organization(s)	1f		Х
g	Sale of assets to related organization(s)	1g		Х
	Purchase of assets from related organization(s)	1h		Х
	Exchange of assets with related organization(s)	1i		Х
j	Lease of facilities, equipment, or other assets to related organization(s)	1j		X
k	Lease of facilities, equipment, or other assets from related organization(s)	1k		X
	Performance of services or membership or fundraising solicitations for related organization(s)	11		X
m	Performance of services or membership or fundraising solicitations by related organization(s)	1m		X
n	Sharing of facilities, equipment, mailing lists, or other assets with related organization(s)	1n		X
o	Sharing of paid employees with related organization(s)	10	X	
р	Reimbursement paid to related organization(s) for expenses	1p	X	
	Reimbursement paid by related organization(s) for expenses	1q		X
r	Other transfer of cash or property to related organization(s)	1r		X
S	Other transfer of cash or property from related organization(s)	1s		X

2 If the answer to any of the above is "Yes," see the instructions for information on who must complete this line, including covered relationships and transaction thresholds.

<b>(a)</b> Name of related organization	<b>(b)</b> Transaction type (a-s)	<b>(c)</b> Amount involved	(d) Method of determining amount involved
(1) STEP UP FOR STUDENTS, INC.	0	15,665,146.	FMV
(2)			
(3)			
<u>(4)</u>			
<u>(5)</u>			
<u>(6)</u>			

## Schedule R (Form 990) 2022 STEP UP FOR STUDENTS - FLORIDA, INC.

## 59-3649371 Page 4

#### Part VI Unrelated Organizations Taxable as a Partnership. Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 37.

Provide the following information for each entity taxed as a partnership through which the organization conducted more than five percent of its activities (measured by total assets or gross revenue) that was not a related organization. See instructions regarding exclusion for certain investment partnerships.

(a) Name, address, and EIN of entity	<b>(b)</b> Primary activity	<b>(c)</b> Legal domicile (state or foreign country)	(e) Are a partners 501(c) orgs. Yes I	s sec. )(3) .?	<b>(f)</b> Share of total income	<b>(g)</b> Share of end-of-year assets	Dispi tion alloca	n) opor- nate tions? No	(j) General managin partner	(k) Percentage ownership

Schedule R (Form 990) 2022

Schedule R (Form 990) 2022
----------------------------

# Part VII | Supplemental Information

Provide additional information for responses to questions on Schedule R. See instructions.

Caution: Forms printed from within Adobe Acrobat products may not meet IRS or state taxing agency specifications. When using Acrobat, select the "Actual Size" in the Adobe "Print" dialog.

GOVERNMENT COPY

Consolidated Financial Report June 30, 2023

## Contents

Independent auditor's report	1-3
Financial statements	
Consolidated statement of financial position	4
Consolidated statement of activities	5
Consolidated statement of functional expenses	6-7
Consolidated statement of cash flows	8
Notes to consolidated financial statements	9-21
Supplementary information	
Consolidating statement of financial position	22
Consolidating statement of activities	23
Schedule of expenditures of state financial assistance	24
Notes to schedule of expenditures of state financial assistance	25
Independent auditor's report on internal control over financial reporting and on compliance and other matters based on an audit of financial statements performed in accordance with <i>Government Auditing Standards</i>	26-27
Independent auditor's report on compliance for its major state financial assistance project and report on internal control over compliance required by the State of Florida Chapter 10.650, <i>Rules of the Auditor General</i>	28-30
Schedule of findings and questioned costs	31



**RSM US LLP** 

#### **Independent Auditor's Report**

Board of Directors Step Up For Students, Inc.

## **Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements**

#### Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Step Up For Students, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the Organization), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as of June 30, 2023, the related consolidated statements of activities, functional expenses and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements (collectively, the financial statements).

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Organization as of June 30, 2023, and the changes in their net assets and their cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

#### **Basis for Opinion**

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in *Government Auditing Standards*, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (*Government Auditing Standards*). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the Organization and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

#### **Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements**

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Organization's ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the financial statements are issued or available to be issued.

THE POWER OF BEING UNDERSTOOD AUDIT | TAX | CONSULTING

## Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and, therefore, is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and *Government Auditing Standards* will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we:

- Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Organization's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.
- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.
- Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Organization's ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings and certain internal control-related matters that we identified during the audit.

## **Report on Summarized Comparative Information**

We have previously audited the Organization's 2022 financial statements, and we expressed an unmodified audit opinion on those audited financial statements in our report dated October 31, 2022. In our opinion, the summarized comparative information presented herein as of and for the year ended June 30, 2022, is consistent, in all material respects, with the audited financial statements from which it has been derived.

## **Supplementary Information**

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements as a whole. The accompanying consolidating statement of financial position and consolidating statement of activities are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the financial statements. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of state financial assistance, as required by the State of Florida Chapter 10.650, *Rules of the Auditor General*, is also presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the supplementary information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the financial statements as a whole.

## Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with *Government Auditing Standards*, we have also issued our report dated November 7, 2023, on our consideration of the Organization's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Organization's internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* in considering the Organization's internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

RSM US LLP

Orlando, Florida November 7, 2023

## Consolidated Statement of Financial Position June 30, 2023 (With Summarized Comparative Information as of June 30, 2022)

		2023	2022
Assets			
Current assets:			
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 61	2,225,605	\$ 394,879,363
Pledges receivable, less allowance for uncollectible pledges of			
\$22,000,000 and \$18,000,000 in 2023 and 2022, respectively	55	3,897,108	606,074,982
Accounts and grants receivable, less allowance for uncollectible			
accounts of \$936,707 and \$423,052 in 2023 and 2022, respectively		6,427,241	5,631,960
Prepaid expenses and other assets		1,215,071	1,003,180
Funds held in trust for students		2,647,878	191,053,539
Total current assets	1,50	6,412,903	1,198,643,024
Restricted certificate of deposit		116,000	116,000
Right-of-use lease assets		1,682,270	2,150,750
Property and equipment, net	1	4,277,664	8,339,573
Total assets	\$ 1,52	2,488,837	\$ 1,209,249,347
Liabilities and Net Assets			
Current liabilities:			
Accounts payable		51,346,658	\$ 36,199,570
Current liabilities: Accounts payable Accrued expenses		5,208,250	\$ 4,179,714
Current liabilities: Accounts payable Accrued expenses Funds held in trust for students liability		5,208,250 2,647,878	\$ 4,179,714 191,053,539
Current liabilities: Accounts payable Accrued expenses Funds held in trust for students liability Current portion of right-of-use lease liabilities	33	5,208,250 2,647,878 503,804	\$ 4,179,714 191,053,539 603,514
Current liabilities: Accounts payable Accrued expenses Funds held in trust for students liability	33	5,208,250 2,647,878	\$ 4,179,714 191,053,539
Current liabilities: Accounts payable Accrued expenses Funds held in trust for students liability Current portion of right-of-use lease liabilities <b>Total current liabilities</b>	33	5,208,250 2,647,878 503,804 9,706,590 1,217,512	\$ 4,179,714 191,053,539 603,514 232,036,337 1,567,089
Current liabilities: Accounts payable Accrued expenses Funds held in trust for students liability Current portion of right-of-use lease liabilities	33	5,208,250 2,647,878 503,804 9,706,590	\$ 4,179,714 191,053,539 603,514 232,036,337
Current liabilities: Accounts payable Accrued expenses Funds held in trust for students liability Current portion of right-of-use lease liabilities <b>Total current liabilities</b> Right-of-use lease liabilities, net of current portion <b>Total liabilities</b>	33	5,208,250 2,647,878 503,804 9,706,590 1,217,512	\$ 4,179,714 191,053,539 603,514 232,036,337 1,567,089
Current liabilities: Accounts payable Accrued expenses Funds held in trust for students liability Current portion of right-of-use lease liabilities <b>Total current liabilities</b> Right-of-use lease liabilities, net of current portion <b>Total liabilities</b> Commitments (Note 6)	33	5,208,250 2,647,878 503,804 9,706,590 1,217,512	\$ 4,179,714 191,053,539 603,514 232,036,337 1,567,089
Current liabilities: Accounts payable Accrued expenses Funds held in trust for students liability Current portion of right-of-use lease liabilities <b>Total current liabilities</b> Right-of-use lease liabilities, net of current portion <b>Total liabilities</b> Commitments (Note 6)	33 	5,208,250 2,647,878 503,804 9,706,590 1,217,512	\$ 4,179,714 191,053,539 603,514 232,036,337 1,567,089
Current liabilities: Accounts payable Accrued expenses Funds held in trust for students liability Current portion of right-of-use lease liabilities <b>Total current liabilities</b> Right-of-use lease liabilities, net of current portion <b>Total liabilities</b> Commitments (Note 6) Net assets:	33 38 39 2	5,208,250 2,647,878 503,804 9,706,590 1,217,512 0,924,102	\$ 4,179,714 191,053,539 603,514 232,036,337 1,567,089 233,603,426
Current liabilities: Accounts payable Accrued expenses Funds held in trust for students liability Current portion of right-of-use lease liabilities <b>Total current liabilities</b> Right-of-use lease liabilities, net of current portion <b>Total liabilities</b> Commitments (Note 6) Net assets: Without donor restrictions	33 38 39 2 1,10	5,208,250 2,647,878 503,804 9,706,590 1,217,512 0,924,102	\$ 4,179,714 191,053,539 603,514 232,036,337 1,567,089 233,603,426

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

## Consolidated Statement of Activities Year Ended June 30, 2023 (With Summarized Comparative Information for the Year Ended June 30, 2022)

			2023			
	Wi	thout Donor	With Donor		-	Total
	R	estrictions	Restrictions	Total		2022
Revenues and support:						
Contributions and grants:						
Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program	\$	48,061,202	\$ 768,086,280	\$ 816,147,482	\$	737,933,240
Hope Scholarship Program		6,293,690	73,461,012	79,754,702		79,086,962
Alabama Tax Credit Scholarship Program		-	-	-		1,578,253
Grants and other contributions		537,022	-	537,022		3,191,674
Other revenue and interest income		309,146	16,331,285	16,640,431		445,589
Scholarship service contract revenue		1,086,504	-	1,086,504		881,903
Net assets released from restrictions		710,089,885	(710,089,885)	-		-
Total revenues and support		766,377,449	147,788,692	914,166,141		823,117,621
Expenses:						
Program services:						
Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program		717,171,898	-	717,171,898		580,528,636
Family Empowerment Scholarship Program		15,812,721	-	15,812,721		10,712,524
Hope Scholarship Program		6,134,780	-	6,134,780		4,758,604
Policy, Strategic Communications, Legislative Affairs						
and Advocacy		5,547,724	-	5,547,724		3,339,934
New Worlds Reading Scholarship Accounts Program		928,631	-	928,631		574,550
Scholarship Service Contract		597,628	-	597,628		412,320
Alabama Tax Credit Scholarship Program		-	-	-		4,360,307
Total program services		746,193,382	-	746,193,382		604,686,875
Supporting services:						
General and administrative		10,232,054	-	10,232,054		7,541,258
Development and fundraising		1,821,891	-	1,821,891		1,348,166
Total supporting services		12,053,945	-	12,053,945		8,889,424
Total expenses		758,247,327	-	758,247,327		613,576,299
Change in net assets		8,130,122	147,788,692	155,918,814		209,541,322
Net assets:						
Beginning		19,224,460	956,421,461	975,645,921		766,104,599
Ending	\$	27,354,582	\$ 1,104,210,153	\$ 1,131,564,735	\$	975,645,921

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Functional Expenses Year Ended June 30, 2023

(With Summarized Comparative Information for the Year Ended June 30, 2022)

				2023			
				Program Services			
	Florida	Family		Policy, Strategic	New Worlds		
	Tax Credit	Empowerment	Hope	Communications,	Reading	Scholarship	Total
	Scholarship	Scholarship	Scholarship	Legislative Affairs	Scholarship	Service	Program
	Program	Program	Program	and Advocacy	Accounts Program	Contract	Services
Scholarships and grants	\$ 695,626,649	ı ب	\$ 5,619,735	ч Ф	۰ ه	ج	\$ 701,246,384
Salaries and wages	4,898,427	6,177,240	183,889	2,418,234	385,559	57,762	14,121,111
Provision for doubtful accounts	8,982,448						8,982,448
Contract services	1,403,351	5,022,472	133,329	582,200	227,379	382,840	7,751,571
Payroll taxes and employee benefits	1,308,075	1,595,381	42,918	569,395	102,408	14,441	3,632,618
Recruiting and advertising	201,365	302,324	4,410	1,597,030	2,719	6,884	2,114,732
Software licenses, fees and subscriptions	1,395,551	372,884	20,625	212,905	27,401	268	2,029,634
Repairs and maintenance	1,124,339	294,654	18,823	•	27,746	97,159	1,562,721
Depreciation and amortization	1,073,051	280,682	17,961	•	26,376	·	1,398,070
Other costs	97,673	856,731	9,269	33,148	70,996	16,378	1,084,195
Telephone	260,845	617,875	47,843	36	30,205	12,177	968,981
Rent	307,017	80,308	5,139	•	7,546	·	400,010
Travel, lodging and meals	66,403	54,222	1,140	72,856	3,254	862	198,737
Insurance	254,960	66,691	4,267	•	6,267	·	332,185
Professional fees	7,204	1,884	121	125	177	•	9,511
Bank charges and fees	92,798	53,433	23,336	•	7,173	8,694	185,434
Printing and postage	27,680	16,181	1,212	40,174	1,459	163	86,869
Office expenses	44,062	19,759	763	21,621	1,966	I	88,171
Contributions	•						
Total	\$ 717,171,898	\$ 15,812,721	\$ 6,134,780	\$ 5,547,724	\$ 928,631	\$ 597,628	\$ 746,193,382

(Continued)

Consolidated Statement of Functional Expenses (Continued) Year Ended June 30, 2023 (With Summarized Comparative Information for the Year Ended June 30, 2022)

2023

			2023			
			Supporting Services			
		General	Development	Total		Total
		and	and	Supporting	Total	2022
	Ac	Administrative	Fundraising	Services	Expenses	Expenses
Scholarships and grants	\$	\$ 1	ъ Ч	<del>ب</del> ۱	701,246,384 \$	571,985,310
Salaries and wages		6,679,177	996,929	7,676,106	21,797,217	17,945,919
Provision for doubtful accounts					8,982,448	203,108
Contract services		672,919	177,371	850,290	8,601,861	4,584,005
Payroll taxes and employee benefits		1,493,573	227,469	1,721,042	5,353,660	5,053,054
Recruiting and advertising		307,799	41,903	349,702	2,464,434	1,582,388
Software licenses, fees and subscriptions		208,519	62,296	270,815	2,300,449	1,505,535
Repairs and maintenance		74,299	350	74,649	1,637,370	845,042
Depreciation and amortization		40,769	1	40,769	1,438,839	1,065,218
Other costs		119,079	121,334	240,413	1,324,608	570,207
Telephone		10,278	1	10,278	979,259	1,976,053
Rent		53,876	1	53,876	453,886	518,422
Travel, lodging and meals		133,584	79,859	213,443	412,180	245,752
Insurance		47,702	1	47,702	379,887	334,424
Professional fees		310,677		310,677	320,188	356,361
Bank charges and fees		49,655	4,613	54,268	239,702	227,723
Printing and postage		14,942	88,373	103,315	190,184	169,429
Office expenses		15,206	21,394	36,600	124,771	79,991
Contributions						4,328,358
Total	\$	10,232,054 \$	1,821,891 \$	12,053,945 \$	758,247,327 \$	613,576,299

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

# Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows Year Ended June 30, 2023 (With Summarized Comparative Information for the Year Ended June 30, 2022)

		2023		2022
Cash flows from operating activities:				
Change in net assets	\$	155,918,814	\$	209,541,322
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash provided by				
operating activities:				
Depreciation		1,332,333		958,712
Amortization of right-of-use lease assets		106,506		106,506
Contribution of property and equipment		-		184,253
Provision for doubtful accounts		8,982,448		203,108
Change in operating assets and liabilities:				
(Increase) decrease in assets:				
Pledges receivable		44,206,841		15,060,877
Accounts and grants receivable		(1,806,696)		(3,259,161)
Prepaid expenses and other assets		(211,891)		(460,746)
Right-of-use lease assets		361,974		(1,122,030)
Increase (decrease) in liabilities:				
Accounts payable		15,147,088		30,472,667
Accrued expenses		1,028,536		1,168,537
Funds held in trust for students liability		141,594,339		48,823,772
Right-of-use lease liabilities		(449,287)		1,023,300
Net cash provided by operating activities		366,211,005		302,701,117
Cash flows from investing activities:				
Purchases of property and equipment		(7,270,424)		(2,974,674)
Net cash used in investing activities		(7,270,424)		(2,974,674)
Net increase in each and each any inclusion and funds				
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents and funds		250 040 504		200 700 442
held in trust for students		358,940,581		299,726,443
Cash and cash equivalents and funds held in trust for students:				
Beginning		585,932,902		286,206,459
Ending	\$	944,873,483	\$	585,932,902
Cash and cash equivalents and funds held in trust for students is included				
in the following captions on the consolidated statement of financial position:				
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	612,225,605	\$	394,879,363
Funds held in trust for students	•	332,647,878	Ψ	191,053,539
		002,041,010		101,000,000
	\$	944,873,483	\$	585,932,902
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:			_	
Cash paid during the year for interest	¢	10,302	\$	15,418
	Ψ	10,302	Ψ	13,410

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

## Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (With Summarized Comparative Information as of and for the Year Ended June 30, 2022)

## Note 1. Nature of Organization and Significant Accounting Policies

**Nature of organization:** The primary mission of Step Up For Students, Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively, the Organization) is to empower families to pursue and engage in the most appropriate learning options for their children, with an emphasis on families who lack the information and financial resources to access these options. By pursuing this mission, the Organization helps public education fulfill the promise of equal opportunity.

Step Up For Students, Inc. (Step Up For Students) (formally known as SUFS Parent, Inc.) is a nonprofit organization incorporated on December 3, 2021. Step Up For Students serves as a parent company offering services to its subsidiaries.

Step Up For Students-Florida, Inc. (SUFS-FL) (formally known as Step Up For Students, Inc.) is a nonprofit organization incorporated on February 18, 2000. SUFS-FL is a Scholarship Funding Organization (SFO) in the State of Florida which allows the organization to administer the Florida Scholarship Programs. SUFS-FL administers the Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program, Family Empowerment Scholarship Program, Hope Scholarship Program and the New Worlds Reading Scholarship Accounts Program for the State of Florida.

Step Up For Students-West Virginia, Inc. (SUFS-WV) is a nonprofit organization incorporated on December 10, 2021. SUFS-WV was created to support the Hope Scholarship Program in the State of West Virginia under contract with the State of West Virginia's State Treasurer's Office.

The Alabama Opportunity Scholarship Fund, LLC (Alabama Opportunity Scholarship Fund) is a nonprofit limited liability company incorporated on October 4, 2013, whose sole member was SUFS-FL. The Alabama Opportunity Scholarship Fund was established to operate under the standards prescribed by the Alabama Accountability Act of 2013 and is approved under the Alabama Department of Revenue to serve as a Scholarship Granting Organization (SGO). SUFS-FL transferred its membership interest to an unrelated third party on August 31, 2021, which resulted in a contribution in the amount of \$4,033,180 during the year ended June 30, 2022 and is recorded in the accompanying consolidated statement of functional expenses as contributions expense.

The C2 Opportunity Scholarships, LLC (C2) is a nonprofit limited liability company incorporated on November 28, 2018, whose sole member was SUFS-FL. C2 was established to operate under the standards prescribed by the Alabama Accountability Act of 2013 and is approved under the Alabama Department of Revenue to serve as a Scholarship Granting Organization (SGO). SUFS-FL transferred its membership interest to an unrelated third party on August 31, 2021, which resulted in a contribution in the amount of \$295,178 during the year ended June 30, 2022 and is recorded in the accompanying consolidated statement of functional expenses as contributions expense.

## Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (With Summarized Comparative Information as of and for the Year Ended June 30, 2022)

## Note 1. Nature of Organization and Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

The following is a summary of the programs operated by the Organization:

- Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program: SUFS-FL is approved under Florida Statute 1002.395 to serve as a Scholarship Funding Organization (SFO). As an SFO, SUFS-FL can solicit and receive corporate contributions that are entitled to a state tax credit against 100% of corporate income tax, insurance premium tax, and direct-pay sales tax liabilities, 90% of alcoholic beverage tax liabilities, and 50% of oil and gas severance tax liabilities. Those contributions, in turn, must be spent to provide scholarships to low-income Florida school children in compliance with the Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program. For the 2022-2023 school year and the 2021-2022 school year, qualified students received a maximum scholarship of \$10,373 and \$9,979, respectively, to attend a private school that has been approved by the State of Florida or \$750 for transportation to an out-of-district public school. Scholarship Program, SUFS-FL served 100,198 and 84,490 students in 2,090 and 1,999 private schools across Florida during the 2022-2023 school year and the 2021-2022 school year, respectively.
- Alabama Tax Credit Scholarship Program: The Alabama Opportunity Scholarship Fund and C2 were established to operate under standards prescribed in the Alabama Accountability Act of 2013 and are approved under the Alabama Department of Revenue to serve as a Scholarship Granting Organization (SGO). In accordance with the Alabama Accountability Act of 2013 and the Administrative Rulings by the Alabama Department of Revenue, the Alabama Opportunity Scholarship Fund and C2 must use at least 95% of revenue from credit eligible scholarship donations and all interest and investment income attributable to these scholarship funds for educational scholarships. Therefore, the Alabama Opportunity Scholarship Fund and C2 may use no more than 5% of the amount of its scholarship donations for purposes other than making scholarship grants. As an SGO, the Alabama Opportunity Scholarship Fund and C2 can solicit and receive corporate and individual donations that entitle the donors to certain tax credits administrated by the Alabama Department of Revenue. SUFS-FL transferred its membership interest to an unrelated third party on August 31, 2021, which resulted in a contribution in the amount of \$4,328,358 during the year ended June 30, 2022 and is recorded in the accompanying consolidated statement of functional expenses as contributions expense.
- Policy, Strategic Communications, Legislative Affairs and Advocacy: This program takes the message of the scholarship program to constituency groups, community and political leaders, and local, state and national news publications. It issues press releases on topics of special concern and writes commentary for various publications. The group analyzes demographic, achievement and participation data and trends in the program and education choice movement. This group also responds to numerous information requests from newspapers, other media, and legislative and agency offices. This group also organizes advocates and supporters who believe children should be educated based on how they learn, rather than where they live. This group educates, informs and trains parents to be advocates and supporters for the protection and expansion of choice opportunities. These services are provided to parents of children participating in programs administered by the Organization and may also be provided to parents utilizing other choice options.

## Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (With Summarized Comparative Information as of and for the Year Ended June 30, 2022)

## Note 1. Nature of Organization and Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

- Scholarship Service Contract: SUFS-WV has contracted with the State of West Virginia's State Treasurer's Office to assist with the administration of the West Virginia Hope Scholarship Program in the State of West Virginia. The West Virginia Hope Scholarship Program offers qualifying K-12 students an opportunity to build an individual learning experience. SUFS-WV has been contracted to provide scholarship administrative services to include processing applications for eligibility and being the fiduciary of the student's scholarship funds, which are used for qualifying educational expenses. For the 2022-2023 school year, 2,463 students received scholarships up to a maximum of \$4,299. SUFS-WV is compensated for its work by receiving reimbursement for implementation costs associated with the scholarship program as well as a service fee from the State of West Virginia's State Treasurer's Office to provide these services.
- Hope Scholarship Program: The Hope Scholarship Program was established by Florida Statute 1002.40, which was created in 2018 to provide the option of private school scholarships to students in public schools who have experienced acts of bullying and intimidation. SUFS-FL, as an approved SFO, is authorized to administer Hope Scholarships. The Hope Scholarship Program provides that automobile buyers may redirect up to \$105 of their state taxes on each purchase toward an authorized SFO. Those contributions must be used to provide tuition scholarships to participating private schools or a \$750 transportation scholarship to a public school in another district. For the 2022-2023 school year and the 2021-2022 school year, qualified students received a maximum scholarship of \$10,373 and \$9,979, respectively. Through the Hope Scholarship Program, 871 and 693 students received scholarships for the 2022-2023 school year and the 2021-2022 school year, respectively. During the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, SUFS-FL collected \$79,754,702 and \$79,086,962, respectively, of eligible contributions. SUFS-FL expended \$5,619,735 and \$4,307,167 for scholarships during the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Any unused funds in the Hope Scholarship Program can be used to fund scholarships to students of the Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program in the next State of Florida fiscal year.
- New Worlds Reading Scholarship Accounts Program (formally known as the Reading Scholarship Program): The New Worlds Reading Scholarship Accounts Program was established by Florida Statute 1002.411, which was created in 2018 to provide academic support for elementary school students who struggle in reading in district or charter schools. SUFS-FL, as an approved SFO, is authorized to administer the program. The scholarship is available to students in kindergarten through fifth grade who have scored a Level 1 or 2 on the English Language Arts section of the Florida Standards Assessment (FSA). Each scholarship is worth \$500, which the parent can use to pay for tuition and fees related to part-time tutoring, summer and after-school literacy programs, instructional materials and more. The funding is from direct state appropriation. A New Worlds Reading Scholarship account is established for each child that is awarded a reading scholarship. Through the New Worlds Reading Scholarship Accounts Program, 7,447 and 2,778 students received scholarships for the 2022-2023 school year and the 2021-2022 school year, respectively.

During the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, SUFS-FL distributed approximately \$4.8 million and \$1.2 million, respectively, leaving a balance of approximately \$7.2 million and \$5.1 million, respectively, which is recorded in the accompanying consolidated statement of financial position as both an asset and liability. SUFS-FL is acting as an agent for this program, therefore, there are no revenues and expenses reported on the accompanying consolidated statement of activities for scholarship funds received and distributed from the State of Florida.

## Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (With Summarized Comparative Information as of and for the Year Ended June 30, 2022)

## Note 1. Nature of Organization and Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Family Empowerment Scholarship Program: The Family Empowerment Scholarship Program was established by Florida Statute 1002.394, which was created in 2019 to provide children and families in the State of Florida which have limited resources with educational options to achieve success in their education. This scholarship was created to also help reduce the waiting list for the Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program and similarly services students from low-income and working-class households. Beginning with the 2021-2022 school year, this program was expanded to include two branches, the Family Empowerment Scholarship for Educational Options (FES-EO) and the Family Empowerment Scholarship for Students with Unique Abilities (FES-UA). SUFS-FL, as an approved SFO, administered this scholarship and served 88,584 and 76,959 K-12 students and distributed approximately \$628.6 million and \$523.6 million in scholarships for the 2022-2023 school year and the 2021-2022 school year, respectively, through the FES-EO Program. Through the FES-UA Program, 17,902 and 25,593 eligible students received scholarships for the 2022-2023 school year and the 2021-2022 school year, respectively.

For the 2022-2023 school year and the 2021-2022 school year, FES-EO qualified students received a maximum scholarship of \$10,373 and \$9,979, respectively, to attend a private school that has been approved by the State of Florida or \$750 for transportation to an out-of-district public school. Scholarships are disbursed when a student attends a qualified school.

The Family Empowerment Scholarship for Students with Unique Abilities (formally known as the Gardiner Scholarship Program) was established in 2014 creating scholarships for students with unique abilities. This scholarship is for Florida students in kindergarten through 12th grade with one of the following disabilities: Autism. Cerebral palsy, Down syndrome, intellectual disability, speech impairment, language impairment, orthopedic impairment, behavioral impairment, specific learning disability, Phelan-McDermid syndrome, Prader-Willi syndrome, Spina bifida, Muscular Dystrophy, Williams syndrome, anaphylaxis, visual impairment, traumatic brain iniury, hospital or home bound. being a high risk child or identification as dual sensory impaired. The students need either an Individual Education Plan (IEP) from a Florida school district or a formal diagnosis from a licensed physician or psychologist to qualify. Students can participate in this scholarship as part of home education; however, they cannot be enrolled in public school or be receiving any other statesponsored scholarships. A FES-UA Scholarship account is established for each child that is awarded a unique abilities scholarship. Parents use this money to personalize the education of their children with unique abilities by directing money towards a combination of programs and state approved providers. These include schools, therapists, specialists, curriculum, technology and college savings accounts.

During the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, SUFS-FL distributed approximately \$551.8 million and \$194.8 million, respectively, leaving a balance of approximately \$323.9 million and \$185.9 million, respectively, which is recorded in the accompanying consolidated statement of financial position as both an asset and liability. SUFS-FL is acting as an agent for this program; therefore, there are no revenues and expenses reported on the accompanying consolidated statement of activities for scholarship funds received and distributed from the State of Florida.

## Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (With Summarized Comparative Information as of and for the Year Ended June 30, 2022)

## Note 1. Nature of Organization and Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Administrative fee for management of Florida Scholarship Programs: In accordance with the provisions of the Florida Statutes, SUFS-FL can receive an administrative fee to administer the Florida Scholarship Programs. For the Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program, Hope Scholarship Program and New Worlds Reading Scholarship Accounts Program, SUFS-FL receives 3% of scholarships funded for the 2022-2023 school year and the 2021-2022 school year. SUFS-FL receives 2.5% of scholarships funded to administer the Family Empowerment Scholarship Program for the 2022-2023 school year. For the 2022-2023 school year and the 2021-2022 school year and the 2021-2022 school year, total scholarships funded were 269,972 and 190,666, respectively, which resulted in \$54,354,892 and \$36,646,233 of administrative fees during the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

This administrative fee was used to manage the Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program, Hope Scholarship Program, Family Empowerment Scholarship Program and the New Worlds Reading Scholarship Accounts Program in the State of Florida.

A summary of the Organization's significant accounting policies follows:

**Principles of consolidation:** The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Step Up For Students and its subsidiaries through controlling interests, SUFS-FL, SUFS-WV, Alabama Opportunity Scholarship Fund and C2. All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated during consolidation.

**Comparative financial statements:** The consolidated financial statements include certain prior-year summarized comparative information in total but not by net asset class. Such information does not include sufficient detail to constitute a presentation in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Accordingly, such information should be read in conjunction with the Organization's consolidated financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2022, from which the summarized information was derived.

**Use of estimates:** The presentation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and support, and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

**Basis of presentation:** The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting.

A nonprofit organization is required to report information regarding its financial position and activities according to two classes of net assets: without donor restrictions and with donor restrictions. Accordingly, net assets of the Organization and changes therein are classified and reported as follows:

*Net assets without donor restrictions:* Net assets are not subject to donor-imposed stipulations, but may be designated for specific purposes by action of the Board of Directors.

**Net assets with donor restrictions:** Net assets are subject to donor-imposed stipulations that may or will be met either by actions of the Organization, passage of time, or permanently maintained by the Organization. When a restriction expires, net assets with donor restrictions are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions and reported in the consolidated statement of activities as net assets released from restrictions.

## Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (With Summarized Comparative Information as of and for the Year Ended June 30, 2022)

## Note 1. Nature of Organization and Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

**Cash and cash equivalents:** For purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the Organization considers all short-term securities purchased with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents exclude funds held in trust for students.

The Organization maintains their cash accounts at commercial banks, which are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC). Balances exceed amounts insured by the FDIC and the Organization has not experienced any losses on such accounts. To help reduce any potential losses, excess balances are swept into a money market fund, which is invested in U.S. Government Obligations.

The majority of the cash and cash equivalents held by the Organization is intended for disbursement of future scholarships in accordance with the provisions of the Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program and the Hope Scholarship Program. The following table shows the amount of cash and cash equivalents on hand that has been allocated to cover upcoming costs for scholarships as well as \$294,367 and \$327,537 as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, for other expenditures and undesignated amounts.

Cash and cash equivalents consisted of the following at June 30:

	2023	2022
Allocated to cover upcoming costs for scholarships and other	<b>*</b> • • • • • • • • • • • •	+
expenditures	\$602,221,504	\$386,305,930
Undesignated	10,004,101	8,573,433
	\$612,225,605	\$394,879,363

**Pledges receivable, contributions and grants:** Contributions and grants are recorded in the period received at fair value as net assets without donor restrictions or net assets with donor restrictions support depending on the existence or nature of any donor restrictions. Contributions and grants that are restricted by the donor are reported as increases in net assets with donor restrictions depending on the nature of the restrictions. When time restrictions expire or purpose restrictions are fulfilled, net assets with donor restrictions are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions.

Unconditional promises to give (pledges) are recognized as support in the period received at fair value. Conditional contributions or intentions to give, that is those with both a measurable performance or other barrier and a right of return or release, are not recognized until they become unconditional, that is, at the time when the conditions on which they depend on are substantially met. The Organization uses the allowance method to determine uncollectible pledges receivable. The allowance is established based upon management's analysis of specific pledges and other economic factors. The Organization has received promises to give from corporations for the Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program.

Pledges, which become uncollectible or for which an allowance is established in the year of the pledge, are written off against contribution revenue. Pledges which become uncollectible in subsequent years are charged to the allowance for uncollectible pledges.

Contributed services are recognized and reported at fair value in the period received, if the services received create or enhance nonfinancial assets or require specialized skills, are provided by individuals possessing those skills, and would typically need to be purchased if not provided by contribution. There were no material contributed services for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022.

## Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (With Summarized Comparative Information as of and for the Year Ended June 30, 2022)

## Note 1. Nature of Organization and Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Accounts and grants receivable: Accounts and grants receivable are stated at net realizable value. The Organization uses the allowance method to determine uncollectible accounts receivable. The allowance is established based upon management's analysis of specific accounts and other economic factors. In the opinion of management, an allowance for uncollectible accounts of \$936,707 and \$423,052 was considered necessary at June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

**Restricted certificate of deposit:** Restricted certificate of deposit held by the Organization represents funds required to be set aside by the lessor relating to an office lease signed by the Organization for collateral and is carried at amortized cost.

**Property and equipment:** Property and equipment is recorded at cost when purchased or at fair value at the date of gift, if contributed. Depreciation of property and equipment is computed using the straight-line method of accounting over the estimated useful lives of the depreciable assets. Routine maintenance and repair costs are charged to expense as incurred, while major replacements and improvements are capitalized as additions to the related assets. When assets are sold or retired, the related cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and gains or losses from dispositions are credited or charged to income.

**Impairment of long-lived assets:** The carrying value of property and equipment is reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate such value may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets or asset groups to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset or asset group to future net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset or asset group. If such assets or asset groups are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets or asset group. Assets or asset groups to be disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell. No impairment of the Organization's long-lived assets or asset groups have been recognized during the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022.

**Funds held in trust for students and funds held in trust for students liability:** Funds held in trust for students and funds held in trust for students liability represents funds received for the Family Empowerment Scholarship for Students with Unique Abilities (FES-UA), the New Worlds Reading Scholarship Accounts Program and the West Virginia Hope Scholarship Program. A FES-UA Scholarship account is established for each child that is awarded a special needs scholarship, a New Worlds Reading Scholarship account is established for each child that is awarded a reading scholarship and a West Virginia Hope Scholarship account is established for each child that is awarded a reading scholarship and a West Virginia Hope Scholarship account is established for each child that is awarded a reading scholarship and a West Virginia Hope Scholarship. As parents use these funds in accordance with State of Florida and West Virginia guidelines, the asset and liability are reduced accordingly. The following represents a breakout of the funds held in trust for students and funds held in trust for students liability at June 30, 2023 and 2022:

	2023	2022
FES-UA	\$323,873,764	\$185,926,066
New Worlds Reading Scholarship Accounts Program	7,206,091	5,127,473
West Virginia Hope Scholarship Program	1,568,023	-
	\$332,647,878	\$191,053,539

## Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (With Summarized Comparative Information as of and for the Year Ended June 30, 2022)

## Note 1. Nature of Organization and Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

**Functional expenses:** The costs of providing the various programs and supporting services have been summarized on a functional basis in the consolidated statement of activities and in the consolidated statement of functional expenses. Accordingly, certain costs have been allocated among the various programs and supporting services benefited. Salaries and related payroll expenses are allocated among functional categories based on the estimated proportion of time spent to each function. All other expenses are allocated based on management's estimate of the relative functional activity.

**Income taxes:** Step Up For Students and SUFS-WV are in the process of applying for tax exempt status through filing of the Federal Form 1023, Application for Recognition of Exemption Under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. SUFS-FL is exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code and from state income taxes under similar provisions of the State of Florida Statutes. Accordingly, no provision for federal and state income taxes has been recorded in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. SUFS-FL has made an election under Section 501(h) of the Internal Revenue Code, which permits certain eligible 501(c)(3) organizations to make limited expenditures to influence legislation. The Organization would be subject to an excise tax if it spends more than the amounts permitted. Such limits have not been exceeded.

The Organization follows accounting standards relating to accounting for uncertainty in income taxes. Management assessed whether there were any uncertain tax positions which may give rise to income tax liabilities and determined that there were no such matters requiring recognition in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Generally, the Organization is no longer subject to U.S. federal or state income tax examinations by tax authorities for years before June 30, 2019.

**Leases:** The Organization has operating leases for certain office equipment and office space. The Organization determines if an arrangement is a lease at the inception of a contract. Lease assets and lease liabilities are recognized based on the present value of the lease payments over the lease term at the commencement date. To determine the present value of lease payments, the Organization uses the incremental borrowing rate, as determined through an analysis of its prospective borrowing rate on new loans, which is aligned with the lease term at the lease commencement date. Operating lease expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use (ROU) lease assets represent the Organization's right to use an underlying asset during the lease term and ROU lease liabilities represent the Organization's obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. Operating lease ROU lease assets and ROU lease liabilities are reflected in the consolidated statement of financial position, see Note 6.

The Organization's office space lease includes one option to renew, the exercise of such lease renewal option is at the Organization's sole discretion. The renewal term is included in the ROU lease liabilities only when it is reasonably possible the Organization will exercise the option. Leases with a lease term of 12 months or less at commencement are not recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Organization's office space lease agreement requires payments for lease and non-lease components and has elected to exclude the non-lease components for this operating lease. The non-lease components typically represent additional payments by the Organization, which are variable in nature and recorded in variable lease expense in the period incurred.

**Recent accounting pronouncements:** The Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) has issued certain new or modifications to, or interpretations of, existing accounting guidance. The Organization has considered the new pronouncements and does not believe that any other new or modified guidance will have a material impact on the Organization's reported financial position or activities in the near term.

### Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (With Summarized Comparative Information as of and for the Year Ended June 30, 2022)

### Note 1. Nature of Organization and Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

**Subsequent events:** The Organization has evaluated subsequent events through November 7, 2023, the date on which the consolidated financial statements were available to be issued.

### Note 2. Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program and Scholarships Awarded

In accordance with the provisions of the Florida Statutes, Scholarship Funding Organizations can receive an administrative fee not to exceed 3% of scholarships funded for the management of all Florida Scholarship Programs (see Note 1—Administrative fee for management of Florida Scholarship Programs). Scholarship Funding Organizations must expend for annual or partial-year scholarships an amount equal to or greater than 75% of the net eligible contributions remaining after administrative expenses during the year in which such contributions are collected. No more than 25% of such net eligible contributions may be carried forward for expenditure to the following year. However, no later than September 30 of each year, net eligible contributions remaining on June 30 of each year that are in excess of the 25% that may be carried forward shall be used to provide scholarships to eligible students or transferred to other eligible nonprofit SFOs to provide scholarships for eligible students. SUFS-FL expended \$695,626,649 and \$565,045,096 for scholarships during the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. During the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, SUFS-FL received transferred funds from another SFO amounting to \$148,270,000 and \$27,652,081, respectively.

Scholarships under the Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program are awarded annually to qualified students. To qualify for a scholarship, a student and the parents or guardian of that student must meet economic need requirements, enroll in an eligible private school and comply with certain other responsibilities for program participation. Scholarships for the 2022-2023 school year and the 2021-2022 school year could not exceed \$10,373 and \$9,979, respectively. Scholarship payments were made to the schools after parent approval via automated clearing house (ACH) in quarterly installments. For the Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program and the Family Empowerment Scholarship for Educational Options, schools continue to verify student attendance and that the students' parents or guardians have complied with their responsibilities under the program.

### Note 3. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following at June 30:

	2023	2022
Furniture and equipment Software development	\$ 1,292,877 13,941,855	\$    1,094,766 6,904,881
Other software Leasehold improvements	3,999,881 47,544	3,964,542 47,544
Less accumulated depreciation	19,282,157 (5,004,493)	12,011,733 (3,672,160)
	\$ 14,277,664	\$ 8,339,573

### Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (With Summarized Comparative Information as of and for the Year Ended June 30, 2022)

### Note 3. Property and Equipment (Continued)

Beginning in 2021, the Organization began investing in the development of a new software platform to better serve its scholarship students and families. The Education Marketplace Assistant (EMA) platform will contain student accounts and will be the platform on which payments to schools, providers, and parents will be recorded. This will be cloud-based, which will allow the Organization to better manage future growth in programs, while enhancing the student/family experience and supporting schools and providers. The new platform will have an artificial intelligence component and workflows to provide a more modern, faster experience for users. As of June 30, 2023, the Organization has invested over \$13.8 million in the EMA platform and the costs associated with this investment is included in the software development line above. The Florida Scholarship Programs will be administered through the EMA platform for the 2023-2024 school year.

Depreciation expense for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, was \$1,332,333 and \$958,712, respectively.

### Note 4. Line of Credit

SUFS-FL has a \$62,000,000 line of credit agreement with a bank bearing interest at the one-month Secured Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR) interest rate plus 1.1% (5.22% at June 30, 2023). Interest on the line of credit is payable monthly and matures on June 29, 2024. The line of credit is collateralized by substantially all the assets of SUFS-FL and guaranteed by Step Up For Students and SUFS-WV. The Organization maintains \$60,000,000 of the line of credit for the purpose of funding Florida Tax Credit Scholarship commitments under SUFS-FL in the event that expected contributions from donors are delayed and \$2,000,000 for operating liquidity. There was no outstanding balance on the line of credit at June 30, 2023 and 2022.

### Note 5. Net Assets

Net assets without donor restrictions are available for the following purposes at June 30:

	20	)23	202	22
	<b>•</b> • • • •	- 4 - 00	<b>*</b> 40.00	
ndesignated	<u>\$ 27,3</u>	54,582	\$ 19,22	24,460

Net assets with donor restrictions are available for the following purposes at June 30:

	2023	2022
Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program	\$ 788,444,128	\$710,051,984
Hope Scholarship Program Policy, Strategic Communications, Legislative Affairs and Advocacy	315,471,658 294,367	246,041,940 327,537
	\$1,104,210,153	\$956,421,461

### Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (With Summarized Comparative Information as of and for the Year Ended June 30, 2022)

### Note 5. Net Assets (Continued)

Net assets with donor restrictions were released from donor restrictions by incurring expenses satisfying the purpose specified by donors as follows:

	2023	2022
Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program	\$704,436,980	\$567,821,077
Hope Scholarship Program	5,619,735	4,307,167
Alabama Tax Credit Scholarship Program	-	3,991,812
Policy, Strategic Communications, Legislative Affairs and Advocacy	33,170	154,808
	\$710,089,885	\$576,274,864

### Note 6. Commitments

The Organization leases certain office equipment and office space under operating leases, which expire at various dates through April 2027. Rent expense for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, was \$453,886 and \$518,422, respectively.

During 2021, the Organization adopted Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2016-02, *Leases* (*Topic 842*), resulting in right-of-use lease liabilities and right-of-use lease assets recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position, for all of the aforementioned leases. The leases are considered to be operating leases under the provision of ASU 2016-02. The interest rate used to discount the future minimum payments of the leases as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, was 3.85%.

The right-of-use lease liabilities and their maturity analysis are summarized as follows as of June 30, 2023:

Years ending June 30:	
2024	\$ 564,666
2025	559,192
2026	440,120
2027	 286,349
Total minimum payments required	 1,850,327
Less amounts representing interest	 (129,011)
Present value of minimum lease payments	\$ 1,721,316

The present value of minimum lease payments is included in the following captions in the consolidated statement of financial position at June 30, 2023:

Current portion of right-of-use lease liabilities	\$ 503,804
Right-of-use lease liabilities, net of current portion	 1,217,512
	\$ 1,721,316

### Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (With Summarized Comparative Information as of and for the Year Ended June 30, 2022)

### Note 7. Liquidity and Availability of Resources

As of June 30, 2023 and 2022, the following reflects the Organization's financial assets, reduced by amounts not available for general use because of contractual or donor-imposed restrictions, within one year of June 30, 2023 and 2022:

	2023	2022
Financial assets, at year-end:		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 612,225,605	\$ 394,879,363
Pledges receivable, net	553,897,108	606,074,982
Accounts and grants receivable, net	6,427,241	5,631,960
Less those unavailable for general expenditures within		
one year, due to:		
Contractual or donor-imposed restrictions:		
Restricted by donors with purpose restrictions	(1,104,210,153)	(956,421,461)
Financial assets available to meet cash needs for		
general expenditures within one year	\$ 68,339,801	\$ 50,164,844

The Organization's goal is to manage its tax-credited fundraising and associated scholarship commitments such that as many students as possible receive a scholarship while maintaining at least an 8.5% reserve of the funds received. The purpose of that reserve is to accommodate for timing differences and potential rescindments by donors and to ensure sufficient funding is available for the first quarter tuition payments in the next fiscal year. The Organization has managed scholarship commitments for the next school year accordingly to maintain the targeted reserve.

Historically, the Organization pays scholarship payments four times per year during the school year, the timing for which is established based on historical fundraising trends such that sufficient donations are received prior to each payment. Donations received between scholarship payments are invested in short term U.S. Treasury instruments, the interest from which is designated to fund scholarships.

The Company maintains a \$62 million line of credit of which \$60 million is restricted for the purpose of funding scholarship commitments in the event that expected contributions from donors are delayed and \$2 million for short-term operating liquidity.

During the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Organization had approximately \$13.5 million and \$11.9 million outstanding in scholarship payable commitments for 3,266 and 4,727 scholarship recipients, respectively, for the Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program. The scholarship payable commitments have been recorded as scholarship expense and included in accounts payable at June 30, 2023 and 2022. During the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, all scholarships were paid from donations received and the Organization carried forwarded approximately \$488 million and \$285 million of scholarship funds, respectively, for future scholarships.

During the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Organization had approximately \$36.0 million and \$23.3 million, respectively, in Family Empowerment Scholarship Program funds that are due to the Florida Department of Education (DOE) for scholarship recipients that did not use their scholarship in the 2022-2023 school year and in the 2021-2022 school year, respectively. These funds have been included in accounts payable at June 30, 2023 and 2022, and were returned to the DOE in October 2023 and August 2022, respectively.

### Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (With Summarized Comparative Information as of and for the Year Ended June 30, 2022)

### Note 8. Major Donors

**SUFS-FL:** Contributions from two major donors accounted for approximately 33% of contributions and grants—Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program during the year ended June 30, 2023. At June 30, 2023, approximately 40% of pledges receivable are due from these major donors. Contributions from two major donors accounted for approximately 35% of contributions and grants—Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program during the year ended June 30, 2022. At June 30, 2022, approximately 40% of pledges receivable are due from these major donors.

### Note 9. Retirement Plan

The Organization has a defined contribution 401(k) Savings Plan (the Plan). All employees who meet certain age and service requirements are eligible to participate in the Plan. The Plan provides for salary reduction contributions from employees up to the federal tax limit according to the Internal Revenue Code. In addition, there could be additional retirement benefits from discretionary employer contributions. Contributions to this Plan for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, were \$963,859 and \$783,491, respectively, which is included in payroll taxes and employee benefits in the accompanying consolidated statement of functional expenses.

# Consolidating Statement of Financial Position June 30, 2023

23
2023
•
30
ne

	Step Up For Students, Inc.	Step Up For Students- Florida, Inc.	Step Up For Students-West Vriginia, Inc.	Eliminations	Consolidated
Assets					
Current assets:				÷	
Cash and cash equivalents Pledges receivable, net	- 200, 102 ¢	\$ 011,217,473 553,897,108	e//o// e	<b>н</b> '	\$         \$             012,223,003             553,897,108             \$             553,897,108             \$             }
Accounts and grants receivable, net	4,085	5,886,257	536,899		6,427,241
Prepaid expenses and other assets	454,359	743,483	17,229	ı	1,215,071
Funds held in trust for students	ı	331,079,855	1,568,023	ı	332,647,878
Due from related party		2,414,126	I	(2,414,126)	
Total current assets	689,797	1,505,238,302	2,898,930	(2,414,126)	1,506,412,903
Restricted certificate of deposit	I	116,000	I	I	116,000
Right-of-use lease assets	1,682,270	I	ı	ı	1,682,270
Property and equipment, net	115,254	13,974,322	188,088		14,277,664
Total assets	\$ 2,487,321	\$ 1,519,328,624	\$ 3,087,018	\$ (2,414,126)	\$ 1,522,488,837
Liabilities and Net Assets					
Current liabilities:					
Accounts payable	\$ 39,987	\$ 51,306,671	۲ ج	<b>ہ</b>	\$ 51,346,658
Accrued expenses	927,393	4,221,058	59,799	I	5,208,250
Funds held in trust for students liability	I	331,079,855	1,568,023	ı	332,647,878
Due to related party	1,693,634	I	720,492	(2,414,126)	I
Current portion of right-of-use lease obligations	503,804	I	ı		503,804
Total current liabilities	3,164,818	386,607,584	2,348,314	(2,414,126)	389,706,590
Right-of-use lease obligations, net of current portion	1,217,512	I	T	I	1,217,512
Total liabilities	4,382,330	386,607,584	2,348,314	(2,414,126)	390,924,102
Net assets:					
Without donor restrictions	(1,895,009)	28,805,206 1 103 015 834	444,385 201 310		27,354,582 1 104 210 153
Total net assets	(1,895,009)	1,132,721,040	738,704		1,131,564,735
Total liabilities and net assets	\$ 2,487,321	\$ 1,519,328,624	\$ 3,087,018	\$ (2,414,126)	\$ 1,522,488,837

22

## Consolidating Statement of Activities Year Ended June 30, 2023

	Step Up For Students-Florida, Inc.
	Step Up For Students, Inc.

	Step	Step Up For Students, Inc.	, Inc.	Step I	Step Up For Students-Florida, Inc.	rida, Inc.	Step Up For	Step Up For Students-West Virginia, Inc.	rirginia, Inc.		
	Without Donor Restrictions	With Donor Restrictions	Total	Without Donor Restrictions	With Donor Restrictions	Total	Without Donor Restrictions	With Donor Restrictions	Total	Fliminations	Consolidated
			-								500000000000000000000000000000000000000
Kevenues and support: Contributions and grants:											
Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program	Ю	۰ ب	۰ ە	\$ 48.061.202	\$ 768.086.280	\$ 816.147.482	ч 9	ч У	۰ ب	Ю	\$ 816.147.482
Hope Scholarship Program		'	•	6.293.690		79.754.702	I		,		79.754.702
				CC0 203		CCO 703					CCO 7 C2
	•	•	•	220,100	•	770,100	•		•		770,100
Other revenue and interest income	15,925,109	ı	15,925,109	290,288	16,331,285	16,621,573	6,793	i	6,793	(15,913,044)	16,640,431
Scholarship service contract revenue		'				•	1,086,504	Î	1,086,504	ı	1,086,504
Net assets released from restrictions		'	•	710,059,215	(710,059,215)	•	30,670	(30,670)	ı		
Total revenues and support	15,925,109	T	15,925,109	765,241,417	147,819,362	913,060,779	1,123,967	(30,670)	1,093,297	(15,913,044)	914,166,141
Expenses:											
Program services:											
Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program		•		717,171,898	ı	717,171,898		ı			717,171,898
Family Empowerment Scholarship Program		'	•	15,812,721	ı	15,812,721	•	ı	ı		15,812,721
Hope Scholarship Program		'	•	6,134,780	ı	6,134,780	•	·	ı		6,134,780
Policy, Strategic Communications, Legislative											
Affairs and Advocacy	•	'	•	5,472,941		5,472,941	74,783		74,783	ı	5,547,724
Reading Scholarship Program		'	•	928,631		928,631					928,631
Scholarship Service Contract		'	•	•			597,628	ı	597,628	•	597,628
Total program services	1			745,520,971		745,520,971	672,411		672,411		746,193,382
Supporting services:											
General and administrative	17,820,272	ı	17,820,272	7,981,498	ı	7,981,498	343,328	ı	343,328	(15,913,044)	10,232,054
Development and fundraising			-	1,821,891	I	1,821,891	ı	I	I	ı	1,821,891
Total supporting services	17,820,272		17,820,272	9,803,389	1	9,803,389	343,328		343,328	(15,913,044)	12,053,945
Total expenses	17,820,272	ı	17,820,272	755,324,360		755,324,360	1,015,739	ı	1,015,739	(15,913,044)	758,247,327
Change in net assets	(1,895,163)	ļ	(1,895,163)	9,917,057	147,819,362	157,736,419	108,228	(30,670)	77,558	ı	155,918,814
Net assets: Beginning	154		154	18,888,149	956,096,472	974,984,621	336,157	324,989	661,146	ľ	975,645,921
Ending	\$ (1,895,009)	۰ ه	\$ (1,895,009)	\$ 28,805,206	\$ 1,103,915,834	\$ 1,132,721,040	\$ 444,385	\$ 294,319	\$ 738,704	φ	\$ 1,131,564,735

23

### Schedule of Expenditures of State Financial Assistance Year Ended June 30, 2023

Grantor/Pass-Through Grantor/Program Title	State CSFA Number	Contract/ Grant Number	Amounts Provided to Subrecipients	State Expenditures
State financial assistance:				
Florida Department of Education and Commissioner of Education:				
Direct program:				
New Worlds Reading Scholarship Accounts Program (formally				
known as the Reading Scholarship Accounts Program)	48.157	92X-93470-3D001	\$-	\$ 4,756,067
Total expenditures of state financial assistance			\$ -	\$ 4,756,067

See notes to schedule of expenditures of state financial assistance.

### Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of State Financial Assistance Year Ended June 30, 2023

### Note 1. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of state financial assistance (the Schedule) includes the state financial assistance project activity of Step Up For Students, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the Organization), under programs of the State of Florida for the year ended June 30, 2023. The information in this Schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of the State of Florida Chapter 10.650, *Rules of the Auditor General*. Because the Schedule presents only a selected portion of the operations of the Organization, it is not intended to and does not present the financial position, changes in net assets or cash flows of the Organization.

### Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Expenditures reported on the Schedule are recognized on the accrual basis of accounting. Such expenditures are reported following the cost principles established by the State of Florida Department of Financial Services, wherein certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement. Pass-through entity identifying numbers (contract or grant number) are presented where available.

SUFS-FL is acting as an agent for the New Worlds Reading Scholarship Accounts Program; therefore, there are no revenues and expenses reported on the accompanying consolidated statement of activities for scholarship funds received and distributed from the State of Florida. The expenditures reported as state financial assistance on the Schedule represent amounts distributed for reimbursement of program-related expenditures on behalf of eligible children, which totaled \$4,756,067.



**RSM US LLP** 

### Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance With *Government Auditing Standards*

### **Independent Auditor's Report**

Board of Directors Step Up For Students, Inc.

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in *Government Auditing Standards*, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (*Government Auditing Standards*), the consolidated financial statements of Step Up For Students, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the Organization), which comprise the Organization's consolidated statement of financial position as of June 30, 2023, the related consolidated statements of activities, functional expenses and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements (collectively, the financial statements), and have issued our report thereon dated November 7, 2023.

### **Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting**

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Organization's internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Organization's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Organization's internal control.

A *deficiency in internal control* exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A *material weakness* is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A *significant deficiency* is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A *significant deficiency* is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit, we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified.

THE POWER OF BEING UNDERSTOOD AUDIT | TAX | CONSULTING

### **Report on Compliance and Other Matters**

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Organization's financial statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under *Government Auditing Standards*.

### **Purpose of This Report**

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Organization's internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* in considering the Organization's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

RSM US LLP

Orlando, Florida November 7, 2023



**RSM US LLP** 

### Report on Compliance for its Major State Financial Assistance Project and Report on Internal Control Over Compliance Required by the State of Florida Chapter 10.650, *Rules of the Auditor General*

### Independent Auditor's Report

Board of Directors Step Up For Students, Inc.

### Report on Compliance for its Major State Financial Assistance Project

### **Opinion on its Major State Financial Assistance Project**

We have audited Step Up For Students, Inc. and its subsidiaries' (the Organization) compliance with the types of compliance requirements identified as subject to audit in the State of Florida's *Department of Financial Services' State Projects Compliance Supplement* that could have a direct and material effect on the Organization's major state financial assistance project for the year ended June 30, 2023. The Organization's major state financial assistance project is identified in the summary of auditor's results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.

In our opinion, the Organization complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on its major state financial assistance project for the year ended June 30, 2023.

### Basis for Opinion on its Major State Financial Assistance Project

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAS); the standards applicable to financial audits contained in *Government Auditing Standards*, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (*Government Auditing Standards*); and the State of Florida Chapter 10.650, *Rules of the Auditor General* (Chapter 10.650). Our responsibilities under those standards and Chapter 10.650 are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of our report.

We are required to be independent of the Organization and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on compliance for its major state financial assistance project. Our audit does not provide a legal determination of the Organization's compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above.

### **Responsibilities of Management for Compliance**

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of laws, statutes, regulations, rules and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to the Organization's state financial assistance project.

THE POWER OF BEING UNDERSTOOD AUDIT | TAX | CONSULTING

### Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion on the Organization's compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS, *Government Auditing Standards*, and Chapter 10.650 will always detect material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above is considered material, if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on compliance about the Organization's compliance with the requirements of its major state financial assistance project as a whole.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, *Government Auditing Standards*, and Chapter 10.650, we:

- Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
- Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design
  and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a
  test basis, evidence regarding the Organization's compliance with the compliance requirements
  referred to above and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
  circumstances.
- Obtain an understanding of the Organization's internal control over compliance relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with Chapter 10.650, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Organization's internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal control over compliance that we identified during the audit.

### **Report on Internal Control Over Compliance**

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a state financial assistance project on a timely basis. *A material weakness in internal control over compliance* is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance requirement of a state financial assistance project will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. *A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance* is a deficiency will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. *A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance* is a deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of combination of deficiencies, in internal corrected, on a timely basis. *A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance* is a deficiency or a combination of deficiencies a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a state financial assistance project will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. *A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance* is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a state financial assistance project that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance may exist that were not identified.

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of Chapter 10.650. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

RSM US LLP

Orlando, Florida November 7, 2023

### Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs Year Ended June 30, 2023

### I. Summary of Auditor's Results

### **Financial Statements**

Type of auditor's report issued on whether the financial statements were prepared in accordance with GAAP:	Unmodified		
Internal control over financial reporting:			
Material weakness(es) identified?	Yes	Х	No
Significant deficiency(ies) identified?	Yes	X	None Reported
Noncompliance material to financial statements noted?	Yes	Χ	No
State Financial Assistance			
Internal control over major project:			
Material weakness(es) identified?	Yes	Х	No
Significant deficiency(ies) identified?	Yes	Х	None Reported
Type of auditor's report issued on compliance for major project:		Unmo	odified
Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported in accordance with State of Florida Chapter 10.650, <i>Rules of the Auditor General</i> ?	Yes	X	No
Identification of major project			

Identification of major project:

## CSFA Number(s)

### 48.157

### New Worlds Reading Scholarship Accounts Program

750,000

\$

(formally known as the Reading Scholarship Accounts Program)

Name of State Financial Assistance Project

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between type A and type B state financial assistance projects:

### II. Financial Statement Findings

No matters to report.

### III. Findings and Questioned Costs for State Financial Assistance

No matters to report.

### **IV. Other Reporting**

- 1. No Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings is presented because there were no prior audit findings.
- 2. There was no management letter (as defined by Section 10.654(1)(e), Rules of the Florida Auditor General) issued in connection with this audit.

### Step Up For Students-Florida, Inc. Process Narrative for Paying Out Scholarship Funds 11.29.2023

### Background

At Step Up For Students (SUFS), disbursement of scholarship payments is a key operational function that requires collaboration amongst multiple departments and support from 3<sup>rd</sup> party entities. Recent changes to the timing of funding protocols have also significantly impacted SUFS operations, leading to a steady stream of payment activities. Student funding is received quarterly beginning September 1st of each school year with remaining funding on November 1st, February 1st and April 1st. Once funding has been received from the Department of Education (DOE), SUFS has 14 business days to initiate payment into student scholarship accounts.

This document provides a comprehensive overview of the accounts payable process for 1) reimbursements of eligible expenses to parents/guardians, 2) tuition and fees payments to schools, and 3) payments to service providers for services. The primary incompatible duties described below are appropriately segregated within the SUFS Finance Department to maintain effective internal controls.

The accounts payable process outlined above is for all scholarship programs to include Florida Tax Credit (FTC), Family Empowerment Scholarship for Educational Opportunities (FES-EO), Family Empowerment Scholarship for Students with Unique Abilities (FES-UA), Hope Scholarship Program, and the New Worlds Scholarship Program (NWS). Students selecting a home education, private school, or PEP program option utilize Education Spending Accounts (ESAs), where student accounts are funded and funds for eligible expenses are disbursed through direct payment to schools and/or providers, or through reimbursement following a parent's out of pocket expenditure for eligible expenses. Students utilizing the Public-School Transportation option are paid directly via check twice a year and are not subject to the payment processes below. The Hope Scholarship Program is not an ESA program, and all private school tuition and fee payments are disbursed through direct payment to the student's eligible participating private school.

### Reimbursements

All ESA scholarship programs offer a reimbursement option for parents, who may pay out of pocket for eligible expenses, and submit a reimbursement request to draw down scholarship funding through reimbursement to the parent. Once a parent/guardian has successfully submitted a reimbursement request with adequate supporting documentation, the reimbursement processing team reviews the request and the supporting documentation for expense eligibility. Once a reimbursement request has been approved, the pay-to-parent process will be initiated. The payment flows from the student's scholarship account in the scholarship portal to Epicor, the accounting system, to create the invoice and distribution of payment. Once the invoice is in the accounting system, the SUFS Finance team reviews and reconciles the data using various reports to include exception reports pertaining to student accounts and to verify all records were successfully imported between systems. Any issues or outliers are identified and corrected, and the distribution of payment to parent/guardian proceeds. Funds are available to parents/guardians within 3-5 business days depending on the payment method selected by the parent/guardian. After payments are submitted, remittances are generated and emailed to the parents/guardians. SUFS shall process reimbursements, direct payments and preauthorization requests for eligible program expenditures as soon as practicable but in no case later than sixty (60) days from receipt of the required documentation.

Reimbursement payments are generated to parents/guardians at the cadence in which they are received and processed. Payments to parents/guardians are processed weekly at a minimum.

### **Eligible Private School Tuition & Fees**

The following tuition & fee payment processes apply to the FTC, FES-EO and FES-UA programs for students who are enrolled full-time in an eligible participating private school. Parents/guardians of students with a scholarship award for the private school option select an eligible participating private school for their student. The selected school uses the scholarship portal to enroll student and provide the student's agreed-upon tuition and fee rate, and the parent/guardian approves the enrollment. Once funding occurs to the student's account, tuition and fee invoices are created for the school to approve. For the FTC and FES-EO private school option, a student must be enrolled in an eligible participating private school to receive funding, and funds must be disbursed first for the students agreed-upon tuition and fee rate at the enrolled private school. Parents may not access funds for other eligible expense until funds have been allocated to the private school, and students who withdraw from an eligible private school during the school year may not access funds until they have been enrolled in a new eligible private school. The invoices for tuition and fees are created in the accounting system and posted to student accounts through integrations for the scholarship portal. Once the invoices are in the accounting system to review and process for distribution, the SUFS finance team reviews and reconciles the data using various reports to include exception reports pertaining to student accounts and to verify all records were successfully imported between systems. Any issues or outliers are identified and corrected, and the SUFS finance team proceeds with the distribution of payment to the schools. Funds are available to schools via ACH (Automated Clearing House) payment within 1-3 business days after SUFS' submission of payment to the school's bank account on file. After payments are submitted, remittances are generated and emailed to the schools.

Tuition & fees payments are paid weekly at a minimum after the school has approved invoices therefore, payments are dependent on school activity. Also, school start dates each school year could lengthen the payment process as well. This usually occurs in the first quarter of each school year.

The Hope Scholarship Program is to provide tuition and fee payments to an eligible private school on a quarterly basis pending parent approval for their student's full-time enrollment. The eligible private school provides a student attendance record, and SUFS seeks parent approval for the enrollment before payment. The invoices for tuition and fees are created in the accounting system and posted to the student account. The SUFS Finance team proceeds with the distribution of payment to the schools. Funds are available to schools via ACH payment within 1-3 business days after SUFS' submission of payment to the school's bank account on file. After payments are submitted, remittances are generated and emailed to the schools.

### **Service Providers**

Service provider payments apply to all programs except the Hope Scholarship Program. SUFS has created a Provider Service Marketplace that allows eligible service providers to build service catalogues within the scholarship management portal for funded scholarship students to select. This system permits direct payments from student scholarship accounts to an approved service provider for eligible services. This option is an alternative to reimbursements payable to parents. Service providers electing to be directly paid by SUFS may request to become approved provider in our scholarship system. The service providers are appropriately vetted or credentialed and then create service offerings for eligible expenses approved on the front end by SUFS according to statutory and procedural guidance.

Parents/guardians select an approved service provider within the scholarship portal and elect the service they need for their student. The service cannot be rendered to the student unless the student's scholarship balance permits the cost of the service. The service provider then accepts the service request, completes the service, and submits an invoice to be processed. The invoice for the service is created in the accounting and payment systems through integrations from the scholarship portal. Once the invoices are in the accounting and payment systems to review and process for distribution, the SUFS finance team reviews and reconciles the data using various reports to include exception reports pertaining to student accounts and to verify all records were successfully imported between systems. Any issues or outliers are identified and corrected, and the SUFS finance team proceeds with the distribution of payment to the service provider(s). Funds are available to service providers via ACH (Automated Clearing House) payment within 1-3 business days after SUFS' submission of payment to the service provider bank account on file. After payments are submitted, remittances are generated and emailed to the service provider.

Service provider payments are paid weekly at a minimum.



State Board of Education

Ben Gibson, Vice Chair Members Monesia Brown Esther Byrd Grazie Pozo Christie Kelly Garcia MaryLynn Magar Ryan Petty Manny Diaz, Jr. Commissioner of Education

January 3, 2024

Step Up For Students Attn: Doug Tuthill 4655 Salisbury Road, Suite 400 Jacksonville, Florida 32256

Dear Mr. Tuthill:

Thank you for submitting an application to operate as a Scholarship Funding Organization for the purpose of administering the Florida Tax Credit, New Worlds Scholarship Accounts, Hope and Family Empowerment Scholarship Programs for the 2024-25 school year. Pursuant to section 1002.395(15), Florida Statutes, the Office of Independent Education and Parental Choice, in consultation with the Department of Revenue and the Office of the Chief Financial Officer, conducted a full and complete review of your application and determined that it met the requirements set forth in section 1002.395(15), Florida Statutes, and will recommend that the State Board of Education approve your application at the January 2024 meeting.

Thank you for your continued participation in Florida's educational choice programs. If you have any additional questions, please contact Adam Emerson at 850-245-0502.

Sincerely,

Manny Diaz, Jr.

MD/rt

cc: Adam Emerson, Executive Director, Office of Independent Education & Parental Choice

State Board of Education



Manny Diaz, Jr. Commissioner of Education

Ben Gibson, *Chair* Ryan Petty, *Vice Chair Members* Monesia Brown Esther Byrd Grazie Pozo Christie Kelly Garcia MaryLynn Magar

October 19, 2023

Step Up For Students Attn: Doug Tuthill 4655 Salisbury Road, Suite 400 Jacksonville, FL 32256

Dear Scholarship Funding Organization Administrator:

On September 1, 2023, the Florida Department of Education received the Participation Renewal Form and documentation for Step Up For Students to establish continued eligibility to operate as a Scholarship Funding Organization for Scholarship programs under Florida Statutes Chapter 1002 for the 2024-25 school year.

The Office of Independent Education and Parental Choice, in consultation with the Department of Revenue and the Department of Financial Services has reviewed the Participation Renewal Form and corresponding documentation, and the following areas were deemed pending, incomplete, and/or in need of revision:

- The organization's completed IRS Form 990 to be provided, by November 30, 2022.
- The statutorily required audit to the Department of Education and the Auditor General.
- A comprehensive description regarding the process of paying out scholarship funds to parents.

Please review the participation requirements outlined in the Participation Renewal Form, section 1002.395, Florida Statutes, and Rule 6A-6.0960, Florida Administrative Code, and submit the requested documentation by **November 30, 2023** to:

The Florida Department of Education Commissioner of Education 325 West Gaines Street, Suite 1044 Tallahassee, FL 32399-0400

> Adam Emerson, Executive Director Office of Independent Education & Parental Choice

Step Up For Students October 19, 2023 Page 2

Thank you for your attention to this matter as you complete the renewal process for the 2024-2025 school year. We look forward to your continued participation as a Scholarship Funding Organization.

You may contact our office at 850-245-0502 with any questions.

Sincerely,

Cathy Russell Scholarship Program Director Office of Independent Education and Parental Choice